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Financial Performance Highlights

• Revenue from continuing operations1 was RMB2,248.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared 

to RMB3,521.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.

• Gross margin of continuing operations was 35.8% for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to 37.7% 

for the year ended December 31, 2023; non-IFRS gross margin2 of continuing operations was 38.2% for the year 

ended December 31, 2024 as compared to 40.4% for the year ended December 31, 2023.

• Net loss from continuing operations attributable to shareholders was RMB669.2 million for the year ended December 

31, 2024, as compared to RMB211.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. Net margin of continuing 

operations to shareholders was -29.8% for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to -6.0% for the year 

ended December 31, 2023.

• Net loss from continuing operations per ADS, basic and diluted, was RMB18.42 for the year ended December 31, 

2024 as compared to RMB5.82 for the year ended December 31, 2023.

• Net loss from continuing and discontinued operations attributable to shareholders was RMB459.7 million for the 

year ended December 31, 2024, compared to RMB362.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. Net margin 

of continuing and discontinued operations to shareholders was -20.4% for the year ended December 31, 2024, 

compared to -10.3% for the year ended December 31, 2023.

In RMB’000, except percentages 

and per ADS amounts

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 YoY

Continuing operations

Revenue

 Revenue from Ping An Group and Lufax3 1,307,064 2,360,112 -44.6%

 Revenue from third-party customers4 941,039 1,161,479 -19.0%

Total 2,248,103 3,521,591 -36.2%

Gross profit 804,497 1,326,017

Gross margin 35.8% 37.7%

Non-IFRS gross margin1 38.2% 40.4%

Operating loss (303,533) (217,285)

Operating margin -13.5% -6.2%

Net loss from continuing operations to shareholders (669,176) (211,342)

Net margin of continuing operations to shareholders -29.8% -6.0%

Net loss from continuing operations per ADS5, 

 basic and diluted (18.42) (5.82)

Net loss from continuing and discontinued 

 operations attributable to shareholders (459,677) (362,715)

Net margin of continuing and discontinued 

 operations to shareholders -20.4% -10.3%

Loss from continuing and discontinued 

 operations per ADS5, basic and diluted (12.66) (9.99)
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Notes:

1 On April 2, 2024, the Company completed the disposal of its virtual bank business (the “discontinued operations”) to Lufax Holding 
Ltd (“Lufax”) for a consideration of HK$933 million in cash. For details, please refer to the announcement published by the Company on 
November 14, 2023, the circular published by the Company on December 5, 2023, and the announcements published by the Company on 
January 16, April 2 and April 17, 2024. As a result of the disposal, the historical financial results of the virtual banking business segment have 
been reflected as the “discontinued operations” in the Company’s consolidated financial information and the historical financial results of the 
remaining business of the Company (the “continuing operations”) have been reflected as the “continuing operations” in the Company’s 
consolidated financial information for the year ended December 31, 2024, and comparative information has been restated accordingly.

2 For more details on this non-IFRS financial measure, please see the section headed “Use of Unaudited Non- IFRS Financial Measures”.

3 On July 30, 2024, Lufax became a subsidiary of Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Ltd. (“Ping An” and together with its 
subsidiaries, the “Ping An Group”). For reference, please refer to the announcement published by Ping An Group on October 21, 2024. 
Therefore the Company’s revenue from Ping An Group shown in the table includes revenue from Lufax since July 30, 2024. Revenue from 
Lufax for the year ended December 31, 2024 prior to its consolidation into Ping An Group was approximately RMB116 million.

4 Third-party customers refer to each customer with revenue contribution of less than 5% of the Company’s total revenue in the relevant 
period. These customers are a key focus of the Company’s diversification strategy.

5 Each American Depositary Share (“ADS”) represents 30 ordinary shares.

Use of Unaudited Non-IFRS Financial Measures

The unaudited consolidated financial information is prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards (“IFRS”) issued 

by the International Accounting Standards Board. Non-IFRS measures are used in gross profit and gross margin, adjusted 

to exclude non-cash items, which consist of amortization of intangible assets recognized in cost of revenue, depreciation 

of property and equipment recognized in cost of revenue, and share-based compensation expenses recognized in cost of 

revenue. The management of the Company regularly reviews non-IFRS gross profit and non-IFRS gross margin to assess the 

performance of the business. By excluding non-cash items, these financial metrics allow the management of the Company 

to evaluate the cash conversion of one dollar revenue on gross profit. The Company uses these non-IFRS financial measures 

to evaluate its ongoing operations and for internal planning and forecasting purposes. The Company believes that non-IFRS 

financial information, when taken collectively, is helpful to investors because it provides consistency and comparability with 

past financial performance, facilitates period-to-period comparisons of results of operations, and assists in comparisons 

with other companies, many of which use similar financial information. The Company also believes that presentation of the 

non-IFRS financial measures provides useful information to its investors regarding its results of operations because it allows 

investors greater transparency to the information used by its management in its financial and operational decision making, 

so that investors can see through the eyes of the management regarding important financial metrics that the management 

uses to run the business as well as allowing investors to better understand the Company’s performance. However, non-IFRS 

financial information is presented for supplemental informational purposes only, and should not be considered a substitute 

for financial information presented in accordance with IFRS, and may be different from similarly-titled non-IFRS measures 

used by other companies. In light of the foregoing limitations, you should not consider non-IFRS financial measure in 

isolation from or as an alternative to the financial measure prepared in accordance with IFRS. Whenever the Company 

uses a non-IFRS financial measure, a reconciliation is provided to the most closely applicable financial measure stated in 

accordance with IFRS. Investors and shareholders are encouraged to review the related IFRS financial measures and the 

reconciliation of these non-IFRS financial measures to their most directly comparable IFRS financial measures.
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The table below sets forth an unaudited reconciliation of IFRS and non-IFRS results for the periods indicated:

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB’000 RMB’000

Gross profit from continuing operations 804,497 1,326,017

Gross margin of continuing operations 35.8% 37.7%

Non-IFRS adjustment

 – Amortization of intangible assets recognized in cost of revenue 49,162 87,928

 – Depreciation of property and equipment recognized in cost 

  of revenue 4,030 5,567

 – Share-based compensation expenses recognized in cost 

  of revenue 87 3,233

Non-IFRS gross profit from continuing operations 857,776 1,422,745

Non-IFRS gross margin from continuing operations 38.2% 40.4%
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Chairman’s Statement

Business Review

We are a technology-as-a-service provider for the financial services industry in China with an expanding international 

presence. We provide “full-stack” integrated technology solutions to financial institution customers, including digital 

banking solutions and digital insurance solutions. We also provide digital infrastructure for financial institutions through our 

Gamma Platform. Our solutions and platform help financial institutions accelerate their digital transformation. We believe 

that our “business + technology” model is our key competitive advantage and a driving force of how we win new business 

and engage with our customers. 100% of large and joint-stock banks, 99% of city commercial banks, 65% of property and 

casualty insurance companies and 48% of life insurance companies in China have used at least one of our products since 

our inception.

We were spun off from the Ping An Group in 2019, with a vision to provide our technology solution and digital 

infrastructure to broader financial institutional clients and gradually reducing revenue concentration from Ping An Group. 

While we remain committed to this long-term goal, significant macro and sector headwinds in recent years have negatively 

impacted our performance and hindered the viability of achieving this objective. There is downward pressure on the 

profitability of some of our largest customers and third-party banks, which caused a cool-down in credit activity and 

reduced IT budgets, stifling the growth of our third-party business and revenue. 

Digital Banking

Our digital banking services offer a wide array of solutions tailored to the digital transformation needs of financial 

institutions in the banking industry. These solutions comprise of digital retail banking, digital credit management and 

digital operations solutions, leveraging our competitiveness in “business + technology”. These solutions assist banks in 

driving growth, mitigating operational risks, improving management efficiency, and realizing high-quality development. 

By implementing these comprehensive solutions, banks can augment their overall digital capabilities and deliver superior 

outcomes for their customers.

Digital retail banking solutions align with the latest trends in the retail banking sector, providing a comprehensive 

“consulting + system + operations” integrated solution for banking clients. Through digital transformation consulting, 

we assist banking customers in formulating a clear development path for their retail digital transformation. This includes 

creating an overall digital transformation blueprint, building a “customer-centric” digital customer operations system, and 

designing digital marketing strategies and operational decision-making frameworks. Our 3E-Series products (E-Banker app, 

E-Sales Management and E-Wealth Advance-map) empower banks to comprehensively enhance their operational capabilities 

for customers, products, and channels. This enables them to gain deep insights into all customer segments, manage 

products intelligently, operate collaboratively across all channels, and make smart decisions throughout the entire value 

chain. Our customer operations solutions help banks design operational scenarios and strategies for key customer segments, 

such as long-tail customers, and execute marketing strategies by leveraging AI and other intelligent tools. This approach 

uncovers and activates the latent value of customers, ultimately improving overall operational efficiency and effectiveness.
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Our digital credit management solution is a comprehensive and fully integrated package that provides banks with an 

end-to-end credit management system, an intelligent risk control system covering all credit scenarios, and intelligent 

operational service solutions. Tailored for corporate credit and small and medium-sized enterprise (“SME”) credit 

scenarios, it offers bank customers all-client, all-product, and end-to-end management systems, designed to improve credit 

management efficiency and reduce operational costs. By leveraging cutting-edge technologies such as AI, big data analytics, 

and intelligent algorithms, we assist banks in developing scenario-based models across all stages of their credit operations. 

This enables proactive risk management, intelligent decision-making, and precise control, strengthening the proactive risk 

controls of banks. Additionally, we help banks serve SMEs by building intelligent inclusive credit systems and end-to-end 

services including customer acquisition, product innovation, experience enhancement, and intelligent risk controls. This 

empowers bank customers to effectively enhance their capabilities in expanding their SME business.

Our suite of digital operations solutions is designed for bank management departments, offering a comprehensive suite 

of decision-making solutions. These solutions include balance sheet analysis, liquidity risk management, interest rate risk 

management in the banking book, exchange rate risk management, pricing management, capital management, budget 

management, cost allocation, and profitability analysis. These solutions assist banks in formulating strategic development 

plans, gain insights into their operations, accurately track costs, efficiently allocating resources, strengthen performance 

evaluations, and meet regulatory compliance requirements. Leveraging Ping An Group’s AI technology, we have built 

a “Super Brain” to support precise and intelligent management. Additionally, leveraging data-driven insights, we help 

financial institutions build tailor-made comprehensive solutions for standardized online mortgage loan services, empowering 

them to enhance their capabilities in inclusive finance and scale their initiatives.

In 2024, we made significant progress in upgrading and iterating products by leveraging our technological capabilities to 

facilitate smart, streamlined operations for customers. Our digital retail banking, digital credit management and digital 

operations solutions have received further enhancements to application scenarios, algorithm models, system compatibility, 

and architectural optimization. We focus on improving the customer experience, application effectiveness, and overall 

capabilities.

• We have continuously enhanced product intelligence and convenience through AI applications, supporting the 

streamlining and proactive compliance of businesses. For example, JinJieYing, our AI solution for housing mortgage 

loans, can perform intelligent due diligence, intelligent risk management, and operational tasks, enhancing customer 

managers’ productivity by roughly six-fold and reducing loan approval time to approximately one day. Our 3E-Series 

products empower the management of teams, business opportunities and wealth. These products have increased 

customer AUM by over 20%, improved business opportunity reach rate by 2-3 times, and increased the number 

of private banking customers by 38%. We also help improve the quality and efficiency of sales and marketing by 

deploying a series of AI-empowered tools like AI outbound assistant, AI sales assistant, AI process quality control, 

and AI asset allocation. In addition to a comprehensive package of domestically-developed IT solutions spanning 

from consultation to implementation, we help our customers comply with regulatory compliance standards through 

our One-Table Solution which improves the timeliness, completeness, and accuracy of required data submissions.

• We consistently upgrade our products by adopting a customer-centric approach to driving smart retail banking 

operations. Using our smart solutions, financial institutions can enhance their customer management processes 

by categorizing, effectively targeting, and visualizing operations among many others. We also help them improve 

product quality when analyzing wealth, asset allocation strategies, and account planning, while facilitating customer 

acquisition across various channels through synergized strategies, effective customer segment operations, and AI-

assisted databases. These solutions have been well received by banks.
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• We have expanded our smart credit solution to overseas markets. This end-to-end solution integrates operations, 

business, data, and systems, offering a flexible and configurable system with scalable product solutions. With a 

proven track record in domestic markets, this solution effectively enhances loan processing efficiency by over 60%, 

augments AI-driven risk control capabilities by 50%, and boosts modular configuration and iteration efficiency by 

30%.

Digital Insurance

In digital insurance, our solution digitalizes the entire insurance process, helping insurance companies manage marketing, 

customer relationships, and claims processing. We also provide service management platforms to customers under our 

intelligent property and casualty (“P&C”) insurance and intelligent life insurance solutions.

Our end-to-end intelligent P&C insurance solution helps auto and non-auto insurers reduce costs, combat fraudulent claims, 

and improve service quality. Integrating AI and advanced analytics, it digitalizes and automates the entire underwriting 

process, covering core risk predication, cost management and risk control functions. It also streamlines claim-processing 

procedures, from submission and instant inspection to settlement, appraisal, roadside assistance, and auto parts sourcing. 

In 2024, we established benchmark cases for our end-to-end P&C insurance solution, demonstrating its effectiveness in 

reinforcing risk controls and improving customer experience. For instance, we implemented the solution for a state-owned 

P&C insurance company, addressing pain points around underwriting, claim settlements, and servicing.

Our intelligent life insurance solution enhances insurers’ performance efficiency, risk control, and customer experience 

across sales, policy issuance, claims processing, and customer service. In 2024, we upgraded our “Omni-channel Agent 

Solution,” introducing an AI-enhanced member onboarding screening model and multi-functional Optical Character 

Recognition (“OCR”) tool to facilitate document recognition, ensuring accuracy and efficiency throughout the claim 

workflow.

Gamma Platform

Our Gamma Platform serves as a foundation for digital transformation through “AI + Data” integration, empowering 

financial institutions and overseas regulatory agency customers to optimize operational efficiency. Combining leading AI 

with data from fingerprint recognition, blacklist background screening, and geolocation, its AI Gamma Vision can enhance 

deepfake detection, risk mitigation, and fraud prevention capabilities for customers with intelligent anti-fraud, intelligent 

interview, intelligent verification and many other features.

The international version of AI Gamma Vision addresses specific needs from customers in the Guangdong-Hong 

Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (“Greater Bay Area”) and Southeast Asian markets. Meanwhile, our AI Gamma Vision is 

also compatible with domestically-developed technology platforms like HarmonyOS, fully compliant with the requirements 

of IT domestically developed standards.

Our intelligent data services were built on a “Lakehouse” architecture with closed loop management across the entire 

lifecycle from data collection and storage to management and utilization. This provides financial institutions and financial 

holding groups with flexible, efficient, and user-friendly data management solutions that unlock the value of data assets by 

enhancing data analysis and applications. Using ChatBI tools, customers can gain deep insights and analyze management 

practices through a Q&A dialogue format.
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Due to certain subsidiaries and associates of Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Ltd. (“Ping An”) ceasing to 

utilize our cloud services with effect from July 2024, on July 11, 2024, the Board came to the decision that in the best 

interest of our Company and our shareholders as a whole, we would gradually discontinue the operation of our cloud 

services from July 2024 onwards, and discuss with our customers regarding transitional arrangements (if any). As a 

result of the discontinuation, there has been a substantial decrease in revenue attributable to our cloud services platform 

segment in the second half of 2024 and for the full year ended December 31, 2024. For further details, please refer to the 

announcements published by our Company on May 7 and July 11, 2024.

Expansion into Overseas Markets

We have expanded our overseas presence and achieved strong growth in recent years, especially in Hong Kong and 

Southeast Asia markets. Our revenue from third-party overseas customers from continuing operations underscores both the 

strength of our product offerings and the effectiveness of our strategy in forging stronger ties with customers by gaining 

deeper insights into their needs and through innovative collaboration models.

Our subsidiary Ping An OneConnect Credit Reference Services Agency (HK) Limited has been officially named as a selected 

credit reference agency (“CRA”) under the Multiple Credit Reference Agencies Model since 2022. CRA will continue to 

focus on product development, system construction, and continuously exploring business opportunities in the Greater Bay 

Area.

We launched our business in Southeast Asia in 2018 to tap into Southeast Asia’s RMB10 billion financial digital 

transformation market, focusing on digital banking solutions tailored for Southeast Asian financial institutions. Our 

customers in Southeast Asia include small-and-medium-sized local banks as well as larger financial institutions, such as top 

3 regional banks, 12 top local banks, and 2 of the world’s top insurance companies. With our intelligent lending platforms 

and core systems as flagship products, we help banks improve service efficiency and quality as well as reduce risks and 

costs.

In 2024, we continued to explore underlying customer needs and deepened our cooperations with overseas customers. We 

signed Smart Lending Platform (“SLP”) upgrade contracts with SB Finance from the Philippines and one of the top banks 

from Vietnam.

On April 2, 2024, we completed the disposal of virtual banking business to Lufax at a consideration of HK$933 million in 

cash. For details of the disposal and the reasons therefor, please refer to the paragraphs headed “Management Discussion 

& Analysis – Material Acquisitions and Disposals” below.

As of December 31, 2024, we have expanded our overseas presence to 20 countries and territories, covering up to 197 

customers.

2024 ESG Report

We have published the 2024 Environmental, Social, and Governance Report, detailing our efforts and progress in ESG 

management and underscoring our commitment to environmental preservation, social responsibility, and governance 

excellence.
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Recent Developments

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated February 5, 2025 (the “Directors’ Announcement”). 

As disclosed in the Directors’ Announcement, Mr. Chongfeng Shen (“Mr. Shen”) has resigned as an executive Director, 

the chief executive officer and chairman of the Board with effect from February 5, 2025 due to personal reasons and 

Mr. Chen Dangyang has been appointed as an executive Director, the chief executive officer and chairman of the Board 

with effect from February 5, 2025. Further to the Directors’ Announcement, the Board would like to supplement that Mr. 

Shen has resigned from his positions with the Company due to his intention to focus on his other work commitments and 

engagements. Save as disclosed above, all other information disclosed in the Directors’ Announcement remains unchanged. 

For further details, please refer to the Directors’ Announcement.

Reference is also made to the joint announcement dated March 3, 2025 (the “3.7 Announcement”) jointly issued by Bo 

Yu Limited (“Bo Yu”) and the Company in relation to the preliminary non-binding proposal the Company received from Bo 

Yu on March 1, 2025 in relation to the possible privatization of the Company by way of a scheme of arrangement, which if 

proceeded with, could result in a delisting of the Company from the Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange (the 

“Indicative Proposal”). A copy of the Indicative Proposal is attached as Annex A to the 3.7 Announcement. For further 

details, please refer to the 3.7 Announcement and further announcement of the Company dated April 3, 2025.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated March 20, 2025 (the “CCT Announcement”). As disclosed 

in the CCT Announcement, the Group renewed the 2024 services purchasing agreement by entering into the 2025 services 

purchasing agreement with Ping An on March 20, 2025 (the “2025 Services Purchasing Agreement”), pursuant to which 

Ping An shall provide certain services to the Group, including financial service solution services, administrative services, risk 

control services and human resources services, in return for service fees payable. The 2025 Services Purchasing Agreement 

was entered into on normal commercial terms and shall be valid from March 20, 2025 to December 31, 2025. For further 

details, please refer to the CCT Announcement.

Save as disclosed above, there are no important events that had occurred since the end of the Reporting Period up to the 

date of this Annual Report.

Business Outlook

The Company maintains its goal of integrating extensive financial services industry expertise with market-leading 

technology and expects to invest a substantial portion of its remaining liquidity in order to continue implementing its 

second-stage strategy of deepening customer engagement, focusing on premium-plus customers and product optimization 

and integration. Looking ahead, the Company will focus on the financial technology and artificial intelligence industries, 

concentrating on financial institution customers while expanding its ecosystem and overseas footprint. The Company plans 

to invest in research and development, business know-how, and customer insights to expand customer base over the long 

term and boost third-party revenue growth.

For and on behalf of the Board

Mr. Dangyang Chen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

April 24, 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Revenue from Continuing Operations

Year Ended December 31,

In RMB’000, except percentages 2024 2023 YoY

Implementation 664,127 834,620 -20.4%

Transaction-based and support revenue

 Business origination services 30,078 132,112 -77.2%

 Risk management services 247,828 320,462 -22.7%

 Operation support services 549,273 861,056 -36.2%

 Cloud services platform 618,088 1,245,952 -50.4%

 Post-implementation support services 69,064 52,012 32.8%

 Others 69,645 75,377 -7.6%

 Sub-total for transaction-based and support revenue 1,583,976 2,686,971 -41.0%

Total revenue from continuing operations 2,248,103 3,521,591 -36.2%

Our revenue from continuing operations decreased by 36.2% to RMB2,248.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 

from RMB3,521.6 million for the corresponding period of 2023, primarily due to strategic adjustments made to our revenue 

mix as we focus on high-value products and gradual phasing out of our cloud services since July 2024.

Revenue from implementation decreased by 20.4% to RMB664.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 from 

RMB834.6 million for the corresponding period of 2023, primarily due to a decrease in demand for implementation of 

financial services systems in China. Revenue from business origination services decreased by 77.2% to RMB30.1 million 

for the year ended December 31, 2024 from RMB132.1 million for the corresponding period of 2023, primarily due to a 

decrease in transaction volumes in Marketing Management Platform under digital retail banking solutions and from loan 

origination systems under digital credit management solutions. Revenue from risk management services decreased by 

22.7% to RMB247.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 from RMB320.5 million for the corresponding period of 

2023, mainly due to a decrease in transaction volumes from banking-related risk analytic solutions. Revenue from operation 

support services decreased by 36.2% to RMB549.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 from RMB861.1 

million for the corresponding period of 2023, primarily due to a shift in business model for a number of auto ecosystem 

service providers where we transitioned from acting as a contractor to a distributor, which impacted revenue recognition. 

Revenue from cloud services platform decreased by 50.4% to RMB618.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 

from RMB1,246.0 million for the corresponding period of 2023, primarily due to decreased transaction volume of cloud 

services in the first half of the year, and the strategic phasing out of cloud services since July 2024. Revenue from post-

implementation support services was RMB69.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, an increase of 32.8% from 

RMB52.0 million for the corresponding period of 2023, primarily due to increased demand for our post-implementation 

support services from our overseas customers.
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Cost of Revenue from Continuing Operations

Our cost of revenue from continuing operations decreased by 34.2% to RMB1,443.6 million for the year ended December 

31, 2024 from RMB2,195.6 million for the corresponding period of 2023, generally in line with the decrease in revenue.

Gross Profit from and Gross Margin of Continuing Operations

As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit from continuing operations decreased by 39.3% to RMB804.5 million for the 

year ended December 31, 2024 from RMB1,326.0 million for the corresponding period of 2023. Our gross margin was 

35.8% for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to 37.7% for the corresponding period of 2023, mainly due to 

a decrease in economies of scale caused by the decrease in revenue. Our non-IFRS gross margin was 38.2% for the year 

ended December 31, 2024, compared to 40.4% for the corresponding period of 2023.

Operating Expenses from Continuing Operations

Research and Development Expenses

Our research and development costs from continuing operations decreased by 46.5% to RMB510.9 million for the year 

ended December 31, 2024 from RMB955.2 million for the corresponding period of 2023, primarily due to a decrease in 

personnel costs and the ROI-oriented approach we are taking to manage research and development projects.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses decreased by 26.6% to RMB177.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 

from RMB241.6 million for the corresponding period of 2023, mainly due to a decrease in personnel costs and advertising 

expenses as a result of our enhanced sales capabilities and efficiency.

General and Administrative expenses

Our general and administrative expenses decreased by 18.7% to RMB305.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 

from RMB375.1 million for the corresponding period of 2023, primarily due to a decrease in labor costs and workplace 

expenses.

Net Impairment Losses on Financial and Contract Assets for Continuing 
Operations

Our net impairment losses on financial and contract assets for continuing operations decreased to RMB31.3 million for the 

year ended December 31, 2024 from RMB40.5 million for the corresponding period of 2023, primarily due to strengthened 

collections management of accounts receivable.

Other Income, Gains or Loss – Net from Continuing Operations

We incurred other income, gains or loss-net from continuing operations of RMB-83.5 million for the year ended December 

31, 2024, compared to RMB69.2 million for the corresponding period of 2023. The loss was primarily due to goodwill 

impairment during the current reporting period, and to a lesser extent, the cancellation of the additional value-added tax 

deduction policy in 2024 and a reduction in government subsidies compared to the corresponding period in 2023.
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Goodwill Assessment and Impairment

Background to and reasons for the goodwill impairment

Reference is made to the announcement of our Company dated July 11, 2024 regarding the decision of our Company to 

gradually discontinue the operation of cloud services from July 2024 onwards (the “Discontinuation”). As a result of the 

Discontinuation and as disclosed in the unaudited financial results for the third quarter and nine months ended September 

30, 2024 published by our Company on November 14, 2024 and for the fourth quarter and full year ended December 31, 

2024 published by our Company including in this Annual Report, our Company’s revenue has experienced a year-on-year 

decline since the third quarter as our Group continues to phase out our cloud services. Our Company carries out regular 

business review, including a quarterly asset review of our balance sheet. During the review process for the fourth quarter of 

2024, our Company has re-assessed the relevant recoverable amounts of the assets on our balance sheet as of December 

31, 2024.

Goodwill impairment assessment is performed by management at least annually or more frequently if events or changes 

in circumstances indicate that a cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which goodwill has been allocated may be impaired. 

Our Group carries out impairment testing on goodwill by comparing the recoverable amounts of groups of CGUs to their 

carrying amounts, and value-in-use calculations are used to determine the recoverable amounts. Value-in-use is calculated 

based on discounted cash flows. The discounted cash flows calculations utilize cash flow projections developed based on 

financial budgets approved by our management, after considering the current and historical business performance, future 

business plans and market data.

However, (i) the aforementioned Discontinuation and its corresponding impact on the business and operations of our 

Group, (ii) the challenging macroenvironment of the industry that our Group operates in and our expected growth, and (iii) 

the recent performance and expected growth of the various businesses of our Company significantly impacted the valuation 

of the goodwill. In light of these circumstances, the Board carefully assessed the necessity for goodwill impairment by 

conducting a thorough analysis of the current economic climate and market conditions, and considered that recognition of 

an aggregate goodwill impairment of RMB131.9 million in 2024 was appropriate.

Impairment tests for goodwill

Our Company engaged a valuer to conduct impairment tests on goodwill as at December 31, 2024.

In accordance with IAS 36 (impairment of assets), the recoverable amount of CGU is determined on the higher of the 

fair value less the costs of disposal and value in use (“VIU”). According to the result of the test, VIU was adopted to be 

the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. The valuer used the income approach to assess the VIU for the goodwill 

impairment tests, which was consistent with the valuation methodology used in the impairment tests for goodwill for the 

end of last year.

Key assumptions and basis used in calculating VIU

The key assumptions and bases used for VIU calculations of the group of CGUs are as follows:

1. Revenue growth rate – as determined by our management based on past performance, the latest external economy 

and business environment, combined with their projections of market development;

2. Profit margin – as determined by our management based on the past performance and the expected development of 

the market;
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3. Long-term growth rate – long-term average growth rate of the group of CGUs as estimated by our management; 

and

4. Pre-tax discount rate – the discount rate for impairment test, with reference to the actual situation of the group of 

CGUs, the market condition of the same industry and its specific risk premium, calculated with the applicable cost 

of equity capital and cost of debt capital to come up with weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) based on the 

company’s capital structure.

Changes in key assumptions

Comparing certain key assumptions used in determining the VIU of the group of CGUs as at December 31, 2024 against 

those used in assessing the same as at December 31, 2023, the changes are as follows:

VIU assessment for the year ended 

December 31

2023 2024

Key assumption

Revenue growth rate -10%-13% -25%-10%

Profit margin -2%-14% -2%-8%

Considering the factors summarized under the sub-heading “Background to and reasons for the goodwill impairment” 

set out above, in particular the past performance of our technology solutions segment during the Reporting Period, and 

macroeconomic conditions leading to the adoption of cost-reduction measures and reduced technology spending budgets 

by financial institution customers, as well as intensified competition faced by our Group resulting in narrowing of profit 

margins, our management downward adjusted the forecasted revenue growth rate to -25% to 10% and made a more 

conservative forecasted profit margin of -2% to 8%.

VIU assessment for the year ended 

December 31

2023 2024

Key assumption

Pre-tax discount rate 19.73% 21.54%
  

The valuer determined the pre-tax discount rate based on WACC. The company-special risk premium increased during the 

period, after considering these factors and the combined effect of other factors, the pre-tax discount rate was calculated as 

21.54%, which was increased by 1.81 percentage points as compared with the pre-tax discount rate of 19.73% adopted at 

the end of 2023.
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Finance Income from Continuing Operations

Our finance income from continuing operations increased by 128.0% from RMB29.6 million for the year ended December 

31, 2023 to RMB67.5 million for the corresponding period in 2024, primarily due to higher US dollar-denominated deposit 

yields.

Finance Costs from Continuing Operations

Our finance costs from continuing operations decreased by 33.8% from RMB20.1 million for the year ended December 31, 

2023 to RMB13.3 million for the corresponding period in 2024, primarily due to decreased average loan balance.

Share of Gain of Associate and Joint Venture for Continuing Operations

Our share of gains of associate and joint venture for continuing operations was nil for the year ended December 31, 2024 

compared to RMB4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to the absence of profit share from Ping 

An Puhui Lixin Asset Management Co., Ltd. (平安普惠立信資產管理有限公司) (“Puhui Lixin”) in the current period after its 

disposal which was completed in June 2023.

Impairment charges on Associates for Continuing Operations

Our impairment charges on associate for continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2024 was nil compared to 

RMB7.2 million for the corresponding period of 2023, primarily due to the disposal of Puhui Lixin in the prior year period 

while no impairment charges on associate for continuing operations were incurred during the current period.

Loss from Continuing Operations Before Income Tax

As a result of the foregoing, our loss from continuing operations before income tax was RMB249.3 million for the year 

ended December 31, 2024, compared to RMB210.3 million for the corresponding period of 2023.

Income Tax Benefit/(Expense) from Continuing Operations

Our income tax expense from continuing operations increased from RMB9.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 

to RMB455.4 million for the corresponding period in 2024, primarily due to a reversal of deferred income tax assets. In 

particular, our Company carries out regular business review, including a quarterly asset review of our balance sheet. During 

the review process for the fourth quarter of 2024, our Company has re-assessed the relevant recoverable amount of the 

assets on our balance sheet as of December 31, 2024, and considered that a reversal of deferred income tax assets in 

the amount of RMB454.5 million was appropriate, after taking into account (i) the Discontinuation and its corresponding 

impact on the business and operations of our Group, (ii) the challenging macroenvironment of the industry that our Group 

operates in and our expected growth, and (iii) the recent performance and expected growth of the various businesses of 

our Company.

Loss from Continuing Operations for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, our loss from continuing operations increased to RMB704.7 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2024 from RMB220.1 million for the corresponding period of 2023.

Loss from Continuing and Discontinued Operations for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, our loss from continuing and discontinued operations was RMB495.2 million for the year 

ended December 31, 2024, compared to RMB371.5 million for the corresponding period of 2023.
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Cash Flow Data

For the year ended December 31, 2024, our net cash used in operating activities was RMB276.8 million, net cash generated 

from investing activities was RMB1,106.3 million, primarily due to our proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss which was related to our cash management activities and proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 

of RMB723.2 million, and net cash used in financing activities was RMB282.3 million primarily due to repayments of 

short-term borrowings and lease payments. For the corresponding period of 2023, our net cash used in operating activities 

was RMB648.5 million, net cash generated from investing activities was RMB318.6 million and net cash used in financing 

activities was RMB213.6 million. Our business is mostly a cash-flow business and therefore our operating cash flow is 

strongly correlated with, and mainly driven by our profitability.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

For liquidity management, we conduct (i) weekly assessments on wealth management account position and weekly plan 

for expected inflow and outflow, (ii) regular reviews of risk, level of liquidity and market value of such assets, (iii) close 

monitoring of the changing market environment and assessments of the impact on liquidity, and (iv) dynamic management 

of wealth management account positions. These liquid assets can be used to timely supplement our cash to maintain a 

healthy liquidity position.

Our principal sources of liquidity have been cash and cash equivalents, redeemable wealth management products and bank 

borrowings and cash generated from financing activities. As of December 31, 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents 

of RMB1,947.9 million (December 31, 2023: RMB1,379.5 million), restricted cash and time deposits over three months 

of RMB51.9 million (December 31, 2023: RMB452.9 million) and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of 

RMB455.0 million (December 31, 2023: RMB925.2 million). Our cash and cash equivalents primarily represent cash at 

banks, and our restricted cash and time deposits over three months consists primarily of restricted bank deposits.

Having reviewed the Group’s working capital and capital expenditure requirements, the Board considers that the Group has 

no significant liquidity risk and has sufficient working capital.

Borrowings

As of December 31, 2024, we had short-term borrowings of RMB19.2 million (December 31, 2023: RMB251.7 million). We 

had credit facilities primarily with one Chinese bank in the aggregate committed credit of RMB30.0 million. The weighted 

average annual interest rate under our outstanding borrowings based on nominal interest rate was 4.9% (December 31, 

2023: 4.5%). None of our credit facilities contain a material financial covenant.

Pledge of Assets

As of December 31, 2024, approximately RMB18.6 million (equivalent to approximately USD2.6 million) was pledged for 

currency swaps, and approximately RMB9.0 million was pledged for business guarantee.

Other than the above, the Group did not have any encumbrances, mortgage, lien, charge or pledge on its assets.
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Gearing Ratio

As of December 31, 2024, our gearing ratio (i.e. in percentage, total debt divided by total equity, and total debt is 

calculated as the aggregate of total borrowings and lease liabilities) was 1.7% (as of December 31, 2023: 10.3%) as a 

result of decreased bank borrowings.

Significant Investments

The Group’s investments with value of 5% or more of our total assets are considered as significant investments. We did not 

hold any significant investments during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

On April 2, 2024, the Company completed the disposal of Ping An OneConnect Bank (Hong Kong) Limited (“PAOB”) to 

Lufax, by transferring the entire issued share capital of Jin Yi Tong Limited at a consideration of HK$933 million in cash. 

Upon completion, the Company ceased to hold any interest in Jin Yi Tong Limited. Accordingly, Jin Yi Tong Limited and 

its subsidiaries, including PAOB, have ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company and their financial results have ceased to 

be consolidated into the financial information of the Group. The gain on sale after income tax was RMB260.1 million. For 

further details, please refer to the announcement published by the Company on November 14, 2023, the circular published 

by the Company on December 5, 2023, the announcements published by the Company on January 16, April 2 and April 17, 

2024, and Note 12 to the consolidated financial information.

Other than the above, we did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, consolidated affiliated entities 

or associated companies during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets

We did not have detailed future plans for significant investments or capital assets as at December 31, 2024.

Contingent Liabilities

We had no material contingent liabilities as of December 31, 2024.

Capital Expenditures and Capital Commitment for Continuing Operations

Our capital expenditures for continuing operations were RMB27.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as 

compared to RMB37.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. These capital expenditures primarily comprised 

expenditures for the purchase of property and equipment, intangible assets and other long-term assets. As at December 31, 

2024, we had nil capital commitment (as at December 31, 2023: Nil).
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Risk Management

Currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Fluctuations in exchange 

rates between the RMB and other currencies in which we conduct business may affect our financial position and results of 

operations. The foreign currency risk assumed by us mainly comes from movements in the USD/RMB exchange rates.

We and our overseas intermediate holding companies’ functional currency is USD. They are mainly exposed to foreign 

exchange risk arising from their cash and cash equivalents and loans to group companies dominated in RMB. We have 

entered into spot-forward USD/RMB currency swaps to hedge certain portion of the exposure to foreign currency risk arising 

from loans to group companies denominated in RMB. Under our policy, the critical terms of the swaps must substantially 

align with the hedge items.

Our subsidiaries are mainly operated in mainland China with most of the transactions settled in RMB. We consider that 

the business in mainland China is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk as there are no significant financial 

assets or liabilities of these subsidiaries denominated in the currencies other than the respective functional currency.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value/future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 

market interest rates. Floating rate instruments expose us to cash flow interest rate risk, whereas fixed rate instruments 

expose us to fair value interest risk.

We are exposed to interest rate risk primarily in relation to deposits and short-term borrowings. We generally assume 

borrowings to fund working capital requirements, and the risk is managed by us by matching the terms of interest rates of 

deposits and short-term borrowings.

Employees and Remuneration

As of December 31, 2024, we had a total of 1,937 employees, whose remuneration is determined taking into account 

factors such as their individual performance and contribution, professional ability and the prevailing market salary level. The 

following table sets forth the number of our employees by function as of December 31, 2024:

As of 

December 31,

Function 2024

Research and Development 1,226

Business Operations 196

Sales and Marketing 344

General Administration 171

Total 1,937
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For the year ended December 31, 2024, our employee benefit expenses from continuing operations amounted to RMB929.0 

million. Our employee benefit expenses mainly include wages, salaries and other benefits for our employees. We require our 

employees to follow our employee manual and code of business conduct and ethics. We also carry out regular on-the-job 

compliance training for our management and employees to maintain a healthy corporate culture and enhance their 

compliance perception and responsibility.

We have adopted a stock incentive plan in November 2017, which was amended and restated from time to time.

Most employees of our Group have participated in a contribution pension scheme (the “Pension Scheme”) subsidized 

by government entities. The Group pays the required amount of contribution, which is based on a certain percentage of 

employees’ base salary, to the Pension Scheme on a monthly basis, and the relevant government entity will be responsible 

for paying the pension for retired staff. The above payments will be recognized as expenses at the time of actual payment. 

Pursuant to the Pension Scheme, the Group does not have any other material statutory or committed obligations in respect 

of the pension scheme.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, no contribution was forfeited (by the Group on behalf of its employees who 

leave the pension plan prior to vesting fully in such contribution) and used by the Group to reduce the existing level of 

contribution. As at December 31, 2024, there was no forfeited contribution available for reducing the level of contribution 

to pension schemes in future years.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations and business prospects may be affected by a number of risks and 

uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The Company continuously improves its risk 

management system by conducting risk identification, assessment, and mitigation, aiming to achieve a balance between risk 

and return and support the healthy development of its business. Through effective risk management, the Company aims to 

promote business operations, management, and sustainable development.

The Company conducts a detailed risk classification to ensure the identification and systematic management of risks. An 

overview of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Company is set out below:

Concentration risk

Ping An Group is the Company’s strategic partner and its most important customer and supplier. The Company’s strategic 

partnership with Ping An Group has contributed to its growth significantly. If the Company’s relationship with Ping An 

Group deteriorates and it is no longer able to access Ping An Group’s technology or solutions, the Company will need 

to find alternative service providers and adjust its existing products and service offerings, which may negatively affect 

the quality of its solutions and will be costly and time-consuming, and in turn will have significant adverse impact on its 

business and results of operations.
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The Company has established a comprehensive concentration risk management policy and threshold framework. The 

Company continuously monitors and ensures the effective implementation of these limits. For details regarding continuing 

connected transactions and related party transactions, please refer to the section headed Directors’ Report- Connected 

Transactions and Related Party Transactions.

Regulatory compliance and operational risk

Many aspects of the Group’s business, including the provision of Digital Banking, Digital Insurance and Gamma Platform, 

which is a technology infrastructure platform for financial institutions, governments and regulator partners are subject to 

supervision and regulation by various governmental authorities in jurisdictions where the Group operates. In addition, as the 

Group continues to expand the solution offerings, financial ecosystem and offshore business, the Group may be subject to 

new and more complex regulatory requirements.

The Company continuously improves and implements its regulatory compliance and operational risk management 

strategies. In particular, the Company primarily manages regulatory compliance and operational risks through the following 

mechanisms and measures:

1. Establishing and improving a comprehensive management system for identifying, assessing, monitoring, controlling, 

and reporting regulatory compliance and operational risks;

2. Continuously optimizing the Company’s regulatory compliance and operational risk management policies, processes, 

systems, and tools standards to enhance operational risk management standard;

3. Promoting the implementation of operational risk management tools across departments, such as key risk indicators 

and operational risk loss incidents management;

4. Conducting training and awareness campaigns on regulatory compliance and operational risk management to foster 

a prudent risk culture.

Strategic risk

The Group operates in the technology-as-a-service for financial services industry, which is competitive and rapidly evolving. 

Risks may arise when there is a mismatch between the Company’s strategy and regulatory policies, market conditions, or 

its own capabilities, or when errors or deviations occur during the execution of the strategy, leading to risks that impair the 

Company’s ability to sustain its operations. The Group may have limited insight into trends that may develop and affect the 

Group’s business, and the Group may make errors in predicting and reacting to industry trends and evolving needs of its 

customers.

The Company continuously improves its mechanisms for strategic formulation and execution review. It thoroughly studies 

the global macroeconomic environment, the impact of regulatory policies, and market competition dynamics. The Company 

conducts comprehensive reasoning and analysis of its overall strategy and development plans. The Company coordinates 

and regularly develops the overall strategic development plan and annual business plan, clearly defining the strategic 

development priorities for each business line and its subsidiaries. This ensures alignment of strategic objectives across the 

organization. Additionally, the Company regularly monitors and evaluates the implementation of strategic plans and annual 

targets for each business unit, ensuring the effective execution of the Company’s overall development strategy.
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In 2024, the Company has upgraded and optimized its long-term strategic planning, strengthened management of product 

and overseas development strategies, and effectively advanced the implementation of related initiatives.

Information technology risk

By leveraging Ping An Group’s over 30 years of extensive experience in financial services and research capabilities, the 

Group has established a long-term cooperation with financial institutions to address their needs of digital transformation. 

The Group’s information technology systems support all phases of the Group’s operations and are an essential part of its 

technology infrastructure. The Company faces information technology (IT) risks during technology operations, resulting 

from natural factors, human factors and technical vulnerabilities. In particular, severe IT risk incidents, such as major 

information leaks, unauthorized information access, IT outages, and software usage infringements, may have an impact on 

the operations of the Group.

The Company has established a relatively comprehensive IT risk management system in accordance with relevant legal 

compliance and regulatory requirements. The Company established a governance framework that fully covers information 

security, data security, and system security, along with specialized field management responsibilities. The Company is 

continuously advancing its intelligent and data-driven operational transformation, strengthening IT risk control measures. 

These include:

1. Intelligent prevention control: The Company enhances capabilities in the prevention, monitoring, and response to 

information compliance and information security risks, building a robust intelligent prevention and control system 

for information compliance and security.

2. R&D reinforcement: The Company also reinforces the risk management systems for R&D and technology operations, 

strengthens safety management in technology R&D, and improves the efficiency and stability of technology 

operations.

In 2024, the Company has revised its IT risk management policies, strengthened the rectification and implementation 

of information security incidents, conducted network attack and defense exercises on production servers and office 

terminals, and progressively advanced the encryption of personal information and the classification and grading of sensitive 

information in production systems. Additionally, the Company has enhanced IT operational risk management by conducting 

disaster recovery and emergency drills to ensure business continuity, strengthening monitoring of various operational risks 

and IT risk self-evaluations, and ensuring the stable operation of IT systems.

Reputation risk

The Company’s brand value may be damaged by any negative evaluations of a Company by stakeholders, the general 

public, or the media, resulting from Company actions, employee behavior, or external events, which can pose risks to its 

normal operations.

The Company has established a reasonable, timely, and efficient reputation risk management system. The system aims to 

prevent risks, effectively address incidents, and restore the Company’s social image. It ensures quick responses, coordinated 

efforts, and efficient handling of reputation risk events, thereby repairing any damaged reputation and social image in a 

timely manner.
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The Company’s reputation risk management follows the philosophy of “prevention first” and employs multi-layered, 

differentiated management strategies. These include:

1. Pre-event measures: Establishing a robust reputation risk assessment mechanism to minimize the triggers of 

reputation risks at the source and formulating response plans based on the assessment results.

2. During events measures: Improving the reputation crisis management process, implementing tiered responses, and 

conducting comprehensive handling of the entire process to minimize the likelihood of risk incidents escalating into 

reputation crises.

3. Post-event measures: Conducting post-incident reviews and summaries, and using the results for performance 

evaluations and supervision to continuously optimize the risk management mechanism.

Through these measures, the Company is committed to building a comprehensive, systematic, and sustainable reputation 

risk management framework to ensure the long-term stability of its brand value and social image.

In 2024, the Company has revised its reputation risk management policy to proactively identify potential public opinion risks 

in a timely manner, and prepare contingency plans, including external communication guidelines. The Company has also 

conducted multiple brand reputation risk awareness campaigns, training sessions, and scenario simulations to enhance the 

risk awareness of all employees.

Liquidity risk

The Company may face difficulties in paying maturing debts or fulfilling other payment obligations due to the inability to 

obtain sufficient funds in a timely manner or the inability to obtain sufficient funds at a reasonable cost in a timely manner. 

Furthermore, the Company’s ability to obtain external financing is subject to uncertainties, including future financial 

condition, results of operations, cash flows, share price performance, liquidity in the international capital and lending 

markets.

The Company continuously strengthens liquidity risk management based on industry characteristics and its own business 

features. While continuously enhancing the identification, assessment, and management of liquidity risks, the Company has 

established a liquidity stress test to ensure that, under reasonable stress scenarios, the liquidity needs of the Company and 

its key subsidiaries for daily operations and external debt obligations are met. This approach aims to prevent liquidity crises 

or situations where liabilities exceed assets.

The Company effectively utilizes a variety of liquidity risk management tools, enhances cash flow forecasting and 

management across business lines, improves the efficiency of liquidity management, and maintains a focus on the 

management of medium-term to long-term investment returns.
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The Board is pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report for the year ended December 31, 2024 (the “Reporting 

Period”).

A. Corporate Governance Practices

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of governance that properly protects and promotes the 

interests of all Shareholders and enhances corporate value and accountability.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are essential in providing a framework for the 

Group to safeguard the interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies and 

policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability. We believe that such policies and procedures provide the 

infrastructure for enhancing the Board’s ability to implement governance and exercise proper oversight on business 

conduct and affairs of the Company, and can create long term value for the shareholders of the Company and is 

beneficial for the Group’s sustainable growth.

The Company is committed to developing a positive and progressive culture that is built on its vision and values. The 

Company is committed to exploring innovative technology applications in financial fields and scenarios, promoting 

the digital transformation of the whole industry with science and technology. The Company also provides all-around 

learning opportunities for the employees and also enhances efficiency and services and reduces costs and risk for the 

customer. That enables the Company to deliver long-term sustainable growth and success and to become a world-

leading financial technology company.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles and code provisions as set out in 

the Corporate Governance Code (the “Corporate Governance Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules 

Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and the 

Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code as its own code of corporate governance.

The Company has complied with all applicable code provisions during the Reporting Period, save for code provision 

C.2.1 as disclosed in the section headed “B. Board of Directors – Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” of this 

report and code provision C.6.2 as set out below. This below also discloses deviation by the Company from code 

provision C.6.2 subsequent to the Reporting Period and the considered reasons for such deviation.

Code provision C.6.2 of the Corporate Governance Code states a board meeting should be held to discuss the 

appointment of the company secretary and the matter should be dealt with by a physical board meeting rather than 

a written resolution.
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Mr. Tsz Fung Chan (“Mr. Chan”) was appointed as the company secretary with effect from February 23, 2024. 

Mr. Chan is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and satisfies the qualification 

requirements under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. The biographical information of Mr. Chan and further details 

of the change of company secretary are set out in the announcement published by the Company on February 23, 

2024. The appointment of Mr. Chan was dealt with by a written resolution of the Board. As Mr. Chan joined the 

Group since April 2019, previously serving as strategy director and project management director of the Group, and 

currently serving as the head of board office and head of investor relations of the Company, the Board is fully aware 

of the qualifications and experience of Mr. Chan without any dissenting opinion, and as such it was considered that 

a physical board meeting was not necessary for approving the said appointment.

Subsequent to the Reporting Period, Mr. Chan resigned as the company secretary with effect from April 11, 2025. 

Following Mr. Chan’s resignation, Mr. Lin Rubo (“Mr. Lin”) and Ms. Chan Yuen Mui (“Ms. Chan”) have been 

appointed as the joint company secretaries of the Company with effect from April 11, 2025. Mr. Lin has been 

designated as the primary contact person at the Company who would work and communicate with Ms. Chan on the 

Company’s corporate governance and secretarial and administrative matters. The biographical information of Mr. Lin 

and Ms. Chan, and further details of the change of company secretary as well as the waiver from strict compliance 

with rules 3.28 and 8.17 of the Listing Rules, are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors 

and Senior Management” in this Annual Report and in the announcement published by the Company on April 11, 

2025.

The appointment of Mr. Lin and Ms. Chan was dealt with by a written resolution of the Board. As Mr. Lin has been 

serving as the chief financial officer of the Company since August 2024 and Ms. Chan has previously been assisting 

with the Company’s corporate governance and Listing Rules compliance matters, the Board is fully aware of the 

qualifications and experience of Mr. Lin and Ms. Chan without any dissenting opinion, and as such it was considered 

that a physical board meeting was not necessary for approving the said appointment.
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B. Board of Directors

Board of Directors

The businesses of the Company are managed and conducted by the Board. The Board is responsible for leading and 

controlling the Group, promoting the success of the Company by guiding and overseeing the affairs of the Group, 

and making decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board will regularly review the contribution required from a Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the 

Group, and whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them. Each Director should also disclose 

to the Company in a timely manner for any change, the number and nature of offices held in public companies or 

organizations and other significant commitments.

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established the Audit Committee and the 

Compensation and Nomination Committee. The Board has delegated to the Board committees the responsibilities as 

set out in their respective terms of reference.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in respect of liability arising from legal action against its 

Directors, and the insurance coverage is reviewed annually.

Board Composition

As at December 31, 2024, the Board comprised one executive Director (as the Chairman and Chief Executive 

Officer), four non-executive Directors and four independent non-executive Directors.

Position Name

Executive Director Mr. Dangyang Chen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 

 (appointed on February 5, 2025)

Mr. Chongfeng Shen (resigned on February 5, 2025)

Non-executive Director Mr. Michael Guo

Ms. Xin Fu

Mr. Wenwei Dou

Ms. Wenjun Wang

Independent Non-executive Director Dr. Yaolin Zhang

Mr. Tianruo Pu

Mr. Wing Kin Anthony Chow

Mr. Koon Wing Ernest Ip

The biographical details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior 

Management” in this Annual Report. Mr. Dangyang Chen, an executive Director appointed subsequent to the 

Reporting Period, confirms that he has obtained the legal advice referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules 

on January 21, 2025 and understands his legal obligations as a director of a listed issuer under the Listing Rules.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The Board has at all times during the Reporting Period complied with the requirements of Rule 3.10(1) and (2) of 

the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors with at least one 

of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. 

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent 

non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors in 

respect of his independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing 

Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Mechanism for Directors to Obtain Independent Views and Opinions

The Company has established a mechanism to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board. 

The Board has a majority of non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) and no less 

than one-third of independent non-executive Directors to ensure that there is a strong independent element on 

the Board. The Company has established various channels for the independent non-executive Directors to express 

their opinions, and secured sufficient time for Board meetings and Board Committee meetings to ensure that the 

Directors have sufficient time and channels to express their opinions. Directors may seek independent professional 

advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to consult with the 

Company’s senior management independently. The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of the 

above mechanism annually.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance 

Code so as to ensure the establishment of sound corporate governance practices and procedures by the Company. 

During the Reporting Period, the Board has:

(1) considered, formulated and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

(2) reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior 

management;

(3) reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and practices in compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements as required under the applicable requirements of the Listing Rules;

(4) reviewed and monitored the Directors’ and relevant employee’s compliance with the Company code; and

(5) reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and relevant disclosure.
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Responsibilities of the Board and the Management

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal 

control and risk management, material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), 

financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters of the Company. 

Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and 

management of the Company are delegated to the management.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code states that the roles of chairman and chief executive 

should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. During the Reporting Period, the Company 

has appointed Mr. Chongfeng Shen as both the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company. 

Subsequent to the Reporting Period, on February 5, 2025, the Company has appointed Mr. Dangyang Chen as both 

the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company. The Board however believes that it is in the interests 

of the Company to vest the roles of both the chairman and the chief executive officer in the same person, so as to 

provide consistent leadership within the Group and facilitate the prompt execution of the Group’s business strategies 

and boost operation effectiveness. The Board also believes that the balance of power and authority under this 

arrangement will not be impaired, as all major decisions must be made in consultation with the Board as a whole, 

together with its relevant committees, which comprise experienced individuals and four independent non-executive 

Directors who are in the position to provide independent insights to the Board and monitor the management and 

operation of the Company. To ensure proper governance and execution at management level, the Company also has 

in place various management committees who make management decisions collectively. The Board will periodically 

review and consider the effectiveness of this arrangement by taking into account the circumstances of the Group as 

a whole.

Re-election of Directors

Code provision B.2.2 states that every director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to 

retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), one-third of the 

Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation at every annual general meeting of the Company, 

provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation 

at least once every three years and any Director appointed by the Board or elected by the Shareholders to fill a 

casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office until the first annual general meeting of the Company 

after such Director’s appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting.

Mr. Dangyang Chen, Ms. Xin Fu, Mr. Wenwei Dou, Dr. Yaolin Zhang and Mr. Tianruo Pu will retire as Directors at, 

or hold office as Director until, the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and being eligible, will 

offer themselves for re-election at the meeting.

The Company has entered into a service contract with the executive Director for a term of three years and an 

appointment letter with each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors for a term of 

three years. Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election pursuant to the Articles of Association 

and the Listing Rules.



ANNUAL REPORT 2024 29

Corporate Governance Report

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of 

Association. The Compensation and Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, 

monitoring the appointment/re-election and succession planning of Directors.

Training and Continuous Professional Development

Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her 

appointment, in order to make sure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the 

Company and is fully aware of his/her duties and responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant statutory 

requirements.

Directors are encouraged to participate in appropriate continuous professional development to develop and refresh 

their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the Reporting Period, the Company arranged internal briefings for Directors and sent reading material on 

relevant topics to Directors for their reference and studying, including reading materials in relation to legal and 

regulatory updates. The training records of the Directors during the Reporting Period are summarized as follow:

Directors Type(s) of TrainingNote

Executive Directors

Mr. Dangyang Chen (appointed on February 5, 2025) N/A

Mr. Chongfeng Shen (resigned on February 5, 2025) A and B

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Michael Guo A and B

Ms. Xin Fu A and B

Mr. Wenwei Dou A and B

Ms. Wenjun Wang A and B

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Yaolin Zhang A and B

Mr. Tianruo Pu A and B

Mr. Wing Kin Anthony Chow A and B

Mr. Koon Wing Ernest Ip A and B

Note:

Types of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant publications
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Committees

As at December 31, 2024, the Board has established the following committees: (i) Audit Committee and (ii) 

Compensation and Nomination Committee. These committees operate in accordance with their respective terms 

of reference established by the Board. All Board committees of the Company are established with defined written 

terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the websites of the Company and 

of the Stock Exchange and are available to Shareholders upon request. The majority of the members of each Board 

committee are independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairpersons and members of each Board 

committee is set out under “Corporate Information” of this Annual Report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Tianruo Pu (chairperson of 

the Audit Committee), Mr. Wing Kin Anthony Chow and Mr. Koon Wing Ernest Ip.

The major duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are set out clearly in its terms of reference, which 

primarily include, among other things, (i) appointing the independent auditors (subject to shareholder approval) 

and pre-approving all auditing and non-auditing services permitted to be performed by the independent auditors, 

(ii) reviewing with the independent auditors any audit problems or difficulties and management’s response, (iii) 

discussing the annual audited financial statements with management and the independent auditors, (iv) reviewing 

the adequacy and effectiveness of the accounting and internal control policies and procedures and any steps 

taken to monitor and control major financial risk exposures, (v) reviewing and approving all proposed related party 

transactions and (vi) meeting separately and periodically with management and the independent auditors.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 have been reviewed by 

the Audit Committee and the external auditor. The Audit Committee is of the view that the consolidated financial 

statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 comply with the applicable accounting standards 

and the Listing Rules, and that sufficient disclosures have been made.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, 5 meetings were held by the Audit Committee and the following 

matters, among others, have been discussed and considered:

(a) reviewed the unaudited financial results for the fourth quarter of 2023, and each of the first, second and 

third quarters of 2024 and the relevant quarterly results announcements;

(b) reviewed the unaudited interim results of the Company for the six months ended June 30, 2024;

(c) reviewed the interim report of the Company for the six months ended June 30, 2024;

(d) discussed with the external auditor of the Company on their review of the Company’s consolidated quarterly 

financial information for the fourth quarter of 2023 and each of the first, second and third quarters of 2024;
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(e) reviewed the Company’s related party transactions and connected transactions;

(f) reviewed the Company’s internal control system and risk management system and discussed with the 

management on the effectiveness of these systems;

(g) discussed with the external auditor of the Company on their integrated audit plan for 2024; and

(h) recommended to the Board for the proposal for re-appointment of the external auditor of the Company.

All members of the Audit Committee attended the meetings.

Compensation and Nomination Committee

The Compensation and Nomination Committee consists of three members: two independent non-executive Directors, 

namely Dr. Yaolin Zhang (chairperson of the Compensation and Nomination Committee) and Mr. Wing Kin Anthony 

Chow, and one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Michael Guo.

The primary duties of the Compensation and Nomination Committee include assisting the Board in (i) reviewing, 

recommending and approving the compensation plan, including all forms of compensation, relating to the directors, 

senior management and executive officers, (ii) identifying candidates qualified to become the directors, and (iii) 

reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board. In particular, the Compensation and Nomination 

Committee is responsible for, among other things, (i) reviewing periodically and approving any incentive 

compensation or equity plans, programs or similar arrangements, (ii) considering salaries paid by comparable 

companies, time commitments, responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group, (iii) selecting and 

recommending to the Board candidates for election by the shareholders or appointment by the Board, (iv) reviewing 

and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management, (v) 

monitoring compliance with the code of business conduct and ethics, and (vi) reviewing and/or approving matters 

relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The Compensation and Nomination Committee 

shall also ensure that no Director or any of his or her associates shall be involved in determining his or her own 

compensation.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Compensation and Nomination Committee held one meeting 

for, among others, reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessing the performance and 

training of Directors, and reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the compensation plan of the 

Company. All members of the Compensation and Nomination Committee at the time attended the meeting. During 

the Reporting Period, the Compensation and Nomination Committee also, among other things, considered and 

made recommendations to the Board on senior management candidates for appointment by the Board and their 

compensation packages.
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Director Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy which aims to render clear basis and procedures for the 

nomination and appointment of Directors. The Board will take into account factors such as character and integrity, 

qualifications, skills, experience, independence and diversity of the candidates, and whether or not the candidate 

is willing and able to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a member of the Board and Board committee 

upon receipt of the proposal of appointment of new Directors or the nomination proposal made by Shareholders 

at general meetings of the Company. When Directors are re-elected at general meetings, apart from the above 

standards, the Board will also review the overall contributions and services of retiring Directors to the Company and 

their level of participation and performance in the Board.

The Compensation and Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the director nomination policy to ensure 

its effectiveness.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the objective and 

approach to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board in order to enhance its effectiveness. Pursuant to the Board 

Diversity Policy, the Board seeks to achieve its diversity through the consideration of a number of factors when 

selecting candidates to the Board, including but not limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender, 

age, cultural and education background, ethnicity and length of service.

The Directors have a mix of knowledge and skills, including in banking and finance, financial planning, legal and 

compliance, business management, business development and investments. They obtained degrees in various areas 

such as accounting, business administration, economics, physics, public administration, law and engineering. The 

ages of the Directors range from 45 to 74 years old.

The Compensation and Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board Diversity Policy, monitoring 

the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and reviewing the Board Diversity Policy from time to time to 

ensure its continued effectiveness. As at December 31, 2024, the Board comprises nine Directors, of which 22% 

of them are female and 78% of them are male. Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and the Board’s 

composition, the Compensation and Nomination Committee considered that the requirements of the Board Diversity 

Policy had been met and therefore, no measurable objective for the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy 

is required to be set. However, from time to time, the Compensation and Nomination Committee will monitor 

the Board’s composition and consider setting measurable objectives and reviewing such objectives to ensure their 

appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards achieving Board diversity.
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As at December 31, 2024, the full-time employees of the Group (including senior management) comprise about 

66% male and 34% female. The Company shall continue to ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting 

staff at mid to senior management level so that the Company could develop a pipeline of potential successors to the 

board to continue to achieve gender diversity.

Attendance of Board Meetings and Committee Meetings

Pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code, board meetings should be held at least four times a year at 

approximately quarterly intervals. During the Reporting Period, the Board has held five meetings.

Pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code, the chairman of the Board should at least annually hold meetings 

with independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors. During the Reporting Period, 

the chairman of the Board has held one meeting with independent non-executive Directors in compliance with the 

Corporate Governance Code.

Details of the attendance of Directors at the Board meetings, committee meetings and the annual general meeting 

of the Company held during the year under review are set out below:

Number of meetings attended

Directors

General 

meetings Board

Audit 

Committee

Compensation 

and 

Nomination 

Committee

Number of meetings 2 5 5 1

Executive Directors

Mr. Dangyang Chen (appointed on February 5, 2025) N/A N/A N/A N/A

Mr. Chongfeng Shen (resigned on February 5, 2025) 2/2 5/5 N/A N/A

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Michael Guo 2/2 5/5 N/A 1/1

Ms. Xin Fu 2/2 5/5 N/A N/A

Mr. Wenwei Dou 2/2 3/5 N/A N/A

Ms. Wenjun Wang 2/2 5/5 N/A N/A

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Yaolin Zhang 2/2 5/5 N/A 1/1

Mr. Tianruo Pu 2/2 5/5 5/5 N/A

Mr. Wing Kin Anthony Chow 2/2 5/5 5/5 1/1

Mr. Koon Wing Ernest Ip 2/2 5/5 5/5 N/A
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Compliance with the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 

Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities 

transactions.

Having made specific enquiries to all of the Directors of the Company, all Directors of the Company confirmed that 

they have fully complied with all relevant requirements set out in the Model Code during the Reporting Period.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is paid in the form of fees, basic salaries, housing 

allowances, other allowances and benefits in kind, employer’s contributions to a pension scheme, share-based 

payments and discretionary bonuses. The remuneration payable is determined taking into account factors such as 

individual performance, contribution and professional ability, and having regard to the Group’s operating results 

and the prevailing market salary level. The remuneration for independent non-executive Directors mainly comprises 

directors’ fees, which is determined by the Board upon recommendation from the Compensation and Nomination 

Committee.

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in Note 40 

to the consolidated financial statements. None of the Directors has agreed to waive any emoluments for the year 

ended December 31, 2024.

There were four employees other than Directors classified as senior management for the year ended December 31, 

2024; for details of the current members of senior management, please refer to the section headed “Biographical 

Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this Annual Report. The remuneration of the senior management by 

band for the year ended December 31, 2024 is set out below:

Remuneration bands Number of employees

RMB500,000 to RMB1,000,000 2

RMB1,500,001 to RMB2,000,000 2

4

Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid individuals is set out in Note 8 of the consolidated financial 

statements.
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C. Accountability and Audit

Directors’ Responsibility in respect of the Financial Statements

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the accounts which seek to give a true and fair view of 

the state of affairs of the Company and the Group, with necessary supporting assumptions or qualifications. The 

Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial statements of the Company.

The management provides explanation and information to the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment 

of the financial and other information to be approved.

The Board endeavors to ensure a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of the Company’s position and 

prospects when the Company presents financial reports and other information to general public and regulators 

pursuant to the Listing Rules and other statutory requirements.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant 

doubt over the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Board continues to prepare the 

financial statements on a going concern basis.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has committed to ensuring the establishment and operation of an appropriate and effective risk 

management and internal control systems of the Company. The Board has continuously overseen the management 

in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems of the Company.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their 

effectiveness. The systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failing in achieving the business 

objectives, and can only provide a reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Company has established an organizational structure with clear division of duties and positions as well as 

reporting procedures. The Audit Committee assists the Board in continuous review of the effectiveness of the 

Company’s risk management and internal control systems.

During the Reporting Period, the management conducted an internal assessment of relevant risks faced by the 

Company. There is no material change in the aspect, nature and extent of the risks faced by the Company since 

the last review and the Company is confident of its capability to handle such risks and relevant measures have been 

established.

The Company has adopted the risk management framework described below to address the risks faced by the 

Company:

• The Board is the highest governance body for the enterprise risk management of the Company. The Board 

oversees the establishment of the Company’s enterprise risk management system, reviews and approves the 

enterprise risk management objectives, risk appetite, thresholds and enterprise risk management measures of 

the Company.



ONECONNECT FINANCIAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.36

Corporate Governance Report

• The Audit Committee reports to the Board and assumes the supervision and management responsibilities 

for enterprise risk management with the assistance of the internal audit department. The Audit Committee 

supervises the application of the enterprise risk management system and discusses with the management 

to ensure its effectiveness and investigates any potential or actual significant risk or irregularity within the 

Company. To the extent that material internal control deficiencies are identified during the course of internal 

audit assessments, the internal audit department directly reports this to the Audit Committee in a timely 

manner, exercises supervision over the implementation of rectification plans proposed by the management, 

and reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the relevant rectification measures. The Audit Committee shall 

discuss the reported issues and its subsequent rectification, and report to the Board as necessary.

• The Company has also established a risk management committee (the “RMC”), which is responsible for the 

policies, systems, the implementation thereof, rewards and penalties and other management functions. The 

RMC oversees the establishment of a enterprise risk management system, promotes the implementation 

of risk management objectives, risk appetite and thresholds, approves major risk management matters in 

light of these objectives, promotes the establishment of a standardized risk management mechanism, and 

supervises the development of risk management culture of the Company.

• The strategy and investment committee, consisting of Mr. Dangyang Chen, Mr. Michael Guo and Dr. Yaolin 

Zhang, is responsible for reviewing and approving investment proposals made by the strategic investment 

and capital markets department, including issuances or disposals of equity or debt securities and investments 

in, joint ventures or alliances with, or acquisitions of other companies. The strategic investment and capital 

markets department sources investment projects in accordance with the investment strategy, and conducts 

thorough pre-investment due diligence to assess the risks and potential of the investment projects.

• The Company has in place an employee handbook, including work ethics and prevention mechanisms to 

avoid fraud, negligence and corruption, and a code of conduct approved by the management which has 

been distributed to all the employees. The Company provides employees with regular training and resources 

relating to work ethic, working procedures, internal policies, management, technical skills and other aspects 

to keep them abreast of the guidelines contained in the employee handbook. The Company has formulated 

a recruitment plan for the upcoming year based on the current turnover rate and the future business plan, 

and the Company continuously improves the recruitment process with the aid of information technology. The 

Company also has a rigorous background check process for the incoming employees.

• The Company has adopted the whistleblowing policy pursuant to which employees, customers, suppliers 

and other concerned parties can report any actual or suspected misconduct, or malpractice or improprieties 

in any matter relating to the Group, and for such matters to be investigated and dealt with efficiently in an 

appropriate and transparent manner. The Board has designated the Audit Committee to receive on his behalf 

any such reports, to oversee the conduct of subsequent investigations, and to provide information, including 

recommendations arising from any investigations to Audit Committee for consideration by the Board.

• The relevant risk management functions, including those at the local offices in jurisdictions where we 

operate, are responsible for formulating and implementing the risk management policies. The relevant 

departments take the lead in the day-to-day risk management related to the business operations, identify 

and assess potential risks, prepare risk management reports, and organize the implementation of appropriate 

response and treatment measures where necessary.
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The Directors, as supported by the Audit Committee and the Compensation and Nomination Committee, have 

conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system of the 

Group during the year ended December 31, 2024, covering all major functions including finance, operation and 

compliance. Based on the review results, the Directors are of the opinion that the system is effective and sufficient, 

having considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and budget 

of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, the risk level of various compliance operational 

aspects, and the Company’s performance and reporting on environmental, social and governance.

The Company has formulated a disclosure policy to provide a general guide to the directors, officers, senior 

management and relevant employees of the Group and the board of directors of the Company in handling 

confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to enquiries, pursuant to applicable 

laws and regulations. The Company adopts a bottom-up model for the reporting of data to the board on potential 

inside information and/or material events. The Company has established a disclosure committee consisting of the 

heads of departments or business units and key investor relations staff, which is generally responsible for reporting 

to senior management and the board of directors of the Company, regular collection, monitoring and evaluation 

of potential inside information and/or material events of the Company submitted by employees at different levels, 

and overseeing the operational aspects of the disclosure process to ensure that the information disclosed is true, 

accurate and complete in all material respects and without misleading statements or major omissions. The Audit 

Committee shall maintain oversight of the financial statements and the management discussion and analysis or any 

equivalent section in the periodic reports and earnings releases of the Company. Control procedures have been 

implemented to limit access to, and maintain confidentiality of, inside information, and ensure that unauthorized 

use of inside information is strictly prohibited.

Auditor and Auditors’ Remuneration

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial 

statements is set out in this Annual Report on pages 89 to 91.

During the Report ing Per iod, the remunerat ion paid to the external auditor of the Group, being 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, is set out as follows:

Service category

Fee paid/payable 

for the Reporting Period

(RMB’000)

Audit services 11,650

Non-audit services* 2,778

Total 14,428

* Significant non-audit service assignments included tax refund and tax defence consulting services (for which RMB2,430,000 was paid/
payable).



ONECONNECT FINANCIAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.38

Corporate Governance Report

D. Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company has established a Shareholders’ communication policy. The policy aims at ensuring that the Company’s 

Shareholders and, in appropriate circumstances, the investment community at large, are timely provided with 

complete, equal and understandable information about the Company (including its financial performance, strategic 

goals and plans, material developments, corporate governance and risk profile), in order to enable Shareholders 

to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to enhance the communication between the Shareholders, the 

investment community and the Company.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the above shareholder communication policy 

during the Reporting Period and is satisfied that the policy has been implemented effectively, having considered the 

availability of multiple channels of communication and engagement in place below.

The Company conveys the information to the Shareholders and investors mainly through the following channels:

• disclosures to the market submitted to the Stock Exchange, such as the publication of announcements, 

annual reports, interim reports and/or circulars as required under the Listing Rules, which are uploaded onto 

www.hkexnews.hk;

• the Company’s investor relations website at www.ocft.com;

• the holding of annual general meeting and extraordinary general meetings, if any, which may be convened 

for specific purposes; and

• the holding of earnings conference calls from time to time.

To facilitate the exchange of views between the Shareholders and the Board, the chairman of the Board and 

chairpersons of the Board committees (or their delegates (if applicable)), appropriate executive management 

personnel and the external auditor will attend the annual general meetings and answer the questions raised by the 

Shareholders.

Rights of Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 60(b) of the Articles of Association, one or more members holding at the date of deposit of the 

requisition not less than 10% of the voting rights shall be entitled to require the convening of a general meeting 

with a written requisition deposited at the registered office of the Company and specifying the objects of the 

meeting and the resolutions to the meeting agenda, and must be signed by the requisitionist.

If the Board does not within 21 calendar days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene 

the meeting to be held within a further 21 calendar days, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than 

one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a general meeting, but any meeting so 

convened shall not be held after the expiration of three calendar months after the expiration of the said 21 calendar 

days.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings by Shareholders

There is no provision allowing the Company’s shareholders to put forward new resolutions at general meetings 

under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands or the Articles of Association of the Company. The Company’s 

shareholders who wish to put forward a resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting 

following the procedures set out in the preceding sub-section.

Enquiry to the Board

Enquiry may be made to the Board at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 

2701, Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company will not normally deal with verbal or 

anonymous enquiries.

Investor Relations

The Company publishes on its website (www.ocft.com) the latest company news relating to the Group. The public is 

welcome to provide opinions and make inquiries through the Company’s website.

Shareholders may also contact the Investor Relations Department of the Company from time to time to understand 

the information published by the Company. Shareholders may send their enquiries to OCFT_IR@ocft.com for the 

attention of the Investor Relations Department.

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong Share Registrar, 

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, by sending submitting online enquiries using the link  

https://www-uk.computershare.com/Investor/#Contact/Enquiry?cc=hk&lang=en or cal l ing its hotl ine at  

+852 2862 8555, or going in person to its address at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s 

Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

Amendments to the Constitutional Documents

No changes have been made to the Articles of Association by the Company during the Reporting Period. The latest 

version of Articles of Association are also available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

E. DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code, subject to certain 

restrictions under Cayman Islands law, namely that the Company may only pay dividends out of profits or share 

premium, and provided always that in no circumstances may a dividend be paid if this would result in the Company 

being unable to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

While deciding on the declaration or payment of any dividends and the amount of any dividends, the Board will take 

into account, among other things, the Company’s future operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, 

general financial condition, contractual restrictions and other factors that the board of directors may deem relevant. 

If the Company pays any dividends on the Shares, we will pay those dividends which are payable in respect of the 

Shares underlying the ADSs to the depositary of the Company’s ADSs (the “Depositary”), as the registered holder 

of such Shares, and the Depositary then will pay such amounts to the ADS holders in proportion to the Shares 

underlying the ADSs held by such ADS holders, subject to the terms of the deposit agreement, including the fees 

and expenses payable thereunder. Cash dividends on the Shares, if any, will be paid in U.S. dollars.
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The Board is pleased to present this Annual Report and audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year 

ended December 31, 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

Principal Business

The Company is a technology-as-a-service provider for the financial services industry. The Company integrates extensive 

financial services industry expertise with market-leading technology to provide technology applications and technology-

enabled business services to financial institutions. The integrated solutions and platform the Company provides include 

digital banking solution, digital insurance solution and Gamma Platform, which is a technology infrastructural platform 

for financial institutions. The Company’s solutions enable its customers’ digital transformations, which help them improve 

efficiency, enhance service quality, and reduce costs and risks. The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of 

the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on July 4, 2022.

Operating segment information of the Company for the Reporting Period is presented in Note 6 to the consolidated 

financial statements, and a list of principal subsidiaries of the Company, together with the details of their places of 

incorporation, principal businesses and shares in issue/registered capital, is set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial 

statements. Save as disclosed in the “Chairman’s Statement – “Business Review” and “Management Discussion and 

Analysis” sections in this Annual Report with respect to Board’s decision to gradually discontinue the operations of the 

Group’s cloud services from July 2024 onwards, there were no substantial changes in the principal business of the Group 

during the Reporting Period.

Results and Dividends

The operating results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 and the financial positions of the Company and 

the Group as at the same date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 92 to 98 of this Annual Report.

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Business Review

Details of the business review and performance of the Group during the Reporting Period (including the description of 

the main risks and uncertainties facing the Group, any material events affecting the Company that have occurred since 

the end of 2024, the key financial performance indicators and prospects) are set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and 

“Management Discussion and Analysis” sections on pages 7 to 23 of this Annual Report, which form part of this report.
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Summary of Financial Information

According to the audited consolidated financial statements and after reclassification as appropriate, the published results, 

assets, liabilities and net assets of the Group for the past five fiscal years is presented on page 218 “Financial Summary” 

section of this Annual Report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

Property and Equipment

Details of changes in the property and equipment of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 14 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

Share Capital

The Company had 1,169,980,653 ordinary shares in issue as at December 31, 2024. Details of movements in the share 

capital of the Company during the year, together with the reasons therefor, are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated 

financial statements. 

Pre-emptive Right

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands (the 

jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated) which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata 

basis to existing Shareholders.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold, or redeemed any of the Company’s securities (including 

sale of treasury shares) listed on the Stock Exchange during the Reporting Period.

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Company has no knowledge of any tax relief and exemption provided to the Shareholders due to their holding of the 

Company’s securities.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 27 to 

the consolidated financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

Reserves Available for Distribution

The Company may pay dividends out of its share premium account and retained earnings.

As at December 31, 2024, the Company did not have any distributable reserves.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

Details of the Group’s transactions with its major suppliers and customers during the year are set out as below:

For the year ended December 31, 2024, aggregating Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Ltd. (中國平安保險(集

團)股份有限公司) (“Ping An”) and its subsidiaries (“Ping An Group”) as one customer, Ping An Group was the largest 

customer, accounting for approximately 53.0% of the total revenue from continuing operations (2023: 59.4%). The 

aggregate revenue generated from the five largest customers contributed approximately 64.5% of the total revenue from 

continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: 70.5%).

For the year ended December 31, 2024, Ping An Group was the largest supplier, accounting for approximately 56.7% of 

the total purchases (2023: 56.4%). The aggregate purchases from the five largest suppliers contributed approximately 

80.7% of the total purchases for the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: 69.6%).

Ping An is one of the controlling shareholders. Besides Ping An Group, the five largest customers also included Lufax 

Holding Ltd. (“Lufax”), which was an associate of Ping An Group previously and became a subsidiary of Ping An Group on 

July 30, 2024. Save as disclosed, none of the Directors, their respective close associates, or any Shareholder (which to the 

knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in any of 

the five largest customers or suppliers during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group emphasizes the importance of energy conservation and environmental protection as part of its corporate culture 

and encourages its employees to minimize the use of paper by promoting digitalization of documents and better use of 

waste paper. Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance are disclosed in the environmental, 

social and governance report of the Company for the Reporting Period which has been published on the Company’s 

website and the website of the Stock Exchange website in accordance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Donations

No donation has been made by the Group during the Reporting Period.

Relationship with Stakeholders

The Group recognizes that the interests of stakeholders are vital to the sustainable development of its business operation 

and is committed to maintaining effective communication with the major stakeholders, including customers and employees 

to enhance the relationship and cooperation for the long-term development of the Group.

The Group’s customers include large and joint-stock banks, city commercial banks, small and medium-sized banks, property 

and casualty insurance companies, life insurance companies, financial institutions, and government agencies and regulators.
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Employees are considered as the most important and valuable assets of the Group. The remuneration package for 

employees generally includes salary and bonuses. The Group conducts periodic performance reviews for employees, and 

their remuneration is performance-based. Employees also receive welfare benefits including medical care, housing subsidies, 

pension, occupational injury insurance and other miscellaneous benefits. The Group also provides regular training to 

employees designed to improve staff dedication and increase staff knowledge in a number of important areas of its services, 

which has enhanced the productivity of employees.

Compliance with Applicable Laws and Regulations

As the Group mainly operates in China through its subsidiaries, it is subject to the Chinese laws and regulations relating to 

software and technology service, banking services, e-commerce and insurance, including but not limited to those on foreign 

investment, value-added telecommunication services, internet information services, mobile internet application information 

services, cyber security and privacy protection, blockchain, e-commerce, outsourcing services, loan facilitation, insurance, 

electronic certification service, taxation, intellectual property, labor and personnel, foreign exchange, stock incentive plans, 

anti-monopoly and unfair competition, M&A rules and overseas listings. Meanwhile, as a company incorporated in the 

Cayman Islands and listed on the NYSE and the Stock Exchange, the Company is governed by the Company Law of the 

Cayman Islands, the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the United States Securities Act of 1933, the Hong 

Kong Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, to the best knowledge of the Board, the Group does not have any incidence of 

non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group’s business.

Directors

The Directors during the Reporting Period and as at the date of this Annual Report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Dangyang Chen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on February 5, 2025)

Mr. Chongfeng Shen (resigned on February 5, 2025)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Michael Guo

Ms. Xin Fu

Mr. Wenwei Dou

Ms. Wenjun Wang

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Dr. Yaolin Zhang

Mr. Tianruo Pu

Mr. Wing Kin Anthony Chow

Mr. Koon Wing Ernest Ip
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 78 to 84 of this Annual 

Report.

Change in Directors’ Information

The changes in Directors’ information as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set out 

below:

– Mr. Michael Guo was appointed as a non-executive director of Ping An Healthcare and Technology Company 

Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1833) on March 19, 2024, a non-

executive director of Ping An Life Insurance Company of China, Ltd. in May 2024, a director of Ping An Property 

& Casualty Insurance Company of China, Ltd. (中國平安財產保險股份有限公司) in August 2024, a non-executive 

director of Ping An Bank Co., Ltd. (平安銀行股份有限公司), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (SZSE: 

000001), in September 2024, an executive director of Ping An on September 18, 2024 and a director of Peking 

University Medical Management Co., Ltd. in December 2024;

– Ms. Xin Fu was appointed as a non-executive director of Ping An Bank Co., Ltd. (平安銀行股份有限公司), a company 

listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (SZSE: 000001), in March 2024, an executive director of Ping An on 

September 18, 2024, a director of Peking University Medical Management Co., Ltd. in December 2024 and the chief 

financial officer (financial director) of Ping An in March 2025;

– Mr. Wing Kin Anthony Chow was appointed as an independent non-executive director of China Resources Beverage 

(Holdings) Company Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2460) on October 8, 

2024;

Save as disclosed above, there are no other changes in the Directors’ biographical details which are required to be disclosed 

pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect 

of his/her independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and the 

Company is of the view that such independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Service Contracts of Directors

None of the Directors has entered into any unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of 

its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.
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Directors’ Interests in Material Transactions, Arrangements and Contracts as 
well as Competing Business

Save as disclosed in the sub-section headed “Connected Transactions and Related Party Transactions” and Note 37 to the 

“Related Party Transactions” of the consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report, no contracts of significance 

(as defined in Appendix D2 of the Listing Rules) related to the business of the Company to which the Company, its holding 

companies or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or controlling shareholder of the Company had a 

material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of 2024 or at any time during the Reporting Period.

As of December 31, 2024, none of the Directors or their respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) has any 

interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete with the Group’s business under Rules 8.10(2)(b) and 8.10(2)(c) 

of the Listing Rules.

Connected Transactions and Related Party Transactions

Connected Transactions

On November 13, 2023, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement with Lufax and Ping An OneConnect 

Bank (Hong Kong) Limited (now renamed as PAO Bank Limited, “PAOB”), pursuant to which the Company conditionally 

agreed to sell, and Lufax conditionally agreed to acquire, PAOB through transferring the entire issued share capital of Jin 

Yi Tong Limited at a consideration of HK$933.0 million in cash, subject to the terms and conditions of the share purchase 

agreement. Lufax is an associate of Ping An, a controlling shareholder of the Company, and thus a connected person of 

the Company. Taking into account the business strategy of the Group, the Directors believed that the disposal represented 

a good opportunity for the Group to focus more on technology-driven products and services that require less capital, and 

allow the Group to deploy appropriate resources towards such technology-driven products and services. On April 2, 2024, 

the Company completed the aforementioned disposal at a consideration of HK$933.0 million in cash, and upon completion 

the Company ceased to hold any interest in Jin Yi Tong Limited. Accordingly, Jin Yi Tong Limited and its subsidiaries, 

including PAOB, have ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company and their financial results have ceased to be consolidated 

into the financial statements of the Group. The Company has reassessed the estimated amount of gain on disposal as of the 

closing date. Subject to final audit to be performed by the Company’s auditors and taking into account currency translation 

differences, the estimated gain on the disposal will be RMB309 million with reference to information available as of April 

17, 2024. For further details, please refer to the announcement published by the Company on November 14, 2023, the 

circular published by the Company on December 5, 2023, and the announcements published by the Company on January 

16, April 2 and April 17, 2024.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

Connected Persons

The table below sets forth the connected persons of the Company involved in the continuing connected transactions during 

the Reporting Period and the nature of their connected relationship with the Company.

Connected Relationship Name

Controlling shareholder and

 its subsidiaries and/or associates

Ping An, a controlling shareholder of the Company, and its subsidiaries and/or 

associates, including but not limited to Shenzhen Ping An Financial Technology 

Consulting Co., Ltd. (深圳平安金融科技諮詢有限公司 ) (“Ping An Financial 

Technology”)

Directors and their associate Mr. Wenwei Dou and Ms. Wenjun Wang, two of the non-executive Directors, and 

their controlled entity, Urumqi Guang Feng Qi Investments Limited Partnership (烏

魯木齊廣豐旗股權投資有限合夥企業) (“Guang Feng Qi”)

Non-exempt and Partially-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

As disclosed in (i) the section headed “Connected Transactions” of the listing document published by the Company on June 

28, 2022 (the “Listing Document”), (ii) the announcement published by the Company on April 23, 2024 relating to the 

2024 services purchasing agreement entered into with Ping An; and (iii) the announcements published by the Company on 

September 26, 2023 and October 9, 2023 relating to the insurance services purchasing agreement entered into with certain 

branches of Ping An Property & Casualty Insurance Company of China, Ltd. (中國平安財產保險股份有限公司) (“Ping An 

Property & Casualty Branches”), a subsidiary of Ping An, the following transactions of the Group with Ping An and its 

subsidiaries and/or associates constituted continuing connected transactions of the Company for the Reporting Period and 

were entered into in accordance with the relevant pricing policies.
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Continuing connected transactions

Proposed annual cap

for the year ended

December 31, 2024

(RMB in millions)

Actual transaction

amount

for the year ended

December 31, 2024

(RMB in millions) 

Property Leasing Agreement

Total value of right-of-use asset relating to leases with subsidiaries of

 Ping An 28.58 15.24

Provision of Services and Products Agreement

Transaction amount to be paid by subsidiaries and associates

 of Ping An 3,850.00 1,343.52

Services and Products Purchasing Agreement

Transaction amount to be paid by the Group to subsidiaries and

 associates of Ping An 2,380.33 794.99

Financial Services Agreement

Deposit Services

Maximum daily balance of deposits placed by the Group with the

 subsidiaries of Ping An 1,140.64 901.39

Interest income received by the Group from the subsidiaries

 of Ping An for the deposits* 17.65 15.05

Loan Financing Service

Maximum daily balance of loans by the Group with the

 subsidiaries of Ping An 500.00 nil

Loan interest payable by the Group on the loans to the

 subsidiaries of Ping An 17.50 nil

Wealth Management Service

Maximum daily balance of wealth management products purchased by

 us from the subsidiaries of Ping An 1,140.64 425.13

Investment income received by the Group from the

 subsidiaries of Ping An 19.26 8.84

* net of withholding tax



ONECONNECT FINANCIAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.48

Directors’ Report

Continuing connected transactions

Proposed annual cap

for the year ended

December 31, 2024

(RMB in millions)

Actual transaction

amount

for the year ended

December 31, 2024

(RMB in millions) 

Interbank Services

Maximum daily balance of interbank deposits to be placed by the

 Group with the subsidiaries of Ping An 120.00 nil

Interest income received by the Group from the subsidiaries

 of Ping An for the interbank deposits 1.80 nil

Maximum daily balance of interbank loans by the Group with the

 subsidiaries of Ping An 600.00 nil

Loan interest payable by the Group on the interbank loans to the

 subsidiaries of Ping An 9.00 nil

Derivative Products Services

Maximum outstanding notional amount in respect of foreign exchange

 and interest rate derivative products to be purchased by the Group

 with the subsidiaries of Ping An 4,000.00 725.05

2024 Services Purchasing Agreement

Transaction amount to be paid by the Group to Ping An 3.08 2.91

Insurance Services Purchasing Agreement

Transaction amount to be paid by the Group to branches of

 a subsidiary of Ping An 20.00 2.92
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1. Property Leasing Agreement

The Group entered into a property leasing agreement with certain subsidiaries of Ping An on May 18, 2022 (the 

“Property Leasing Agreement”), pursuant to which the Group shall lease properties (including premises sharing) 

from such subsidiaries of Ping An for office use. Separate agreements shall be entered into between the relevant 

parties setting out the specific terms and conditions (including property rents, payment methods and other usage 

fees) in respect of the relevant leased property based on the principles, and within the parameters provided, under 

the Property Leasing Agreement. The initial term of the Property Leasing Agreement commenced on the date of the 

Company’s listing on the Stock Exchange, being July 4, 2022 (the “Listing Date”) and had ended on December 31, 

2024, subject to renewal upon mutual consent by the parties.

The rents payable by the Group during the lease term shall be determined on normal commercial terms after 

arm’s length negotiations between the relevant parties, and the rents shall be in line with or no higher than the 

prevailing market rates of properties of comparable location, floor area and quality made available by independent 

third parties. The Group shall make inquiries on and survey the rental prices offered by independent third parties 

for office leasing spaces of comparable location and quality, in order to determine the prevailing market rates for 

comparison to ensure that the rental fees payable by the Group are on normal commercial terms and are fair and 

reasonable and in the interest of the Shareholders. The aggregate amount of the rents to be paid to the subsidiaries 

of Ping An under the Property Leasing Agreement for the year ending December 31, 2024 was not expected to 

exceed RMB31.33 million, while the actual transaction amount was approximately RMB18.97 million. Pursuant to 

IFRS16, the lease of properties by the Group as lessee under the Property Leasing Agreement will be recognized as 

both right-of-use assets and an ongoing lease liability payable over the term of the lease.

Further details of the Property Leasing Agreement are set out in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in 

the Listing Document.

Renewal of the transaction

As the 2022 Property Leasing Agreement had expired on December 31, 2024, the Company renewed the 2022 

Property Leasing Agreement and entered into the 2024 Property Leasing Agreement with the parties to the 2024 

Property Leasing Agreement (as defined in the announcement of the Company dated November 4, 2024 (the 

“CCT Announcement”)) on November 4, 2024, pursuant to which subsidiaries of Ping An intend to lease out a 

portion of the properties owned by them to the Group for office use and provide property management services 

to the Group. The parties thereto will enter into separate agreements setting out the specific terms and conditions 

(including property rents, property fees, payment methods and other usage fees) in respect of the relevant leased 

property based on the principles, and within the parameters provided, under the 2024 Property Leasing Agreement. 

The terms of the 2024 Property Leasing Agreement were entered into on normal commercial terms after arm’s 

length negotiations and shall be valid from January 1, 2025 to December 31, 2027, both dates inclusive. Relevant 

details are set out in the CCT Announcement and the circular of the Company dated November 6, 2024 (the “CCT 

Circular”).
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2. Provision of Services and Products Agreement

The Group entered into a provision of services and products agreement with certain subsidiaries and associates 

of Ping An on May 18, 2022 (the “Provision of Services and Products Agreement”), pursuant to which the 

Group shall provide the following services and products to subsidiaries and associates of Ping An: (1) in terms of 

banking related financial technology solutions, the products and services include product design, risk management, 

operation-related technical services and marketing services; and (2) in terms of non-banking related financial 

technology solutions, the products and services include (a) insurance related technical services, which covers loss 

assessments, operation management and anti-fraud solutions, and (b) non-insurance related technical services, 

which covers product design, marketing management, risk control and operation management. Fees shall be paid 

to the Group by subsidiaries and associates of Ping An in respect of the provision of such services and products. The 

initial term of the Provision of Services and Products Agreement commenced on the Listing Date and had ended on 

December 31, 2024, subject to renewal upon the mutual consent by the parties.

For each type of services and products, the services and products fees to be paid to the Group shall be determined 

on the basis of arm’s length negotiations between the relevant parties. In particular, for standardized products 

and services, the service fees charged by the Group shall be based on the transaction volume generated using the 

Group’s solutions or other criteria linked to the usage of its solutions by the subsidiaries and associates of Ping An, 

and with reference to market rates applicable to such services and products. As for custom software development or 

implementation services, the service fees will be determined mainly by taking into account labor costs of technical 

staff associated with the project, which shall be in line with market practice. Further, when determining the price for 

a service or product, to ensure that the terms of supplying services and products to such subsidiaries and associates 

of Ping An are fair and reasonable, the Group will consider a set of factors, including the comparable historical 

prices of the relevant services and products offered by it, transaction volumes, transaction amounts and scale of 

services, and purchase volumes. The Group shall also ensure the prices of its services and products offered to such 

subsidiaries and associates of Ping An shall not be lower than those offered by the Group to independent third 

parties for similar services and products.

Further details of the Provision of Services and Products Agreement are set out in the section headed “Connected 

Transactions” in the Listing Document.

Renewal of the transaction

As the 2022 Provision of Services and Products Agreement has expired on December 31, 2024, the Company 

renewed the 2022 Provision of Services and Products Agreement and entered into the 2024 Provision of Products 

and Services Agreement with the parties to the 2024 Provision of Products and Services Agreement (as defined in 

the CCT Announcement) on November 4, 2024, pursuant to which the Group will provide the following products 

and services to subsidiaries and associates of Ping An: (1) in terms of banking solutions, including but not limited to 

the provision of product design, risk control, operation-related technical services and marketing services; and/or (2) 

in terms of non-banking solutions, including but not limited to the provision of insurance related technical services 

such as loss assessments, operation management, anti-fraud solutions, data reporting and governance, and the 

provision of non-insurance related technical services such as product design, marketing management, risk control 

and operation management. The terms of the 2024 Provision of Services and Products Agreement were entered into 

on normal commercial terms after arm’s length negotiations and shall be valid from January 1, 2025 to December 

31, 2027, both dates inclusive. Relevant details are set out in the CCT Announcement and CCT Circular.
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3. Services and Products Purchasing Agreement

The Group entered into a services and products purchasing agreement with certain subsidiaries and associates 

of Ping An on May 18, 2022 (the “Services and Products Purchasing Agreement”), pursuant to which such 

subsidiaries and associates of Ping An shall provide certain services to the Group, including (1) technology services 

and products such as technology development system, information technology, core modules, information security 

processing services and related software and hardware facilities; (2) service solution module outsourcing services; 

(3) operation management services and products; (4) healthcare-related products and services; (5) rewards program 

products; and/or (6) other services and products. The Group shall, in return, pay service fees to the subsidiaries and 

associates of Ping An. The precise scope of services and products, service fee calculation, method of payment and 

other details of the service arrangement shall be agreed between the relevant parties separately. The initial term of 

the Services and Products Purchasing Agreement commenced on the Listing Date and had ended on December 31, 

2024, subject to renewal upon the mutual consent by the parties.

Further details of the Services and Products Purchasing Agreement are set out in the section headed “Connected 

Transactions” in the Listing Document.

Renewal of the transaction

As the 2022 Services and Products Purchasing Agreement has expired on December 31, 2024, the Company 

renewed the 2022 Provision of Services and Products Purchasing Agreement and entered into the 2024 Services 

and Products Purchasing Agreement with the parties to the 2024 Services and Products Purchasing Agreement (as 

defined in the CCT Announcement) on November 4, 2024, pursuant to which such subsidiaries and associates of 

Ping An will provide the following services and products to the Group: (1) technology-based products and services, 

including but not limited to technology development system, information technology, core modules, information 

security processing services and related software and hardware facilities; (2) service solution module outsourcing 

services; (3) operation management products and services; (4) healthcare-related products and services; (5) insurance 

products and services; (6) rewards program products; and/or (7) other services and products. The terms of the 2024 

Services and Products Purchasing Agreement were entered into on normal commercial terms after arm’s length 

negotiations and shall be valid from January 1, 2025 to December 31, 2027, both dates inclusive.

The services and products fees to be paid by the Group to the subsidiaries and associates of Ping An under the 2024 

Services and Products Purchasing Agreement will be determined either 1) through internal tendering and bidding 

procedures according to the internal rules and procedures of the Company, whereby the Company will compare 

the service price charged by at least two independent third parties for the provision of similar services or products, 

and taking into account its own business needs and qualifications of the bidder; or 2) if no internal tendering and 

bidding process is required, through negotiations taking into account various commercial factors such as nature, 

usage and transaction term of the services or products, transaction amount and scale of funds associated with the 

procurement of such services or products, as well as the comparable market rates, if any, and shall be substantially 

in line with prices offered by the subsidiaries and associates of Ping An to their respective independent third parties 

for similar services or products, which are provided by such subsidiaries and associates of Ping An to the Group or 

obtained and compared by the Group from public market. Relevant details are set out in the CCT Announcement 

and the CCT Circular.
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4. Financial Services Purchasing Agreement

The Group entered into a financial services purchase agreement with certain subsidiaries of Ping An on May 18, 

2022 (the “Financial Services Agreement”), pursuant to which such subsidiaries of Ping An shall provide financial 

services to the Group including deposit services, wealth management services, loan services, interbank services, and/

or derivatives products services. The initial term of the Financial Services Agreement commenced on the Listing Date 

and had ended on December 31, 2024. Further details of the Financial Services Agreement are set out in the section 

headed “Connected Transactions” in the Listing Document.

Renewal of the transaction

As the 2022 Financial Services Agreement has expired on December 31, 2024, the Company renewed the 2022 

Financial Services Agreement and entered into the 2024 Financial Services Purchasing Agreement with the parties 

to the 2024 Financial Services Purchasing Agreement (as defined in the CCT Announcement) on November 4, 

2024, pursuant to which such subsidiaries of Ping An will provide the Group with financial services, including 

deposit services, wealth management services and/or derivatives services. In respect of the deposit services, the 

Group considers placing cash deposits (including cash generated from ordinary business operations and proceeds 

from financing activities) into the Group’s bank accounts maintained with subsidiaries of Ping An, in which 

case subsidiaries of Ping An by then intend to pay interest on the deposits to the Group. In respect of wealth 

management services, the Group will consider purchasing wealth management products and services from 

subsidiaries of Ping An in exchange for investment returns. In respect of derivative services, the Group will consider 

the purchase of foreign exchange and interest rate derivative products from subsidiaries of Ping An. The terms of 

the 2024 Financial Services Purchasing Agreement were entered into on normal commercial terms after arm’s length 

negotiations and shall be valid from January 1, 2025 to December 31, 2027, both dates inclusive.

Deposit services

Interest rates for the deposits placed by the Group with the subsidiaries of Ping An (i) shall not be lower than: (a) the 

benchmark interest rate for deposits of a similar type for the same period published by the People’s Bank of China 

(“PBOC”); (b) the interest rates obtained by the Group from at least two independent third parties for deposits of a 

similar type for the same period, or (c) the interest rates to be obtained by the Group from independent commercial 

banks for deposits of a similar type for the same period, and (ii) will be consistent with those offered to other 

depositors of subsidiaries of Ping An, including independent third parties of subsidiaries of Ping An.

Wealth management services

The method for obtaining and calculating the investment returns on wealth management products and services to be 

sold by subsidiaries of Ping An to the Group will: (a) not be less favorable than the benchmark rates for comparable 

wealth management products and services published from time to time by PBOC or the National Financial Regulatory 

Administration (wherever applicable); or (b) not be less favorable than the average investment return rates offered 

by at least two independent commercial banks or financial institutions for comparable wealth management products 

and services obtained by the Group (wherever applicable); or (c) be consistent with those offered to other purchasers 

of subsidiaries of Ping An, including independent third parties of subsidiaries of Ping An.
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Derivative products services

The terms of derivative products to be sold by subsidiaries of Ping An to the Group are unified contract template, 

which will be substantially consistent with those offered to other purchasers, including independent third parties of 

subsidiaries of Ping An. The Group will also compare these terms with the market prices as quoted by independent 

external financial information service provider such as Bloomberg, to ensure the terms provided by subsidiaries of 

Ping An are fair and reasonable.

Relevant details are set out in the CCT Announcement and the CCT Circular.

5. 2024 Services Purchasing Agreement

The Group renewed the 2023 Services Purchasing Agreement as disclosed in the announcement published by the 

Company on April 23, 2024 by entering into the 2024 Services Purchasing Agreement with Ping An on April 23, 

2024 (the “2024 Services Purchasing Agreement”), pursuant to which Ping An shall provide certain services 

to the Group, including financial service solution services, administrative services, risk control services and human 

resources services. The term of the 2024 Services Purchasing Agreement were entered into on normal commercial 

terms after arm’s length negotiations and shall be valid from April 23, 2024 to December 31, 2024, both dates 

inclusive. Relevant details are set out in the announcement of the Company dated April 23, 2024.

6. Insurance Services Purchasing Agreement

The Group has previously entered into the Insurance Services Purchasing Agreement with Ping An Property & 

Casualty Branches (the “Insurance Services Purchasing Agreement”), pursuant to which Ping An Property & 

Casualty Branches provided property liability insurance services to the Group. The Insurance Services Purchasing 

Agreement was for a term commencing from January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023. On September 26, 2023, 

the Group entered into a supplemental agreement to the Insurance Services Purchasing Agreement with Ping An 

Property & Casualty Branches, pursuant to which the term was extended to December 31, 2024 and the existing 

annual cap was revised.

The services and products fees to be paid by the Group to Ping An Property & Casualty Branches under the Insurance 

Services Purchasing Agreement will be determined either 1) through bidding procedures according to the internal 

rules and procedures of the Group, whereby the Group will compare the fees rates offered by independent third 

parties as well as assessing its business needs and the relevant qualifications/experience of the bidders in providing 

such services before determining the service fee rate for the transactions under the Insurance Services Purchasing 

Agreement; or 2) if no tendering and bidding process is required under the Group’s internal rules, through arm’s 

length negotiations between the relevant parties taking into account factors such as nature, transaction amount and 

term of the services and products, and shall be in line with fees offered by Ping An Property & Casualty Branches 

to their independent third parties for similar services and products. The services and products fees to be paid by 

the Group will be determined on the basis of arm’s length negotiations between the relevant parties, which shall 

be in line with prevailing market rates and with reference to the applicable prices of the services and products to 

ensure that the terms of purchasing services and products from Ping An Property & Casualty Branches are fair and 

reasonable.

Further details of the Insurance Services Purchasing Agreement are set out in the announcements published by the 

Company on September 26, 2023 and October 9, 2023.
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Confirmation from Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, all independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing 

connected transactions disclosed above and have confirmed that such continuing connected transactions were entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the relevant agreement governing each of the continuing connected transactions on terms that are fair 

and reasonable and in the interests of Shareholders and the Company as a whole.

Confirmation from the Company’s Independent Auditor

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, was engaged to 

report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions. Below was set out in the letter from the auditor containing their 

findings and conclusions of the review in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above:

(1) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing 

connected transactions have not been approved by the Board;

(2) for transactions that involve the provision of goods or services by the Group, nothing has come to the auditor’s 

attention that causes the auditor to believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance 

with the pricing policies of the Group;

(3) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that the transactions were not 

entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

(4) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing connected transactions, nothing has come to the 

auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have 

exceeded the annual caps as set by the Company.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions – Contractual Arrangements

Please refer to the sub-section headed “Contractual Arrangements” for details on contractual arrangements entered into 

by the Group, including a series of contractual arrangements during the Reporting Period entered into among a wholly-

owned subsidiary of the Company, Shenzhen OneConnect Technology Services Co., Ltd. (深圳壹賬通科技服務有限公

司) (“Shenzhen OneConnect Technology”), Shenzhen OneConnect Smart Technology Co., Ltd. (深圳壹賬通智能科

技有限公司) (“Shenzhen OneConnect”) and its equity holders as authorized by the Group. Certain equity holders of 

Shenzhen OneConnect, namely Ping An Financial Technology, Guang Feng Qi, Mr. Wenwei Dou and Ms. Wenjun Wang, 

are connected persons of the Company. Ping An Financial Technology is a subsidiary of Ping An, one of the controlling 

shareholders of the Company, and is therefore an associate of Ping An. Guang Feng Qi is held as to 50% by two of the 

non-executive Directors, Mr. Wenwei Dou and Ms. Wenjun Wang, and is therefore an associate of Mr. Wenwei Dou and 

Ms. Wenjun Wang respectively.

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, during the Reporting Period, the Company had no other connected transactions 

or continuing connected transactions which are required to be disclosed in accordance with the provisions under Chapter 

14A of the Listing Rules, and none of the related party transactions as disclosed in Note 37 to the consolidated financial 

statements constituted connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the 

Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing 

Rules during the Reporting Period.

Details of related party transactions are set out in Note 37 the consolidated financial statements.

Contractual Arrangements

Background to the Contractual Arrangements

In order to comply with the relevant PRC laws, regulations and regulatory requirements, while availing itself of international 

capital markets and maintaining effective control over all of its operations, the Company gained control over (i) Shenzhen 

OneConnect and its subsidiaries (the “Shenzhen OneConnect Consolidated Affiliated Entities”) through a series 

of contractual arrangements entered into among a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Shenzhen OneConnect 

Technology, Shenzhen OneConnect and the equity holders of Shenzhen OneConnect; and (ii) Shenzhen E-commerce Safety 

Certificates Administration Co., Ltd. (深圳市電子商務安全證書管理有限公司) (“Shenzhen CA”, together with Shenzhen 

OneConnect, the “VIEs”) and its subsidiary through a series of contractual arrangements entered into among a wholly-

owned subsidiary of the Company, Zhang Tong Shun (Guangzhou) Technology Co., Ltd. (帳通順(廣州)科技有限責任公司) 

(“Zhang Tong Shun”, together with Shenzhen OneConnect Technology, the “WFOEs”), Shenzhen CA and certain equity 

holders of Shenzhen CA (collectively, the “Contractual Arrangements”). The Contractual Arrangements relating to the 

Shenzhen OneConnect Consolidated Affiliated Entities currently in effect are a series of contracts entered into in September 

2019. As a result, during the Reporting Period, the Company did not directly own any controlling stake in the consolidated 

affiliated entities.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group operated its value-added telecommunication services, cloud services, electronic 

certification and related services and solutions and private investment fund business through the Contractual Arrangements, 

as such business operations are subject to foreign investment restriction under the applicable PRC laws, regulations and 

regulatory requirements as set out in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements – PRC Regulatory Background” in 

the Listing Document. In addition, the Company operated certain insurance intermediary services which are not subject to 

foreign investment restriction under the applicable PRC laws, regulations and regulatory requirements (the “Non-restricted 

Businesses”), and made certain non-controlling investments in its ordinary course of business through the Contractual 

Arrangements, as described in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements – PRC Regulatory Background” in the Listing 

Document. During the Reporting Period, the revenue generated from the Non-restricted Businesses accounted for 0.2% of 

the Group’s total revenue from continuing operations.

As a result of these Contractual Arrangements, the Company exercises control over the operations of its consolidated 

affiliated entities and receives substantially all of their economic benefits and residual returns. Accordingly, the results of 

operations, assets and liabilities, and cash flows of the consolidated affiliated entities are consolidated into the Company’s 

financial statements. During the Reporting Period, the revenue contribution of the consolidated affiliated entities accounted 

for 91.6% of the Group’s total revenue from continuing operations. For details of the Contractual Arrangements, see Note 

1 of the consolidated financial statements and the section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Listing Document.



ANNUAL REPORT 2024 57

Directors’ Report

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits from the consolidated affiliated entities to the 

Group under the Contractual Arrangements as at the latest practicable date for ascertaining certain information in this 

Annual Report before its publication:

 

   

 
  The Company

Shenzhen
OneConnect
Technology

(WFOE)

Zhang Tong Shun
(WFOE)

Shenzhen OneConnect
and its subsidiaries

Shenzhen CA and its
subsidiary

Shareholders of
Shenzhen OneConnect(1) Shareholders of

Shenzhen CA(2)

Support, technology
and consulting

services

Support, technology
and consulting

services

Service
fees

Service
fees

100% 100%

Notes:

(1) Shenzhen OneConnect is held by Ping An Financial Technology as to 44.3%, Shanghai Jin Ning Sheng Enterprise Management Limited 
Partnership (上海金寧晟企業管理合夥企業(有限合夥)) (“Shanghai Jin Ning Sheng”) as to 7.4%, Shenzhen Lanxin Enterprise Management 
Co., Ltd. (深圳蘭炘企業管理有限公司) (“Shenzhen Lanxin”) as to 22.2% and Guang Feng Qi as to 26.2%. Ping An Financial Technology 
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ping An. Shanghai Jin Ning Sheng is held by Mr. Jie Li (李捷) and Mr. Jie Yu (喻傑) as to 70% and 30%, 
respectively. Shenzhen Lanxin is held by Mr. Jie Li and Ms. Liang Xu (許良) as to 50% each. Mr. Jie Li is the chief technology officer of 
the Company, Mr. Jie Yu is the head of the human resources department of the Company, and Ms. Liang Xu was previously the head of 
human resources department of the Company and is currently the general manager of the operation management department of Ping An 
Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (平安科技(深圳)有限公司) (“Ping An Technology”), a subsidiary of Ping An Group. Guang Feng Qi is held 
by Mr. Wenwei Dou and Ms. Wenjun Wang, two of the non-executive Directors, as to 50% each.

(2) Shenzhen CA is held by Shanghai Jinlinlin Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (上海錦琳麟企業管理合夥企業(有限合夥)) 
(“Shanghai Jinlinlin”) as to 99.91%, and the remaining equity interest is owned by Shenzhen E-Commerce Certification Co., Ltd. (深圳市
政信電子商務有限公司) as to 0.05% and Shenzhen Electronic Certification Center Co., Ltd. (深圳市電子證書認證中心有限公司) as to 0.04%. 
Shanghai Jinlinlin is held by Mr. Jie Li and Ms. Liang Xu as to 50% each.

(3) “–>” denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest.

(4) “－>” denotes contractual relationship.
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Summary of Material Terms of the Contractual Arrangements

1. Shenzhen OneConnect Consolidated Affiliated Entities

(a) Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Pursuant to the exclusive business cooperation agreement entered into between Shenzhen OneConnect 

Technology and Shenzhen OneConnect, Shenzhen OneConnect Technology or its designated party has 

the exclusive right to provide Shenzhen OneConnect with business support, technology and consulting 

services. In exchange for these services, Shenzhen OneConnect will pay Shenzhen OneConnect Technology 

an annual service fee, equal to Shenzhen OneConnect’s profit before tax, after recovering any accumulated 

losses of Shenzhen OneConnect and its subsidiaries from the preceding fiscal year, and deducting working 

capital, costs, expenses, tax and other statutory contributions required for that fiscal year. Upon receiving 

the management accounts and operating data, Shenzhen OneConnect Technology may issue to Shenzhen 

OneConnect an invoice for the service fees. The parties agreed that Shenzhen OneConnect Technology may, 

without consent of Shenzhen OneConnect, adjust the amount and payment time of the service fees at its 

sole discretion, by giving Shenzhen OneConnect at least ten days prior written notice.

Without the prior written consent of Shenzhen OneConnect Technology, Shenzhen OneConnect may not 

accept any services covered by this agreement from any third party, and may not cooperate with any third 

party in respect of the subject matter of this agreement.

Shenzhen OneConnect and Shenzhen OneConnect Technology have agreed that Shenzhen OneConnect 

Technology will exclusively own the proprietary rights, ownership, interests and intellectual property rights 

produced or created in connection with the performance of this agreement.

Unless mutually terminated, this agreement will remain effective for ten years, and it will be automatically 

renewed for another five years, unless Shenzhen OneConnect Technology objects in writing thirty days prior 

to this agreement’s expiry.

(b) Exclusive Equity Purchase Option Agreement

Pursuant to the exclusive equity purchase option agreement entered into between Shenzhen OneConnect 

Technology, Shenzhen OneConnect and the direct and indirect equity holders of Shenzhen OneConnect 

(the “Shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect”), the direct equity holders of Shenzhen OneConnect have 

irrevocably and unconditionally granted Shenzhen OneConnect Technology or any third party designated by 

Shenzhen OneConnect Technology an exclusive option to purchase, from time to time, all or a portion of 

their respective equity interest in Shenzhen OneConnect. The purchase price for these equity interests will be 

the higher of (i) the nominal price and (ii) the lowest price permitted by applicable PRC law. This agreement 

also provides that within a specified period following the date of receiving the purchase price for these equity 

interests, the relevant direct shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect must return all such purchase price to 

Shenzhen OneConnect Technology or its designee.

Shenzhen OneConnect and the Shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect have jointly and severally undertaken 

that it may not, or will not procure in his/her/its capacity as shareholder of Shenzhen OneConnect to, without 

the prior written consent of Shenzhen OneConnect Technology:
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(i) in any manner supplement, change or amend the articles of association and bylaws of Shenzhen 

OneConnect, increase or decrease its registered capital, or otherwise change its structure of registered 

capital;

(ii) permit the sale, transfer, mortgage or otherwise disposal of the legitimate or beneficial rights and 

interests in assets, businesses or incomes of Shenzhen OneConnect, or permit the creation of any 

encumbrance over the same, except for transactions conducted by Shenzhen OneConnect in its daily 

business activities;

(iii) cause or permit Shenzhen OneConnect to incur, succeed to, guarantee, or permit the existence of, 

any debts, except for debts (i) which are incurred in daily business activities other than through loans; 

and (ii) which have been disclosed to Shenzhen OneConnect Technology and have been approved by 

the same in writing;

(iv) cause Shenzhen OneConnect to sign any contract with value exceeding RMB1 million, except for 

contracts signed in daily business activities;

(v) cause Shenzhen OneConnect to provide loans, credits or any form of guarantee to any person, except 

for financial service transactions carried out by Shenzhen OneConnect in its daily business activities;

(vi) cause or permit Shenzhen OneConnect to merge or combine with, or acquire or invest in any third 

party, or cause or permit Shenzhen OneConnect to sell assets with a value of more than RMB1 

million; and

(vii) permit Shenzhen OneConnect to distribute dividends to its shareholders in any form, but at the 

written request of Shenzhen OneConnect Technology, Shenzhen OneConnect shall immediately 

distribute all distributable profits to its shareholders.

Each of the Shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect have also jointly and severally undertaken that, among 

other things:

(i) without the prior written consent of Shenzhen OneConnect Technology, the direct shareholders of 

Shenzhen OneConnect shall not require Shenzhen OneConnect to carry out dividend distribution 

or other forms of profit distribution with regard to the equity interest owned by them in Shenzhen 

OneConnect, or propose any resolution of the shareholders’ meeting in relation thereto, or vote for 

such resolution. In any case, unless otherwise determined by Shenzhen OneConnect Technology, if 

the direct shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect receives Shenzhen OneConnect’s income, profit 

distribution and dividend, the direct shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect shall, to the extent 

permitted under the PRC laws, immediately pay or transfer such profits, profit distribution and 

dividends to Shenzhen OneConnect Technology or its designee;

(ii) Shenzhen OneConnect shall immediately notify Shenzhen OneConnect Technology of any lawsuit, 

arbitration or administrative procedure that may occur or may occur in relation to the equity interest 

owned by the direct shareholders in Shenzhen OneConnect;
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(iii) the direct shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect shall procure that the shareholders’ meeting or 

the board of directors of Shenzhen OneConnect takes a vote to approve the transfer of the equity 

interests as specified in this agreement, and take any and all other actions that Shenzhen OneConnect 

Technology may require;

(iv) in order to maintain their ownership of their equity interest in Shenzhen OneConnect, the direct 

shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect shall sign such documents, take such actions, lodge such 

appeal, and make such defence against all claims as are necessary and appropriate;

(v) at the request of Shenzhen OneConnect Technology, the direct shareholders of Shenzhen 

OneConnect shall appoint as the director of Shenzhen OneConnect any person designated by 

Shenzhen OneConnect Technology;

(vi) at the request of Shenzhen OneConnect Technology at any time, the direct shareholders of 

Shenzhen OneConnect shall immediately and unconditionally transfer its equity interest in Shenzhen 

OneConnect to Shenzhen OneConnect Technology or its designee in accordance with the equity 

purchase option specified under this agreement, and the direct shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect 

hereby waived the right of first refusal (if any); and

(vii) if the direct shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect have any residual rights to the equity interest 

under this agreement, the equity pledge agreement or the equity proxy voting agreement signed 

by the parties to this agreement, they shall not exercise such rights unless instructed in writing by 

Shenzhen OneConnect Technology.

Unless terminated upon the parties’ agreement, this agreement will remain effective for ten years, and will 

be automatically renewed for another five years, unless Shenzhen OneConnect Technology objects to the 

renewal in writing thirty days prior this agreement’s expiry.

(c) Exclusive Asset Purchase Option Agreement

Pursuant to the exclusive asset purchase option agreement entered into between Shenzhen OneConnect 

Technology, Shenzhen OneConnect and the Shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect, Shenzhen OneConnect 

has irrevocably and unconditionally granted Shenzhen OneConnect Technology or any third party designated 

by Shenzhen OneConnect Technology an exclusive option to purchase, from time to time, all or a portion of 

its assets. Subject to any valuation required by applicable PRC law at the time of the exercise of this option, 

the purchase price will be the higher of (i) the nominal price and (ii) the lowest price permitted by applicable 

PRC law.

Shenzhen OneConnect and the Shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect have provided substantially similar 

undertakings in favour of Shenzhen OneConnect Technology as under the exclusive equity purchase option 

agreement.

Unless terminated upon the parties’ agreement, this agreement will remain effective for ten years, and will 

be automatically renewed for another five years, unless Shenzhen OneConnect Technology objects to the 

renewal in writing thirty days prior this agreements’ expiry.



ANNUAL REPORT 2024 61

Directors’ Report

(d) Equity Pledge Agreement

Pursuant to the equity pledge agreement entered into between Shenzhen OneConnect Technology, 

Shenzhen OneConnect and the Shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect, each direct shareholder of Shenzhen 

OneConnect has pledged all of its respective equity interest in Shenzhen OneConnect to Shenzhen 

OneConnect Technology, to guarantee the performance of Shenzhen OneConnect and the Shareholders of 

Shenzhen OneConnect of their respective obligations under the exclusive equity and asset purchase option 

agreements, the equity voting proxy agreement, the exclusive business cooperation agreement and the letters 

of undertakings of individual shareholders, as well as their respective liabilities arising from any breach. If 

Shenzhen OneConnect or any of the Shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect breaches any obligations under 

these agreements, Shenzhen OneConnect Technology, as pledgee, may dispose of the pledged equity and to 

be compensated by the proceeds from the disposal of such equity.

Each of the Shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect agreed that before the obligations under the contractual 

arrangements are discharged and the amounts payable prescribed under these agreements are fully paid 

(other than those for the purpose of performing its obligations under the contractual arrangements), the 

direct shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect will not dispose of the pledged equity interest, create or allow 

any encumbrance on the pledged equity interest that may have material adverse effects on the pledgee’s 

rights under this agreement without Shenzhen OneConnect Technology’s prior written consent. This 

agreement will remain effective until Shenzhen OneConnect and the Shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect 

have discharged all their obligations and fully paid all the amounts payable under the relevant contractual 

arrangements.

(e) Equity Voting Proxy Agreement

Pursuant to the equity voting proxy agreement entered into among Shenzhen OneConnect Technology, 

Shenzhen OneConnect and the Shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect, each shareholder of Shenzhen 

OneConnect and its subsidiaries irrevocably authorizes the persons designated by Shenzhen OneConnect 

Technology (including but not limited to the directors of Shenzhen OneConnect Technology, their successors 

and any liquidator in place of such directors) to act on its behalf to exercise all of such shareholder’s 

voting and other rights associated with the shareholder’s equity interest in Shenzhen OneConnect and the 

subsidiaries of Shenzhen OneConnect, including, among others:

(i) to convene and attend shareholders’ meetings of Shenzhen OneConnect;

(ii) to exercise the voting rights of shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect, including selling, transferring, 

pledging or disposing of all or part of the equity interest, and participating in profit sharing or any 

form of distribution of Shenzhen OneConnect;

(iii) designating and appointing the directors, supervisors and other senior management of Shenzhen 

OneConnect; and

(iv) signing meeting minutes and submitting documents to relevant company registration authorities.

The term of this agreement is the same as that of the exclusive business cooperation agreement described 

above.
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(f) Letters of Undertaking of Individual Shareholders

Under these letters of undertaking, the indirect individual shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect have 

separately irrevocably undertaken, in the event of his or her death or loss of capacity or any other events that 

could possibly affect his or her capacity to fulfil his or her obligations under the contractual arrangement 

of Shenzhen OneConnect, that he or she will unconditionally transfer his or her equity interest in Shenzhen 

OneConnect to any person designated by Shenzhen OneConnect Technology, and the transferee will be 

deemed to be a party to the contractual arrangements and will assume all of his or her rights and obligations 

as such under the contractual arrangements. Each signing indirect shareholder represented that his or her 

spouse has no ownership interest in his or her equity interest in Shenzhen OneConnect.

Each signing indirect shareholder further represented that in any circumstances, he or she will not, directly 

or indirectly, commit any conduct, measure, action or omission that is contrary to the purpose and intention 

of the contractual arrangements, that leads or may lead to any conflict of interest between Shenzhen 

OneConnect and the Group, and that if, during his or her performance of the contractual arrangements, 

there is a conflict of interest between the signing indirect shareholder and the Group, the signing indirect 

shareholder will protect the legal interests of Shenzhen OneConnect Technology under the contractual 

arrangements and follow the instructions of the Company.

(g) Spousal Consent Letters

Under the spousal consent letters, the spouse of each indirect individual shareholder of Shenzhen 

OneConnect agreed that he or she was aware of the equity interest beneficially owned by his or her 

spouse in Shenzhen OneConnect and the relevant contractual arrangements in connection with such equity 

interest. The signing spouse unconditionally and irrevocably confirmed that he or she does not have any 

equity interest in Shenzhen OneConnect and committed not to impose any adverse assertions upon his or 

her spouse’s respective equity interest. Each signing spouse further committed that he or she will take all 

necessary measures for the performance of the relevant contractual arrangements.
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2. Shenzhen CA Consolidated Affiliated Entities

Zhang Tong Shun, Shenzhen CA and the equity holders of Shenzhen CA entered into a series of contractual 

agreements containing terms substantially similar to the contractual arrangements among Shenzhen OneConnect 

Technology, Shenzhen OneConnect and the Shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect as described in the subsection 

above.

Progress of the Contractual Arrangements during the Reporting Period

There was no material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted 

during the Reporting Period. For the Reporting Period, save as disclosed above, none of the Contractual Arrangements had 

been unwound on the basis that none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of the Contractual Arrangements had 

been removed.

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had not encountered interference or encumbrance from any PRC governing bodies in 

operating the businesses through its consolidated affiliated entities under the Contractual Arrangements.

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual Arrangements, including:

• The Company is a Cayman Islands holding company with no equity ownership in the consolidated affiliated entities 

and conduct its operations in China through (i) its PRC subsidiaries and (ii) its VIEs with which it has maintained 

contractual arrangements.

• If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish the structure for operating the Group’s businesses in 

China do not comply with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws or regulations or their interpretations 

change, the Group could be subject to severe penalties or be forced to relinquish interests in those operations.

• The contractual arrangements with the VIEs and their respective shareholders may not be as effective in providing 

operational control or enabling the Group to derive economic benefits as a direct ownership of a controlling equity 

interest would be.
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• The Group may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by its VIEs that are critical to the operation of its 

business if the VIEs declare bankruptcy or become subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

• Any failure by the VIEs, their respective subsidiaries or shareholders to perform their obligations under the 

contractual arrangements with them would have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business.

• The ultimate beneficial shareholders of the VIEs may have conflicts of interest with the Group, which may materially 

and adversely affect the Group’s business.

• The Group conducts its business operations in the PRC through its VIEs and their subsidiaries by way of contractual 

arrangements, but certain of the terms of the contractual arrangements may not be enforceable under PRC laws.

• Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation and implementation of the Foreign Investment 

Law (《中華人民共和國外商投資法》) and how it may affect the viability of the Group’s current corporate structure, 

corporate governance and business operations.

• There may be a potential impact to the Company if the contractual arrangements with the VIEs, their respective 

subsidiaries and shareholders are not treated as domestic investment.

• The contractual arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities, and a finding that the Group 

owes additional taxes could substantially reduce its consolidated net income.

For details of the risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the section headed “Risk Factors – 

Risks Relating to our Corporate Structure” in the Listing Document.

Measures relating to the Contractual Arrangements

The Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective operation of the Group with the implementation of 

the Contractual Arrangements and its compliance with the Contractual Arrangements:

• Major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory 

enquiries from government authorities will be submitted to the Board, if necessary, for review and discussion on an 

occurrence basis;

• the Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least once a 

year;

• the Company will disclose the overall performance of and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in its 

annual reports; and
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• the Company will engage external legal advisors or other professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to 

review the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements, review the legal compliance of the WFOEs and its 

consolidated affiliated entities to deal with specific issues or matters arising from the Contractual Arrangements.

Listing Rules Implications and Waiver from the Stock Exchange

In respect of the Contractual Arrangements with regard to the Shenzhen OneConnect Consolidated Affiliated Entities, 

the highest applicable percentage ratio (other than the profits ratio) under the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions 

associated with the Contractual Arrangements is expected to be more than 5%. As such, the transactions will be subject to 

the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of 

the Listing Rules.

Accordingly, the Company has applied to the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict 

compliance with (i) the announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the 

Listing Rules in respect of the transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements pursuant to Rule 14A.105 

of the Listing Rules, (ii) the requirement of setting an annual cap for the transactions under the Contractual Arrangements 

under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the requirement of limiting the term of the Contractual Arrangements 

to three years or less under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules, in respect of the Contractual Arrangements involving the 

Shenzhen OneConnect Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The waiver applies for so long as the Shares are listed on the 

Stock Exchange, and subject however to various conditions set out in the section headed “Connected Transactions – The 

Contractual Arrangements” in the Listing Document.

Confirmation from Independent Non-executive Directors

All independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual Arrangements with regard to the Shenzhen 

OneConnect Consolidated Affiliated Entities and have confirmed that during the Reporting Period:

(1) those continuing connected transactions have been entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the 

Contractual Arrangements;

(2) no dividends or other distributions have been made by the Shenzhen OneConnect Consolidated Affiliated Entities to 

the holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group; and

(3) any new contracts entered into, renewed or reproduced between the Group and Shenzhen OneConnect 

Consolidated Affiliated Entities during the year ended December 31, 2024 are fair and reasonable, or advantageous 

to the Shareholders of the Company, so far as the Group is concerned and in the interests of the Company and the 

Shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Confirmation from the Company’s Independent Auditor

The Company’s external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, has carried out relevant procedures in accordance with Hong 

Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Review of 

Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing 

Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants on the transactions carried out pursuant to the aforementioned Contractual Arrangements and has provided 

a letter to the Board confirming that, with respect to the aforesaid continuing connected transactions entered into among 

Shenzhen OneConnect Technology, Shenzhen OneConnect and the Shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect under the 

Contractual Arrangements in the Reporting Period:

(1) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing 

connected transactions have not been approved by the Board;

(2) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that the transactions were not 

entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

(3) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that dividends or other distributions 

have been made by the Shenzhen OneConnect Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of the equity interests 

of the Shenzhen OneConnect Consolidated Affiliated Entities which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or 

transferred to the Group.
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Fundraising Activities

(i) Listing on the NYSE

In December 2019, the Company completed an initial public offering and was listed on the NYSE (the “Listing 
on the NYSE”). The Company issued and sold an aggregate of 31,200,000 ADSs (excluding ADSs offered in the 

exercise of the over-allotment option), representing 93,600,000 Shares at a public offering price of US$10.0 per 

ADS. In January 2020, the underwriters for the initial public offering partially exercised their over-allotment options 

to purchase an addition of 3,520,000 ADSs. The net proceeds received by the Company totaled approximately 

US$311.0 million. The intended purposes for such net proceeds was set out in the prospectus filed with the 

Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on December 13, 2019 as follows, assuming no exercise of any 

over-allotment option:

• approximately 33% for enhancement of platform and technology capabilities;

• approximately 12% for international expansion and strategic investments;

• approximately 8% for sales and marketing activities to enhance the Company’s brand and acquire customers; 

and

• approximately 47% for general corporate purposes.

(ii) Net Proceeds from the Follow-on Offering

In August 2020, the Company completed a follow-on public offering on the NYSE (the “Follow-on Offering”) of 

20,700,000 ADSs (included the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional ADSs), representing 

an aggregate of 62,100,000 Shares at a price of US$18.0 per ADS. The net proceeds raised was approximately 

US$372.6 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and before deducting the offering 

expenses payable by the Company. The intended purposes for such net proceeds was set out in the prospectus filed 

with the SEC on August 14, 2020 as follows, assuming no exercise of any over-allotment option:

• approximately 42% for enhancement of platform and technology capabilities;

• approximately 21% for international expansion and strategic investments; and

• approximately 36% for general corporate purposes.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has used approximately (i) RMB589.4 million (US$83.0 million) for 

enhancement of its platform and technology capabilities; (ii) RMB139.2 million (US$19.6 million) for international 

expansion and strategic investments; and (iii) RMB1,706.0 million (US$240.3 million) for general corporate purposes 

including sales and marketing activities to enhance the Company’s brand and acquire customers. No net proceeds 

were utilized during the year ended December 31, 2024. As of the date of this Annual Report, the Company plans 

to utilize the remaining net proceeds from the Listing on the NYSE and the Follow-on Offering in accordance with 

the intended purposes as disclosed in the prospectuses filed with the SEC within the next seven to eight years, 

depending on actual business needs and based on the information currently available to the Company.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and/or Short Positions in Shares, 
Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at December 31, 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, the interests and/or short positions of the Directors and chief 

executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations 

(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the 

“SFO”)) which were (i) required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of 

Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions 

of the SFO), or (ii) required to be entered into the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 

of the SFO, or (iii) otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code set out in 

Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Interest in shares or underlying shares of the Company

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest

Number of shares

or underlying

shares

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

interest(1)

Mr. Chongfeng Shen Beneficial interest(2) 2,908,851 0.25%

Mr. Wenwei Dou Interest in controlled corporation(3) 385,077,588 32.91%

Ms. Wenjun Wang Interest in controlled corporation(3) 385,077,588 32.91%

Notes:

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 1,169,980,653 Shares as at December 31, 2024.

(2) As at December 31, 2024, pursuant to the Stock Incentive Plan, Mr. Chongfeng Shen has been granted 2,540,001 performance unit shares, 
subject to the conditions (including vesting conditions) of such award. Mr. Chongfeng Shen also directly held 368,850 Shares pursuant to 
the vesting of performance unit shares granted under the Stock Incentive Plan. Mr. Chongfeng Shen has resigned as an executive Director on 
February 5, 2025.

(3) Rong Chang is held by Mr. Wenwei Dou and Ms. Wenjun Wang, two of the non-executive Directors, as to 50% each as nominee 
shareholders for the benefit of certain directors, supervisors and senior employees of Ping An and its subsidiaries or associates. Pursuant to 
an amended and restated concert party agreement entered into between Rong Chang and Sen Rong (each defined below) on May 12, 2021, 
the aforementioned parties agreed to collectively exercise their shareholder rights in the Company and act in concert in all matters involving 
the operation and management of the Company. Sen Rong further agreed to entrust Rong Chang to exercise its voting rights at general 
meetings of the Company on its behalf. As such, under the SFO, Mr. Wenwei Dou and Ms. Wenjun Wang are deemed to be interested in an 
aggregate of 385,077,588 Shares held or controlled by Rong Chang.
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors and the chief 

executive of the Company had or were deemed to have any interest and/or short position in the shares, underlying shares 

or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were 

required to be notified to the Company under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or recorded in the register required 

to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock 

Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and/or Short Positions in Shares and 
Underlying Shares

As at December 31, 2024, the interests and/or short positions of persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of 

the Company) in the shares or underlying shares of the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were 

required to be notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or recorded in the register required 

to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest

Number of shares

or underlying

shares

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

interest(1)

Rong Chang Limited (“Rong Chang”)(2) (3) Beneficial interest 385,077,588 32.91%

Sen Rong Limited (“Sen Rong”)(3) (4) (5) Beneficial interest 188,061,642 16.07%

Ping An(5) (6) Interest in controlled corporations 375,764,724 32.12%

Computershare Hong Kong

 Trustees Limited(7) Trustee 80,391,570 6.87%

Notes:

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 1,169,980,653 issued Shares as at December 31, 2024.

(2) As of December 31, 2024, Rong Chang was held by two of the non-executive Directors, Mr. Wenwei Dou and Ms. Wenjun Wang, as to 50% 
each as nominees on behalf of certain senior employees of Ping An and its subsidiaries and associates. Under the SFO, each of Mr. Wenwei 
Dou and Ms. Wenjun Wang are deemed to be interested in the Shares held or controlled by Rong Chang.

(3) Pursuant to an amended and restated concert party agreement entered into between Rong Chang and Sen Rong on May 12, 2021, the 
aforementioned parties agreed to collectively exercise their shareholder rights in the Company and act in concert in all matters involving the 
operation and management of the Company. Sen Rong further agreed to entrust Rong Chang to exercise its voting rights at general meetings 
of the Company on its behalf. As such, Rong Chang and Sen Rong as a concert group led by Rong Chang were collectively interested in 
approximately 32.91% of the total issued capital of the Company as at December 31, 2024. Rong Chang and Sen Rong have further agreed 
that in the event either party is unable to exercise its rights as a Shareholder due to applicable laws and regulations and the articles of 
association of the Company (including but not limited to the exercise of its voting rights on matters to be resolved by shareholders of the 
Company), such party shall notify the other party, and the other party shall not be required act in concert with such party on the relevant 
matter.
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(4) As of December 31, 2024, Sen Rong was wholly-owned by Yi Chuan Jin Limited (“Yi Chuan Jin”), which was in turn held by Mr. Jie Li (李捷) 
and Ms. Liang Xu (許良) as to 50% each. Mr. Jie Li is the chief technology officer of the Company, and Ms. Liang Xu was previously the head 
of human resources department of the Company and is currently the general manager of the operation management department of Ping An 
Technology, a subsidiary of Ping An Group. Under the SFO, each of Mr. Jie Li and Ms. Liang Xu are deemed to be interested in the Shares 
held by Sen Rong. In addition, pursuant to the Stock Incentive Plan and as of December 31, 2024, (a) Mr. Jie Li has been granted 1,058,003 
performance share units, and is entitled to receive up to 267,300 Shares pursuant to options granted, subject to the conditions (including 
vesting conditions) of such awards. Mr. Jie Li is also entitled to 191,040 Shares held by the Depositary, of which 35,850 Shares were pursuant 
to the exercise of options granted and 155,190 Shares were pursuant to the vesting of performance share units granted; and (b) Ms. Liang 
Xu is entitled to receive up to 39,270 Shares pursuant to options granted, subject to the conditions (including vesting conditions) of such 
award, and is also entitled to 51,450 Shares held by the Depositary pursuant to the exercise of options granted.

(5) Pursuant to the amended and restated option agreement dated May 12, 2021 (the “Amended and Restated Option Agreement”), each 
of Mr. Jie Li and Ms. Liang Xu has granted call options (the “Offshore Call Options”) to Bo Yu Limited (“Bo Yu”) over their respective 
5,000 ordinary shares in the issued share capital of Yi Chuan Jin (representing 100% of his/her shares in Yi Chuan Jin), and all securities in 
Yi Chuan Jin which are derived from such shares after the date of the Amended and Restated Option Agreement and of which he/she is the 
beneficial owner or to which he/she is entitled from time to time (the “Option Shares”). Bo Yu may exercise the Offshore Call Options, in 
whole or in part, according to the following schedule: (a) up to 50% of the Offshore Call Options may be exercised from the date of the 
Amended and Restated Option Agreement until the third anniversary thereof; and (b) 100% of the Offshore Call Options may be exercised, 
during the period commencing immediately after the third anniversary of the date of the Amended and Restated Option Agreement and 
ending on the tenth anniversary of the first day of such period, or such other period as extended by Bo Yu. In exercising the Offshore Call 
Options, in lieu of receiving the Option Shares, Bo Yu may elect to receive all or part of the Shares held by Sen Rong and therefore indirectly 
owned by Mr. Jie Li and Ms. Liang Xu through their holding of the Option Shares, and all securities in the Company which are derived from 
such Shares after the date of the Amended and Restated Option Agreement and of which he/she is the beneficial owner or to which he/she 
is entitled from time to time, in lieu of the Option Shares. Mr. Jie Li and Ms. Liang Xu are each entitled to his/her voting rights in Yi Chuan 
Jin prior to Bo Yu’s exercise of the Offshore Call Options. The exercise price per Option Share is calculated pursuant to a formula, which is 
based upon a predetermined value, as adjusted by, among other things, (a) the volume weighted average price of the Shares of the Company 
during a defined period and (b) dividends, distributions and certain dilutive events.

(6) (i) Bo Yu, a wholly-owned subsidiary of An Ke Technology Company Limited, which was in turn wholly-owned by Ping An Financial 
Technology, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ping An, directly held 353,077,356 Shares as of December 31, 2024; and (ii) China Ping An 
Insurance Overseas (Holdings) Limited (“Ping An Overseas”), a subsidiary of Ping An, directly held 22,687,368 Shares represented by 
756,245.60 ADSs based on public filings and to the knowledge of the Company. Ping An is a company listed on the Stock Exchange 
(stock code: 2318) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601318). Ping An may further, through Bo Yu, indirectly receive up to 
188,061,642 ordinary shares upon Bo Yu’s exercise of options under the Amended and Restated Option Agreement. Under the SFO, each of 
An Ke Technology Company Limited and Ping An Financial Technology are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Bo Yu, and Ping An 
is deemed to be interested in the aggregate of Shares held by Bo Yu and Ping An Overseas.

(7) The Shares are held on trust for grantees under the Stock Incentive Plan of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, no person (not being a Director or 

chief executive of the Company) had or was deemed to have any interest and/or short position in the shares or underlying 

shares of the Company which was required to be notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or 

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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Directors’ Right to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during the Reporting Period were rights to acquire benefits 

by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Directors or their respective spouses 

or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; nor was the Company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow 

subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other corporations.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified 

and secured harmless against all actions, proceedings, costs, charges, expenses, losses, damages or liabilities incurred 

or sustained, other than by reason of such Director own dishonesty, willful default or fraud, in or about the conduct of 

the Company’s business or affairs (including as a result of any mistake of judgment) or in the execution or discharge of 

his duties, powers, authorities or discretions, including without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, any costs, 

expenses, losses or liabilities incurred by such Director in defending (whether successfully or otherwise) any civil proceedings 

concerning the Company or its affairs in any court whether in the Cayman Islands or elsewhere. Such permitted indemnity 

provision has been in force during the Reporting Period.

In addition to the indemnities provision as set out in the Articles of Association, Directors’ liability insurance is currently in 

place, and was in place during the Reporting Period, to protect the Directors of the Company against potential costs and 

liabilities arising from claims against them.

Sufficient Public Float

During the Reporting Period and up to the latest practicable date for ascertaining certain information in this Annual Report 

before its publication, according to the public information obtainable by the Company and to the knowledge of the 

Directors, the Company has maintained the minimum public float to the extent permitted by the Stock Exchange.

Stock Incentive Plan

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the stock incentive plan adopted in November 2017 (which was 

amended from time to time) (the “Stock Incentive Plan”). The Stock Incentive Plan permits the award of options, 

performance share units (“PSUs”) or other share-based awards to eligible participants. The Stock Incentive Plan will not be 

funded by any allotment of new shares under any general mandates or specific mandates. For further details of the Stock 

Incentive Plan, please refer to “Statutory and General information – D. Stock Incentive Plan” in Appendix III of the Listing 

Document.

1. Purpose

The purpose of the Stock Incentive Plan is to attract and retain the best available personnel to promote long-term 

sustainable development of the Group, maximize Shareholder value, and to achieve to a win-win outcome for the 

Company, the Shareholders and the employees.
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2. Participants

The Group’s employees or any other individual as determined by the plan administrator, in its sole discretion, is 

eligible to participate in the Stock Incentive Plan.

3. Total number of shares available

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the total number of Shares which may be issued and/or transferred upon the vesting or 

exercise of all options that may be granted pursuant to the Stock Incentive Plan and any other share award schemes 

of the Company in aggregate shall not exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue immediately upon the 

listing (the “Listing”) of the Shares on the Stock Exchange (the “Plan Limit”), being 116,998,065 Shares. As of 

the date of this annual report, none of the Plan Limit has been utilized. Any share awards in the form of options 

that were granted prior to the Listing under the Stock Incentive Plan will not be counted for the purpose of the Plan 

Limit. The total number of Shares to be issued and/or transferred upon exercise of all outstanding options under the 

Stock Incentive Plan and all other share award schemes of the Company granted and yet to be exercised shall not 

exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue from time to time.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Compensation and Nomination Committee of the Board has resolved that only 

existing Shares in issue, including those issued to the Depositary for bulk issuance of ADSs, shall however be used 

in settlement of awards which have been exercised or vested (as appropriate) in accordance with the terms of the 

Stock Incentive Plan. The Stock Incentive Plan will not be funded by any allotment of new shares under any general 

mandates or specific mandates.

4. Maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by the Shareholders in general meeting, the total number of Shares issued and/or transferred, and 

to be issued and/or transferred upon, the vesting or exercise of the options granted to each grantee (including both 

exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any twelve (12)-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in 

issue.

5. Period to exercise option

The exercise period of the options granted shall commence from the date on which the relevant options become 

vested and ending on the expiry date which shall be ten years from the grant date, subject to the terms of the Stock 

Incentive Plan and the share option agreement signed by the grantee.

6. Vesting period

Except as otherwise approved by the Board and subject to forfeiture and arrangement on termination of employment 

or service, awards granted will be vested in four years and up to 25% of the awards will become vested in any 

given year, provided that the vesting of PSUs shall be further subject to the termination of the lock-up period of 

the initial public offering of the Shares on the NYSE. The first vesting date shall be the first anniversary date of the 

grant date (or the next day if there is no anniversary date). The number of awards vested each year is subject to 

adjustment based on a performance index each year. For the first three vestings, any unvested portion of awards 

due to adjustment of the performance index can be, and can only be, carried over to the next vesting. For the fourth 

vesting, any unvested portion due to adjustment of the performance index will be forfeited. In addition, awards that 

can be vested in a year will be forfeited if certain performance index is not met.
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7. Present status of the Stock Incentive Plan

Options

As at December 31, 2024, the aggregate number of underlying Shares pursuant to the outstanding options granted 

under the Stock Incentive Plan is 6,830,110 Shares.

Details of the outstanding options granted under the Stock Incentive Plan during the Reporting Period are as follows:

Name of

Grantee

Date of

grant(1)(2)

Date of

expiration

Vesting

period(3)

Exercise

Price

(RMB/

Share) Number of Shares

Outstanding

as at

January 1,

2024

Granted

during the

Reporting

Period

Exercised

during the

Reporting

Period

Lapsed

during the

Reporting

Period

Cancelled

during the

Reporting

Period

Outstanding

as at

December

31, 2024

Five highest paid 

 individuals in  

 aggregate

November 

7, 2017 

to June 1, 

2019

November 6, 

2027 to 

May 31, 

2029

4 years 1.33 to

52.00

627,300 0 0 0 0 627,300

Other  

 employees, 

 related entity 

 participants 

 and service 

 providers

November 

7, 2017 

to July 26, 

2019

November 

6, 2027 

to July 25, 

2029

4 years 1.33 to

52.00

7,514,510 0 0 1,311,700 0 6,202,810

Total 8,141,810 0 0 1,311,700 0 6,830,110



ONECONNECT FINANCIAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.74

Directors’ Report

Notes:

(1) No consideration was required to be paid for the grant of options.

(2) The fair value of the share options granted is set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

(3) The exercise period of the options granted shall commence from the date on which the relevant options become vested and ending 
on the expiry date which shall be ten years from the grant date, subject to the terms of the Stock Incentive Plan and the share 
option agreement signed by the grantee.

Performance share units (“PSUs”)

As of December 31, 2024, the aggregate number of underlying Shares pursuant to the outstanding PSUs granted 

under the Stock Incentive Plan is 23,129,137 Shares.

Details of the outstanding PSUs granted under the Stock Incentive Plan during the Reporting Period are as follows:
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Name of

Grantee

Date of

grant(1)(2)

Date of

expiration

Vesting

period

Exercise

Price

(RMB/

Share) Number of Shares

Outstanding

as at January

1, 2024

Granted

during the

Reporting

Period(3)

Vested

during the

Reporting

Period

Lapsed

during the

Reporting

Period

Cancelled

during the

Reporting

Period

Outstanding

as at

December

31, 2024

Former Director

Mr. Chongfeng 

Shen(4)

January 2, 

2022

January 1, 

2032

4 years N/A 1,740,001 0 0 0 0 1,740,001

December 

16, 2022

December 

15, 2032

4 years N/A 800,000 0 0 0 0 800,000

Five highest paid 

individuals in 

aggregate(5)

September 

10, 2021 to 

December 

16, 2024

September 

9, 2031 to 

December 

15, 2034

4 years N/A 2,306,445 600,000 0 0 0 2,906,445

Other 

employees, 

related entity 

participants 

and service 

providers

September 

10, 2019 to 

December 

16, 2024

September 

9, 2029 to 

December 

15, 2034

4 years N/A 25,679,677 410,000 0 8,406,986 0 17,682,691

Total 30,526,123 1,010,000 0 8,406,986 0 23,129,137

Notes:

(1) No consideration was required to be paid for the grant of PSUs.

(2) The fair value of the PSUs granted is set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

(3) The grant date was December 16, 2024. The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date of grant was HK$0.73/
Share and US$2.56/ADS. Please see Notes 3, 4 and 28 to the consolidated financial statements for details on the fair value at the 
date of grant and accounting standard and policy adopted for the calculation of fair value of the underlying Shares. There was no 
performance target attached to the PSUs granted during the Reporting Period.

(4) Mr. Chongfeng Shen resigned as an executive Director on February 5, 2025.

(5) Does not include any Directors or former Directors as details of the PSUs granted to such persons have been disclosed above.
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Others

As of the December 31, 2024, the Company has not granted any other types of share-based awards.

8. Amount payable upon acceptance

No consideration is required to be paid for the grant of options or other awards.

9. Basis for determining exercise price of options granted or the purchase price of shares 
awarded

The administrator of the Stock Incentive Plan shall determine the exercise price of options granted, which for options 

granted during the Reporting Period, shall not be lower than the higher of the following: (i) the closing price of the 

Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the grant date; or (ii) the average closing price of 

the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding 

the grant date.

10. Remaining life of the Stock Incentive Plan

Unless terminated earlier, the Stock Incentive Plan shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing 

on the date of adoption of the Stock Incentive Plan, after which period no further options shall be granted. All 

awards granted that are outstanding on the tenth anniversary of the effective date of the Stock Incentive Plan shall 

remain in force according to the terms of the Stock Incentive Plan and the applicable share option agreement. 

Before the expiration of the validity period of the Stock Incentive Plan, it may be extended accordingly with the 

approval of the Board.
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Corporate Governance

Details of the principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the section of “Corporate 

Governance Report” of this Annual Report.

Auditor

The conso l idated f inanc ia l  s ta tements for  the year ended December 31,  2024 have been aud i ted by 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, which will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves 

for re-appointment. A resolution on the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the Company will be 

proposed at the AGM.

For and on behalf of the Board

Mr. Dangyang Chen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

April 24, 2025
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Directors

As of the date of this Annual Report, the Directors and details of each of their experience are as follows:

Executive Director

Mr. Dangyang Chen (陳當陽), aged 45, served at Ping An Property & Casualty Insurance Company of China, Ltd. (“Ping 

An Property and Casualty Insurance”) from September 2021 to February 2025, during which he has undertaken the 

positions of assistant president and chief technology officer. He was responsible for promoting digital transformation, 

including implementing technological regulatory requirements, building scientific and technological data capabilities and 

managing technical teams and talent. Ping An Property & Casualty Insurance is a subsidiary of Ping An. Ping An Insurance 

(Group) Company of China, Ltd. (“Ping An”) is a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2318 (HKD 

counter) and 82318 (RMB counter)) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601318), and is a controlling shareholder 

of the Company. Prior to joining Ping An Group, Mr. Chen served as the chief technology officer of the insurance business 

group of Ant Group Co., Ltd. from June 2015 to September 2021. From August 2007 to June 2015, Mr. Chen held various 

positions at China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited (中信銀行股份有限公司), including serving as deputy director at the chief 

engineer’s office. 

Mr. Chen received his doctorate degree in engineering and his bachelor’s degree in engineering from Beihang University (北

京航空航天大學) in July 2007 and July 2002, respectively.

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Michael Guo (郭曉濤), aged 53, joined the Group in November 2023 as a non-executive Director, and is mainly 

responsible for providing professional opinion and judgment to the Board. Mr. Guo is also currently serving as an executive 

director and the co-chief executive officer and senior vice president of Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Ltd. 

and its subsidiaries.

Mr. Guo joined Ping An Group in September 2019 and successively served as the special assistant to the chairman and 

executive vice president of Ping An Property & Casualty Insurance Company of China, Ltd., and as the vice chief human 

resources officer and the chief human resources officer of Ping An Group. Mr. Michael Guo has been serving as a non-

executive director of Ping An Healthcare and Technology Company Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock 

Exchange (stock code: 1833) since March, 2024, a non-executive director of Ping An Life Insurance Company of China, Ltd. 

since May 2024, a director of Ping An Property & Casualty Insurance Company Of China, Ltd. since August 2024, a non-

executive director of Ping An Bank Co., Ltd. (平安銀行股份有限公司), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange 

(SZSE: 000001), since September 2024, an executive director of Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Ltd. since 

September 2024 and a director of Peking University Medical Management Co., Ltd. since December 2024. Prior to joining 

Ping An Group, Mr. Guo served as a partner and a managing director at Boston Consulting Group, and a global co-chief 

executive officer of capital market businesses at Wills Towers Watson.

Mr. Guo obtained his bachelor’s degree in information and control engineering from Xi’an Jiaotong University and MBA 

degree from the University of New South Wales.
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Ms. Xin Fu (付欣), aged 45, joined the Group in November 2022 as a non-executive Director, and is mainly responsible for 

providing professional opinion and judgment to the Board. Ms. Fu is currently serving as an executive director, the senior 

vice president and chief financial officer (financial director) of Ping An Group.

She joined Ping An Group in October 2017 as the general manager of its planning department, and successively served 

as the deputy chief financial officer, the director of the strategic development center and chief operating officer of Ping 

An Group. Ms. Fu has been serving as a director of Lufax Holding Ltd., a company listed on both the Hong Kong Stock 

Exchange (stock code: 6623) and the NYSE (stock ticker: LU) since November 2022, and as a director of Ping An Healthcare 

and Technology Company Limited (“Ping An Good Doctor”), a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock 

code: 1833) since March 2023. Ms. Fu has been serving as a non-executive director of Ping An Life Insurance Company of 

China, Ltd. and Ping An Asset Management Co., Ltd. since September 2023 and April 2023, respectively. Ms. Fu has also 

been serving as a non-executive director of Ping An Bank Co., Ltd. (平安銀行股份有限公司) (“Ping An Bank”), a company 

listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (SZSE: 000001), since March 2024, an executive director of Ping An since September 

2024, a director of Peking University Medical Management Co., Ltd. since December 2024 and the chief financial officer 

(financial director) of Ping An since March 2025.

Prior to joining Ping An Group, Ms. Fu served as a partner of Roland Berger Management consulting in financial services 

practices, and as an executive director of PricewaterhouseCoopers, responsible for coordinating projects such as in finance 

and fintech services for over 10 years.

Ms. Fu received a master’s degree in business administration from Shanghai Jiao Tong University, PRC, in June 2012.

Mr. Wenwei Dou (竇文偉), aged 59, joined the Group in October 2017 as a non-executive Director. Mr. Dou has also 

served as a director of Shenzhen OneConnect Smart Technology Co., Ltd. (深圳壹賬通智能科技有限公司) (“Shenzhen 

OneConnect”) since December 2017. Mr. Dou is mainly responsible for providing professional opinion and judgment to the 

Board.

Mr. Dou also serves as a director in various entities within the Ping An HealthKonnect group and as a director or supervisor 

within the Lufax group. Between October 2017 and February 2020, Mr. Dou served as a non-executive director of Ping An 

Good Doctor. Mr. Dou joined Ping An Group in April 1997, and had served in various legal and compliance positions since 

then.

Mr. Dou received his bachelor’s degree and master’s degree in law from Jilin University, China in July 1989 and May 1994, 

respectively.
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Ms. Wenjun Wang (王文君), aged 57, has served as a non-executive Director since November 2021, and is mainly 

responsible for providing professional opinion and judgment to the Board, after having previously served as a Director 

between October 2017 and June 2019. Ms. Wang joined the Group in September 2017 as a director of Shenzhen 

OneConnect.

Ms. Wang joined Ping An Group in 1996. She served as the general manager of staff service management of the human 

resources centre in Ping An Group from June 1996 to March 2011, the employee representative supervisor from May 2006 

to March 2011, the general manager of the party working department of Ping An Bank, a company listed on the Shenzhen 

Stock Exchange (stock code: 000001) from March 2011 to September 2022, and a general manager of the security 

department of Ping An Bank from April 2013 to November 2016.

Ms. Wang received her bachelor’s degree of arts in English from Shanghai International Studies University, China in July 

1989 and her master’s degree of public administration from Xi’an Jiaotong University, China in June 2006. Ms. Wang 

obtained an economics professional qualification (intermediate) from the Shenzhen position management office, China (中

國深圳市職稱管理辦公室) (now known as Shenzhen Human Resources and Social Security Bureau, China) in November 

1997.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Yaolin Zhang (張耀麟), aged 67, has served as an independent non-executive Director since February 2019. Dr. Zhang 

is the chairperson of the Compensation and Nomination Committee of the Company. Dr. Zhang is mainly responsible for 

providing independent opinion and judgment to the Board.

Dr. Zhang has more than 30 years of experience in finance and banking. Dr. Zhang served as chairman of the board of 

directors and chief executive officer of Shenzhen Ya Zhi Mei Ju Information Technology Co., Ltd. from February 2019 

to September 2023, and has been serving as an independent director of the Bank of Ningxia Co., Ltd. since December 

2019 and as an independent director of Dongguan Trust Co., Ltd. since August 2019. Dr. Zhang was independent 

director of Bank of Luoyang Co., Ltd. between August 2017 and May 2022. Dr. Zhang was the person responsible for the 

establishment of the Shenzhen branch of Shanghai Pudong Development Bank (“SPD Bank”), and served as president 

of the branch from August 2010 to May 2015. Prior to that, Dr. Zhang served as a vice president of Ping An Bank from 

November 2008 to August 2010. From June 1998 to October 2008, Dr. Zhang served in various positions in SPD Bank, 

including as vice president and president of the Guangzhou branch and vice president of SPD Bank. From July 1987 to June 

1998, Dr. Zhang served in various management positions at China Construction Bank.

Dr. Zhang received his bachelor’s degree of science in physics from Fudan University, China in October 1982, his master’s 

degree in economics from Wuhan University, China in August 1987, his doctorate degree in law from Wuhan University, 

China in June 1996, and his executive master of business administration degree from the China Europe International 

Business School, China in June 2007.
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Mr. Tianruo Pu (濮天若), aged 56, has served as an independent non-executive Director since September 2019. Mr. Pu is 

the chairperson of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Pu is mainly responsible for providing independent opinion 

and judgment to the Board.

Mr. Pu currently serves as an independent director of various listed companies, including Fresh2 Group Limited (formerly 

known as AnPac Bio-Medical Science Co., Ltd.) (formerly NASDAQ: ANPC; now NASDAQ: FRES) since October 2022, 

Autohome Inc. listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2518) and the NYSE (stock ticker: ATHM), since 

December 2016, and 3SBio Inc. listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1530), since May 2015. Previously, 

Mr. Pu served as a director of various companies listed on the NYSE or NASDAQ, including Renren Inc. (NYSE: RENN) from 

December 2016 to July 2020, Kaixin Auto Holdings (NASDAQ: KXIN) from April 2019 to July 2020, Luckin Coffee Inc. 

(NASDAQ: LK) from March 2020 to June 2020 and JMU Limited (now known as Mercurity Fintech Holding Inc.) (formerly 

NASDAQ: JMU; now NASDAQ: MFH) from April 2015 to November 2019. Mr. Pu has extensive work experience in finance 

and accounting in both the United States and China. Mr. Pu served as the chief financial officer of various companies, 

including Zhaopin Ltd. (formerly NYSE: ZPIN) from 2016 to 2018, UTStarcom Holdings Corp. (NASDAQ: UTSI) from 2012 to 

2014 and China Nuokang Bio-Pharmaceutical Inc. (formerly NASDAQ: NKBP) from 2008 to 2012.

Mr. Pu received his bachelor’s degree of arts in diplomatic English from China Foreign Affairs University, China in July 1991, 

his master’s degree of science in accounting from the University of Illinois, United States in May 1996 and his master’s 

degree in business administration from the J. L. Kellogg Graduate School of Management at Northwestern University, 

United States, in June 2000.

Mr. Wing Kin Anthony Chow (周永健), aged 74, has served as an independent non-executive Director since October 

2020. Mr. Chow is a member of the Audit Committee and the Compensation and Nomination Committee of the Company. 

Mr. Chow is mainly responsible for providing independent opinion and judgment to the Board.

Mr. Chow has been serving as a non-executive director of Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Ltd., a company listed on the 

Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1170), since May 1994, an independent non-executive director of Ping An Good 

Doctor since May 2018, an independent non-executive director of Beijing North Star Company Limited, a company listed on 

the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 0588), since May 2021 and an independent non-executive director of China 

Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2460), 

since October 2024. He was also an independent non-executive director of MTR Corporation Limited, a company listed on 

the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 0066), between May 2016 and May 2022, and an independent non-executive 

director of S.F. Holding Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 2352), between December 

2016 and December 2022.

Mr. Chow is a solicitor admitted to practice in Hong Kong and England and Wales. He has been a practicing solicitor in 

Hong Kong for more than 40 years and is the senior consultant of Messrs. Guantao & Chow Solicitors and Notaries. Mr. 

Chow is a China-appointed attesting officer. Mr. Chow was a member of The National Committee of the Chinese People’s 

Political Consultative Conference from 2003 to 2023, the president of The Law Society of Hong Kong from 1997 to 

2000, chairman of the Process Review Panel for the SFC from 2006 to 2012 and chairman of Process Review Panel for the 

Financial Reporting Council from 2015 to 2020.
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Mr. Chow was awarded the Justice of the Peace in 1998 and the Silver Bauhinia Star medal in 2003 by the Hong Kong 

Special Administrative Region. He was also awarded the Honorary Fellowship of the Hong Kong Institute of Education 

in 2010, the Honorary Fellowship of King’s College London in July 2013, the Roll of Honor by the Law Society of Hong 

Kong in 2015, Doctor of Social Science honoris causa of Hong Kong Metropolitan University (formerly known as The Open 

University of Hong Kong) in December 2018, and Doctor of Laws honoris causa of The Hong Kong University of Science and 

Technology in November 2021.

Mr. Koon Wing Ernest Ip (葉冠榮), aged 64, has served as an independent non-executive Director since November 2021. 

Mr. Ip is a member of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Ip is mainly responsible for providing independent opinion 

and judgment to the Board.

Mr. Ip has over 35 years of experience in accounting and auditing. Mr. Ip has been serving as the group chief financial 

officer of the Fung Group since 2019, which comprises, among others, Li & Fung Limited, a company formerly listed on the 

Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 0494), Fung (1937) Management Limited and Convenience Retail Asia Limited, 

a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 0831). Mr. Ip has also been serving as an independent 

director of PAO Bank Limited (formerly known as Ping An OneConnect Bank (Hong Kong) Limited since August 2021, 

and an independent non-executive director of Media Chinese International Limited, a company listed on both the Hong 

Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 0685) and Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (stock code: 5090), since July 2021. As 

an independent non-executive director of PAOB, Mr. Ip has the general responsibility of providing independent advice 

and guidance to the board of PAOB without involvement in its daily operations and management. Additionally, Mr. Ip 

is a member of the board risk management committee and chairperson of the board audit committee of PAOB, and 

is responsible for overseeing, monitoring and reviewing PAOB’s risk management framework and structure, financial 

reporting, internal audit function and the work of PAOB’s external auditor. Prior to joining the Fung Group, Mr. Ip was a 

partner at PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited from 1993 until his retirement in 2019.

Mr. Ip holds several key positions in regulatory authorities and business associations. Currently, Mr. Ip is a member of 

the Takeovers & Mergers Panel of the SFC and the Takeovers Appeal Committee of the SFC. He is also a member of 

the Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, the vice president of 

the Council for the Promotion of Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao cooperation and a senior advisor of the Accounting 

Professional Committee for Hong Kong region of the Council for the Promotion of Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao 

cooperation. He was the Listing Committee member of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange from 2003 to 2009, a member of 

the Dual Filing Advisory Group of the SFC from 2008 to 2014 and the president of the Hong Kong Business Accountants 

Association in 2022.

Mr. Ip graduated with a professional diploma in accountancy from the accounting faculty of the Hong Kong Polytechnic, 

Hong Kong (now known as Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in November 1984. Mr. Ip has been a fellow member of 

the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since February 1992, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants since December 1994 and a fellow member of the Certified Practising Accountant Australia 

since February 2012.
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Senior Management

As of the date of this Annual Report, the members of the senior management team and details of each of their experience 

are as follows:

Mr. Dangyang Chen (陳當陽) is an executive Director, the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer. See 

“Directors” in this section for his biographical details.

Mr. Xiao Tang (唐嘯), aged 44, joined the Group in October 2024 and is currently the general manager. Mr. Tang is 

mainly responsible for the digital bank business.

Mr. Tang has over 25 years experience in banking services. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Tang served as an executive 

director and the president of BOC Financial Technology Co., Ltd. from December 2020 to September 2024. Before that, 

Mr. Tang served as a executive vice president of the Suzhou subsidiary of CCB Fintech Co., Ltd. and the general manager of 

customer service department of Wuhan business group from April 2018 to November 2020. From July 2001 to April 2018, 

Mr. Tang served in different positions of China Construction Bank, including department head of the testing and promotion 

department of Wuhan data center, and head of the innovation department.

Mr. Tang received his bachelor’s degree in electronic information from Wuhan University of Technology in 2001, and his 

master’s degree in business administration from Huazhong University of Science and Technology in 2006.

Mr. Rubo Lin (林如波), aged 52, joined the Group in August 2024 and is currently the chief financial officer and a joint 

company secretary of the Company. As the chief financial officer, Mr. Lin is mainly responsible for the Company’s finance 

and planning.

Mr. Lin has over 20 years experience in technology, media and telecommunications industry and capital market. Prior to 

joining the Company, Mr. Lin served as the chief financial officer of Ping An Technology, a leading fintech company in 

China. Before that, Mr. Lin served in different senior management positions of various companies from 2010 to 2020, 

including chief financial officer of Lenovo Group Ltd’s global mobile business unit, finance general manager of WeChat 

business division in Tencent and chief financial officer of Shenzhen Xiaoman Technology Co. Ltd. From 1999 to 2010, 

Mr. Lin worked for Microsoft, Dell and IBM in U.S/China and he held various managerial roles in service finance, business 

control, strategic planning, digital transformation and cloud services.

Mr. Lin received his bachelor’s degree in international business and economics from Hunan University in 1994, and his 

master’s degree of business and administration from Kelley School of Business at Indiana University Bloomington in 2005.
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Joint Company Secretaries

As of the date of this Annual Report, the joint company secretaries and details of each of their experience are as follows:

Mr. Rubo Lin (林如波), is the chief financial officer and was appointed as one of the joint company secretaries on April 11, 

2025. See “Senior Management” in this section for his biographical details.

Ms. Chan Yuen Mui (陳婉梅) was appointed as one of the joint company secretaries on April 11, 2025. Ms. Chan has over 

15 years of experience in corporate secretarial and commercial administration fields. She currently serves as the Manager, 

Entity Solutions of Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited. Ms. Chan obtained a Bachelor of Business 

Administration degree with Honours from Hong Kong Baptist University and a Master of Corporate Governance degree 

from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She is an associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance 

Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom.
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To the Shareholders of OneConnect Financial Technology Co., Ltd.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of OneConnect Financial Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”), which are set out on pages 92 to 217, comprise:

• the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2024;

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and other 
explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at December 31, 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA 
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

• Goodwill impairment assessments

• Impairment loss allowance for trade receivables and contract assets

• Recognition of deferred tax assets
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Goodwill impairment assessments

Refer to notes 4(d) and 15 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

As at December 31, 2024, the net carrying amount of 

goodwill amounted to RMB157,260 thousands, which 

was regarded as attributable to the cash generating unit 

(“CGU”) of Technology Solutions segment.

Goodwi l l  impa i rment assessment i s  per formed by 

management at least annually or more frequently if events 

or changes in circumstances indicate that a CGU to which 

goodwill has been allocated may be impaired. Based on the 

results of the impairment assessment, the carrying value of 

the CGU, to which the goodwill was allocated, exceeded its 

recoverable amount, and therefore RMB131,901 thousands 

impairment loss on the goodwill was recognised as at 

December 31, 2024.

The recoverable amount of the CGU was determined based 

on the value-in-use calculations using cash flow projections.

We focused on this area because the estimation of 

recoverable amount is subject to high degree of estimation 

uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to the impairment 

assessment of goodwill is considered significant due 

to subjectivity of the signif icant assumptions used, 

and significant judgements involved in the impairment 

assessment, including revenue growth rates, long-term 

growth rate, profit margin and pre-tax discount rate.

In response to this key audit matter, we performed the 

following procedures:

• We obtained an understanding of the management’s 

internal control and assessment process of goodwill 

impairment and assessed the inherent risk of material 

misstatement by considering the degree of estimation 

uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such as 

complexity, subjectivity and changes in assumptions used 

in the impairment tests;

• We evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment 

of goodwill impairment to assess the effectiveness of 

management’s estimation process;

• We evaluated and tested the controls over the impairment 

assessment of goodwill;

• We evaluated the reasonableness of revenue growth 

rate, long-term growth rate, profit margin based on the 

current and historical business performance of the CGU; 

the management’s future business plan and market 

development, and the consistency with evidence obtained 

in other areas of the audit;

• We u t i l i s ed  p ro fe s s i ona l s  w i th  spec i a l i s ed  sk i l l 

and knowledge to assist in the evaluation of the 

appropriateness of the goodwill impairment assessment 

method, long-term growth rate and pre-tax discount rate 

adopted by the management.

• We tested the completeness, accuracy and relevance of 

the underlying data used and the mathematical accuracy 

of the calculation in the goodwill impairment assessment;

• We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to 

goodwill impairment in the context of the applicable 

financial reporting framework.

Based on the procedures performed, we considered that 

management’s judgments and assumptions applied in the 

assessment of goodwill impairment are supported by the 

evidence obtained.
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Impairment loss allowance for trade receivables and 

contract assets

Refer to notes 4(a), 5.1(b)(i i ), 6.2(b) and 20 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

As at December 31, 2024, the gross balance of trade 

receivables and contract assets were amounted to 

RMB582,068 thousands and RMB125,842 thousands, 

respectively, and the impairment loss allowances for these 

assets were amounted to RMB75,533 thousands and 

RMB62,422 thousands, respectively.

The impairment loss allowances were determined using the 

expected credit loss (“ECL”) model. Management applied 

the simplified approach in determining ECL which used a 

lifetime expected impairment loss allowance for all trade 

receivables and contract assets. Management grouped 

trade receivables and contract assets based on their shared 

credit risk characteristics and the age of the underlying 

receivables, and then determined the impairment loss 

allowance on the basis of exposure at default and ECL 

rates, which considered historical credit loss experience 

adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information.

We focused on this area because the impairment loss 

a l lowance is subject to high degree of est imation 

uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to the impairment 

loss allowances is considered significant due to the 

complexity of the ECL model, subjectivity of significant 

assumptions used, and significant judgements involved in 

the grouping of trade receivables and contract assets, and 

the determination of ECL rates.

In response to this key audit matter, we performed the 

following procedures:

• We obtained an understanding of the management’s 

internal control and assessment process of provision for 

impairment of trade receivables and contract assets and 

assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by 

considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and 

level of other inherent risk factors such as complexity and 

subjectivity;

• We evaluated and tested controls over the impairment 

of trade receivables and contract assets, including the 

grouping of trade receivables and contract assets and the 

determination of ECL rates;

• We evaluated the appropriateness of the ECL model;

• We eva luated the reasonab leness  o f  s ign i f i cant 

assumptions used by management relating to grouping of 

trade receivables and contract assets by considering the 

credit risk characteristics and the age of the underlying 

assets;

• We eva luated the reasonab leness  o f  s ign i f i cant 

assumptions used by management relating to ECL rates 

by considering (i) the appropriateness of historical period 

selection, historical credit loss experience, current status 

of the assets and other relevant information; and (ii) 

the appropriateness of forward-looking information and 

macroeconomic factors affecting the expected ability of 

customers to settle receivables;

• We tested the completeness, accuracy, and relevance of 

underlying data used and the mathematical accuracy of 

the ECL model.

Based on the procedures performed, we considered that 

management’s judgments and assumptions applied in 

the assessment of impairment loss allowance for trade 

receivables and contract assets are supported by evidence 

obtained.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Refer to notes 4(b) and 35 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

As at December 31, 2024, the balance of the Group’s 

deferred tax assets was RMB313,805 thousands.

The recognition of deferred tax assets was based upon 

whether it is more likely than not that sufficient and 

suitable taxable profits will be available in future periods, 

against which existing deductible temporary differences 

can be utilized. To determine the future taxable profits, 

reference was made to the latest ava i lab le prof i t 

forecasts. Where the temporary difference is related to 

the carry-forward of operating losses, relevant tax law 

was considered on a jurisdictional basis to determine the 

availability of such losses to offset future taxable profits.

We focused on this area because the estimation of 

sufficient future taxable profits is subject to high degree of 

estimation uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to the 

recognition of deferred tax assets is considered significant 

due to subjectivity of significant assumptions used, and 

significant judgements involved in the forecast of sufficient 

future taxable profits used to support the recognition of 

the deferred tax assets.

In response to this key audit matter, we performed the 

following procedures:

• We obtained an understanding of the management’s 

internal control and assessment process of recognition 

of deferred tax assets and assessed the inherent risk 

of material misstatement by considering the degree of 

estimation uncertainty and the level of other inherent risk 

factors such as complexity, subjectivity and changes in 

assumptions used in recognition of deferred tax assets;

• We evaluated and tested the controls over the recognition 

of deferred tax assets, including controls over the forecast 

of future taxable profits used to support the recognition 

of the deferred tax assets;

• We obtained management’s calculation sheets of deferred 

tax assets and tested the completeness and accuracy of 

the underlying data used and the mathematical accuracy 

of the calculation sheets;

• We eva luated the reasonab leness  o f  s ign i f i cant 

assumptions and estimates used by management in 

estimating future taxable profits, by (i) considering the 

results of a retrospective comparison of forecasted taxable 

profits in prior year to actual results in the current year; 

(ii) comparing revenue growth rate and profit margin in 

the current year forecast to historical results and industry 

trends; and (iii) comparing whether the forecast was 

consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the 

audit.

Based on the procedures performed, we considered that 

management’s judgments and assumptions applied in the 

recognition of deferred tax assets are supported by the 

evidence obtained.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the 

information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 

of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit Committee for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 

and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 

but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We 

report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 

liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 

a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 

statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 

audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information 

of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes 

of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.



ANNUAL REPORT 2024 91

Independent Auditor’s Report

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 

on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance 

in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 

describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 

when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 

the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Wenping Yao.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, April 24, 2025
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Year ended December 31,
2023 2024

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note 12)

Continuing operations
Revenue 6.2(a) 3,521,591 2,248,103
Cost of revenue 7 (2,195,574) (1,443,606)

Gross profit 1,326,017 804,497

Research and development expenses 7 (955,201) (510,898)
Selling and marketing expenses 7 (241,612) (177,285)
General and administrative expenses 7 (375,128) (305,110)
Net impairment losses on financial and contract assets 5.1(b) (40,544) (31,255)
Other income, gains or loss-net 9 69,183 (83,482)

Operating loss (217,285) (303,533)

Finance income 10 29,580 67,484
Finance costs 10 (20,086) (13,289)

Finance income – net 10 9,494 54,195
Share of gains of associate and joint venture – net 16 4,607 –
Impairment charges on associate 16 (7,157) –

Loss before income tax (210,341) (249,338)

Income tax expense 11 (9,762) (455,368)

Loss for the year from continuing operations (220,103) (704,706)

Discontinued operations
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations (attributable to owners of 
 the Company) 12 (151,373) 209,499

Loss for the year (371,476) (495,207)

Loss attributable to:
– Owners of the Company (362,715) (459,677)
– Non-controlling interests (8,761) (35,530)

(371,476) (495,207)

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company arises from:
– Continuing operations (211,342) (669,176)
– Discontinued operations (151,373) 209,499

(362,715) (459,677)
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Year ended December 31,
2023 2024

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note 12)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of tax
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
– Foreign currency translation differences of continuing operations 27 (5,744) (2,702)
– Exchange differences on translation of discontinued operations 12, 27 9,624 177
– Changes in the fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value 
  through other comprehensive income of discontinued operations 12, 27 500 6,056
– Disposal of subsidiaries 12, 27 – 18,237
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
– Foreign currency translation differences 27 22,336 31,636
– Changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value 
  through other comprehensive income 27 – (3,204)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 26,716 50,200

Total comprehensive loss for the year (344,760) (445,007)

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to:
– Owners of the Company (335,999) (409,477)
– Non-controlling interests (8,761) (35,530)

(344,760) (445,007)

Loss per share for loss from continuing operations attributable to 
 owners of the Company (expressed in RMB per share)
– Basic and diluted 13 (0.19) (0.61)

Loss per ADS for loss from continuing operations attributable to 
 owners of the Company (expressed in RMB per share)
– Basic and diluted 13 (5.82) (18.42)

Loss per share for loss attributable to the owners of the Company 
 (expressed in RMB per share)
– Basic and diluted 13 (0.33) (0.42)

Loss per ADS for loss attributable to the owners of the Company 
 (expressed in RMB per share)
– Basic and diluted 13 (9.99) (12.66)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ONECONNECT FINANCIAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.94

As at December 31,

2023 2024

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property and equipment 14 85,076 43,895

Intangible assets 15 471,371 195,636

Deferred tax assets 35 768,276 313,805

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 18 1,372,685 –

Restricted cash and time deposits over three months 24 5,319 –

Prepayments and other receivables 21 6,663 6,506

Trade receivables 20 – 10,106

Total non-current assets 2,709,390 569,948

Current assets

Trade receivables 20 710,669 496,429

Contract assets 6.2(b) 95,825 63,420

Prepayments and other receivables 21 905,691 342,221

Financial assets measured at amortized cost from virtual bank 22 3,081 –

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 18 853,453 –

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 23 925,204 455,016

Derivative financial assets 33 38,008 40,356

Restricted cash and time deposits over three months 24 447,564 51,940

Cash and cash equivalents 25 1,379,473 1,947,922

Total current assets 5,358,968 3,397,304

Total assets 8,068,358 3,967,252

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY

Share capital 26 78 78

Shares held for share incentive scheme 28 (149,544) (149,544)

Other reserves 27 10,989,851 11,041,209

Accumulated losses (7,873,614) (8,333,291)

Equity attributable to equity owners of the Company 2,966,771 2,558,452

Non-controlling interests (18,979) (54,509)

Total equity 2,947,792 2,503,943
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As at December 31,

2023 2024

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 29 28,283 10,670

Contract liabilities 6.2(b) 17,126 12,946

Deferred tax liabilities 35 2,079 –

Total non-current liabilities 47,488 23,616

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 29 1,981,288 993,842

Payroll and welfare payables 385,908 311,190

Contract liabilities 6.2(b) 138,563 115,501

Short-term borrowings 30 251,732 19,160

Customer deposits 31 2,261,214 –

Other financial liabilities from virtual bank 32 54,373 –

Total current liabilities 5,073,078 1,439,693

Total liabilities 5,120,566 1,463,309

Total equity and liabilities 8,068,358 3,967,252

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 92 to 217 were approved by the Board of Directors on April 24, 2025 and were signed 

on its behalf.

Dangyang Chen Wenjun Wang Rubo Lin

Director, Chairman Director Chief Financial Officer

and Chief Executive Officer
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ONECONNECT FINANCIAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.96

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share

 capital

Shares held 

for share 

incentive 

scheme

Other

 reserves

Accumulated

losses Total

Non-

controlling

interest

Total 

equity

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at January 1, 2023 78 (149,544) 10,953,072 (7,510,899) 3,292,707 (14,652) 3,278,055
    

Loss for the year – – – (362,715) (362,715) (8,761) (371,476)

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

– Foreign currency translation differences 27 – – 26,216 – 26,216 – 26,216

– Fair value changes on financial assets 

measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 27 – – 500 – 500 – 500

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – 26,716 (362,715) (335,999) (8,761) (344,760)
       

Transactions with equity holders:

Share-based payments: 

– Value of employee services and business 

cooperation arrangements 27, 28 – – 14,497 – 14,497 – 14,497

Transactions with non-controlling interests 27, 29(ii) – – (4,434) – (4,434) 4,434 –

Total transactions with equity holders at their 

capacity as equity holders for the year – – 10,063 – 10,063 4,434 14,497
   

As at December 31, 2023 78 (149,544) 10,989,851 (7,873,614) 2,966,771 (18,979) 2,947,792
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Attributable to owners of the Company

Share

 capital

Shares held 

for share 

incentive 

scheme

Other

 reserves

Accumulated

losses Total

Non-

controlling

interest

Total 

equity

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at January 1, 2024 78 (149,544) 10,989,851 (7,873,614) 2,966,771 (18,979) 2,947,792
    

Loss for the year – – – (459,677) (459,677) (35,530) (495,207)

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

– Foreign currency translation differences 27 – – 29,111 – 29,111 – 29,111

– Fair value changes on financial assets 

measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 27 – – 2,852 – 2,852 – 2,852

– Disposal of subsidiaries 12 – – 18,237 – 18,237 – 18,237

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 50,200 (459,677) (409,477) (35,530) (445,007)

Transactions with equity holders:

Share-based payments: 

– Value of employee services and business 

cooperation arrangements 27, 28 – – 1,158 – 1,158 – 1,158

Total transactions with equity holders at their 

capacity as equity holders for the year – – 1,158 – 1,158 – 1,158

As at December 31, 2024 78 (149,544) 11,041,209 (8,333,291) 2,558,452 (54,509) 2,503,943

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ONECONNECT FINANCIAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.98

Year ended December 31,
2023 2024

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash used in operations 36(a) (637,746) (271,334)
Income tax paid (10,715) (5,515)

Net cash used in operating activities (648,461) (276,849)

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property and equipment (5,981) (6,113)
Payments for intangible assets (31,488) (21,310)
Payments for financial assets measured at fair value through other 
 comprehensive income (1,867,657) (1,326,461)
Payments for Investment in Jointly controlled entities 16 (2,550) –
Payments for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (914,500) (882,752)
Proceeds for settlement of derivatives 40,342 19,263
Release of restricted cash and time deposits over three months, net 207,896 15,569
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 699 533
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries-net 12 – 723,171
Receipts of loans to related parties 1,600 –
Proceeds from sales of financial assets measured at fair value through 
 other comprehensive income 1,991,143 1,217,277
Proceeds from disposal of investment in associate 16 199,200 –
Proceeds from sales of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 686,626 1,354,351
Interest received on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 13,304 12,728

Net cash generated from investing activities 318,634 1,106,256

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from short-term borrowings 36(c) 235,000 –
Proceeds from exercise of shares under share incentive scheme – –
Payments of lease liabilities 36(c) (60,922) (36,259)
Repayments of short-term borrowings 36(c) (273,000) (235,000)
Interest paid 36(c) (11,403) (8,064)
Transactions with non-controlling interests (15,000) –
Payments for shares held for share incentive scheme (88,280) –
Increase in restricted cash – (2,929)

Net cash used in financing activities (213,605) (282,252)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (543,432) 547,155
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,907,776 1,379,473
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 15,129 21,294

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 25 1,379,473 1,947,922

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1 General information and basis of presentation

1.1 General information

OneConnect Financial Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 

October 30, 2017 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law 3 

of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office 

is PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The Company completed its initial 

public offering (“IPO”) on December 13, 2019 on the New York Stock Exchange. The Company has listed by 

way of introduction its ordinary shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 

July 4, 2022.

On November 30, 2022, the Company announced its plans to change the ratio of its American Depositary 

Share (“ADS”) to its ordinary shares (the “ADS Ratio”) from the current ADS Ratio of one ADS to three 

ordinary shares to a new ADS Ratio of one ADS to thirty ordinary shares. The change in the ADS Ratio 

became effective on December 12, 2022. For all the periods presented, basic and diluted loss per ADS have 

been revised assuming the change of ADS ratio from a ratio of one ADS to three ordinary share to a new 

Ratio of one ADSs to thirty ordinary shares occurred at the beginning of the earliest period presented.

The Company, its subsidiaries, its controlled structured entities (“Structured Entities”, “Variable Interest 

Entities” or “VIEs”) and their subsidiaries (“Subsidiaries of VIEs”) are collectively referred to as the “Group”. 

The Group is principally engaged in providing cloud-platform-based Fintech solutions, online information 

service and operating support service to financial institutions (the “Listing Business”) mainly in the People’s 

Republic of China (the “PRC”). The Company does not conduct any substantive operations of its own but 

conducts its primary business operations through its subsidiaries, VIEs and subsidiaries of VIEs in the PRC. 

Further details of the VIEs are set out in Note 1.2 below.

These financial statements are presented in Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”), unless otherwise stated.

1.2 Organization and principal activities

As at December 31, 2024, the Company had direct or indirect interests in the following major subsidiaries 

(which are all corporations) including consolidated structured entities.

Company name

Place and date of 

incorporation/

establishment

Principal activities and 

place of operations

Issued and

paid-in capital/

Registered capital

Equity interest 

held by the Group

Note

As at December 31

2023 2024

Subsidiaries

Jin Tai Yuan Limited British Virgin Islands/

 October 27, 2017

Investment holding, BVI USD747,940,498 100% 100%

Jin Cheng Long Limited Hong Kong/

 October 30, 2017

Investment holding, 

 Hong Kong, the PRC.

USD747,940,498 100% 100%

OneConnect Financial Technology 

 (Hong Kong) Limited

Hong Kong/March 15, 2018 Software and technology service, 

 information transmission, 

 Hong Kong, the PRC.

USD1 100% 100%
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Company name

Place and date of 

incorporation/

establishment

Principal activities and 

place of operations

Issued and

paid-in capital/

Registered capital

Equity interest 

held by the Group

Note

As at December 31

2023 2024

OneConnect Financial Technology 

 (Singapore) Co., Pte. Ltd.

Singapore/March 26, 2018 Software and technology service, 

 information transmission, 

 Singapore.

SGD47,900,000 100% 100%

PT OneConnect Financial Technology 

 Indonesia

Indonesia/December 04, 2018 Software and technology service, 

 information transmission, 

 Indonesia.

IDR10,000,000,000 100% 100%

Shenzhen OneConnect Technology 

 Services Co., Ltd (“Shenzhen 

 OneConnect Technology”)

the PRC/January 04, 2018 Technology promotion and 

 computer application services, 

 Shenzhen, the PRC.

RMB4,903,181,996/

RMB4,960,000,000

100% 100%

Beijing Vantage Point Technology 

 Co., Ltd. (“Vantage Point 

 Technology”)

the PRC/July 18, 2008 Software and technology service, 

 information transmission, 

 Beijing, the PRC.

RMB13,333,529 51.67% 51.67% (i)

Shenzhen OneConnect Information 

 Technology Service Company 

 Limited (“Shenzhen OneConnect 

 Information Technology”)

the PRC/January 31, 2019 Software and technology service, 

 information transmission, 

 Shenzhen, the PRC.

RMB100,000,000 51% 51%

Beijing BER Technology Company Ltd. 

 (“BER Technology”)

the PRC/March 30,2006 Software and technology service, 

 information transmission, 

 Shenzhen, the PRC.

RMB22,950,000 100% 100% (i)

Zhang Tong Shun (Guangzhou) 

 Technology Co., Ltd. 

 (“Zhang Tong Shun”)

the PRC/May 9, 2019 Information technology advisory 

 services, Guangzhou, the PRC.

RMB10,000,000 100% 100% (i)

VIEs

OneConnect Smart Technology 

 Co., Ltd. (Shenzhen) (“Shenzhen 

 OneConnect”)

the PRC/September 15, 2017 Software and technology service, 

 information transmission, 

 Shenzhen, the PRC.

RMB1,200,000,000 100% 100%

Shenzhen E-Commerce Safety 

 Certificates Administration Co., Ltd. 

 (“Shenzhen CA”)

the PRC/August 11, 2000 E-commerce security certificate 

 administration, Shenzhen, 

 the PRC.

RMB543,500,000 98.9% 98.9% (i)

1 General information and basis of presentation (Continued)

1.2 Organization and principal activities (Continued)
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Company name

Place and date of 

incorporation/

establishment

Principal activities and 

place of operations

Issued and

paid-in capital/

Registered capital

Equity interest 

held by the Group

Note

As at December 31

2023 2024

Subsidiaries of the VIEs

Shanghai OneConnect Financial 

 Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai 

 OneConnect”) *

the PRC/December 29, 2015 Software and technology service, 

 asset management and 

 consulting, Shanghai, the PRC.

RMB1,200,000,000 100% 100%

Shenzhen Kechuang Insurance 

 Assessment Co., Ltd. (“Kechuang”)*

the PRC/August 27, 2001 Insurance survey and loss 

 adjustment, Shenzhen, the PRC.

RMB4,000,000 100% 100%

Shenzhen OneConnect Chuangpei 

 Technology Co., Ltd. 

 (“Chuangpei”)*

the PRC/June 1, 2016 Software and technology service, 

 information transmission, 

 Shenzhen, the PRC.

RMB10,000,000 100% 100%

Zhuhai Yirongtong Asset Management 

 Co., Ltd. (“Yirongtong”) *

the PRC/June 21, 2016 Asset management and 

 consulting, Zhuhai, the PRC.

RMB12,000,000 100% 100%

Ping An OneConnect Cloud 

 Technology Co., Ltd. (“OneConnect 

 Cloud Technology”)

the PRC/June 27, 2016 Software and technology service, 

 information transmission, 

 Shenzhen, the PRC.

RMB500,000,000 100% 100%

* Subsidiaries of Shenzhen OneConnect

Note:

(i) The subsidiaries were acquired by the Group through business combination.

PRC laws and regulations prohibit or restrict foreign ownership of companies that provide internet-based 

business, which include activities and services provided by the Group. The Group operates its business 

operations in the PRC through a series of contractual arrangements entered into among a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of the Company and VIEs that legally owned by equity holders (“Nominee Shareholders”) 

authorized by the Group (collectively, “Contractual Arrangements”). The Contractual Arrangements include 

Exclusive Equity Purchase Option Agreement, Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, Exclusive Asset 

Option Agreement, Equity Pledge Agreement, Shareholder Voting Proxy Agreement, Letters of Undertakings 

and Spousal Consent Letters.

Under the Contractual Arrangements, the Company has the power to control the management, and financial 

and operating policies of the VIEs, has exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the 

VIEs, and has the ability to use its power over the VIEs to affect the amount of the returns. As a result, 

all these VIEs are accounted for as consolidated structured entities of the Company and their financial 

statements have also been consolidated by the Company.

1 General information and basis of presentation (Continued)

1.2 Organization and principal activities (Continued)
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1 General information and basis of presentation (Continued)

1.2 Organization and principal activities (Continued)

The principal terms of the Contractual Arrangements are further described below:

(a) Contractual agreements with Shenzhen OneConnect

– Exclusive Equity Purchase Option Agreement

Pursuant to the exclusive equity purchase option agreement entered into between Shenzhen 

OneConnect Technology, Shenzhen OneConnect, the direct shareholders of Shenzhen 

OneConnect, and the shareholders of the direct shareholders of Shenzhen OneConnect, (each 

refer to as the “Indirect Shareholder”, together with the direct shareholders of Shenzhen 

OneConnect, “the Shenzhen OneConnect Shareholders”) (the “Exclusive Equity Purchase 

Option Agreement”), Shenzhen OneConnect Technology has the irrevocable and exclusive right 

to purchase, or to designate one or more persons to purchase, from Shenzhen OneConnect 

Shareholders all or any part of their equity interests in Shenzhen OneConnect at any time and 

from time to time in Shenzhen OneConnect Technology’s absolute discretion to the extent 

permitted by PRC laws. Unless terminated upon the parties’ agreement, this agreement will 

remain effective for ten years, and will be automatically renewed for another five years, unless 

Shenzhen OneConnect Technology objects to the renewal in writing thirty days prior this 

agreement’s expiry.

– Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Pursuant to the exclusive business cooperation agreement entered into between Shenzhen 

OneConnect Technology and Shenzhen OneConnect, Shenzhen OneConnect agreed to engage 

Shenzhen OneConnect Technology as its exclusive provider of business support, technical 

and consulting services. In exchange for these services, Shenzhen OneConnect shall pay a 

service fee, which is equal to Shenzhen OneConnect’s profit before tax, after deducting any 

accumulated losses of Shenzhen OneConnect and its subsidiaries from the preceding fiscal 

year, working capital, costs, expenses, tax and other statutory contribution in relation to 

the respective fiscal year. The service fee shall be paid annually and shall be wired to the 

designated bank account of Shenzhen OneConnect Technology upon issuance of invoice by 

Shenzhen OneConnect Technology. The effective term of this agreement is the same as that of 

the Exclusive Equity Purchase Option Agreement described above.
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1 General information and basis of presentation (Continued)

1.2 Organization and principal activities (Continued)

(a) Contractual agreements with Shenzhen OneConnect (Continued)

– Exclusive Asset Option Agreement

Pursuant to the exclusive asset option agreement entered into between Shenzhen OneConnect 

Technology, Shenzhen OneConnect and the Shenzhen OneConnect Shareholders (the 

“Exclusive Asset Option Agreement”), Shenzhen OneConnect Technology has the irrevocable 

and exclusive right to purchase, or to designate one or more persons to purchase, from 

Shenzhen OneConnect all or any part of its assets at any time at Shenzhen OneConnect 

Technology’s absolute discretion and to the extent permitted by PRC laws. The consideration 

shall be the higher of (a) a nominal price or (b) the lowest price as permitted under applicable 

PRC laws. The effective term of this agreement is the same as that of the Exclusive Equity 

Purchase Option Agreement described above.

– Equity Pledge Agreement

Pursuant to the equity pledge agreement entered into between Shenzhen OneConnect 

Technology, Shenzhen OneConnect and the Shenzhen OneConnect Shareholders (the “Equity 

Pledge Agreement”), the Registered Shareholders agreed to pledge as first charge all of their 

equity interests in Shenzhen OneConnect to Shenzhen OneConnect Technology as collateral 

security for any and all of the guaranteed debt under the Contractual Arrangements and to 

secure the performance of their obligations under the Contractual Arrangements. During the 

pledge period, Shenzhen OneConnect Technology is entitled to receive any dividends or other 

distributable benefits arising from the equity.

The pledge in favor of Shenzhen OneConnect Technology takes effect upon the completion 

of registration with the relevant administration for industry and commerce of China and 

shall remain valid until Shenzhen OneConnect Shareholders and Shenzhen OneConnect have 

discharged all their obligations and fully paid all the amounts payable under the Contractual 

Arrangements.

– Shareholder Voting Proxy Agreement

Shenzhen OneConnect Technology, Shenzhen OneConnect, the Shenzhen OneConnect 

Shareholders and the subsidiaries of Shenzhen OneConnect entered into a shareholder voting 

proxy agreement. Pursuant to this agreement, each shareholder of Shenzhen OneConnect 

and its subsidiaries irrevocably authorizes the persons designated by Shenzhen OneConnect 

Technology to act on its behalf to exercise all of such shareholder’s voting and other rights 

associated with the shareholder’s equity interest in Shenzhen OneConnect and the subsidiaries 

of Shenzhen OneConnect, such as the right to appoint or designate directors, supervisors and 

officers, as well as the right to sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of all or any portion of the 

shares held by such shareholder. The effective term of this agreement is the same as that of 

the Exclusive Equity Purchase Option Agreement described above.
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1 General information and basis of presentation (Continued)

1.2 Organization and principal activities (Continued)

(a) Contractual agreements with Shenzhen OneConnect (Continued)

– Letters of Undertakings

Each Indirect Shareholder signed a letter of undertakings to the Company. Under these letters, 

the signing Indirect Shareholder has separately irrevocably undertaken, in the event of his or 

her death or loss of capacity or any other events that could possibly affect his or her capacity 

to fulfil his or her obligations under the contractual arrangement of Shenzhen OneConnect, 

that he or she will unconditionally transfer his or her equity interest in Shenzhen OneConnect 

to any person designated by Shenzhen OneConnect Technology and the transferee will be 

deemed to be a party to the contractual arrangements and will assume all of his or her rights 

and obligations as such under the contractual arrangements. Each signing Indirect Shareholder 

represents that his or her spouse has no ownership interest in his or her equity interests 

in Shenzhen OneConnect. Each signing Indirect Shareholder further represents that in any 

circumstances, he or she will not, directly or indirectly, commit any conduct, measure, action 

or omission that is contrary to the purpose and intention of the contractual arrangements, that 

leads or may lead to any conflict of interest between Shenzhen OneConnect and OneConnect 

Financial Technology Co., Ltd. and/or its subsidiaries, and that if, during his or her performance 

of the contractual arrangements, there is a conflict of interest between the signing Indirect 

Shareholder and OneConnect Financial Technology Co., Ltd. and/or its subsidiaries, the signing 

Indirect Shareholder will protect the legal interests of Shenzhen OneConnect Technology under 

the contractual arrangements and follow the instructions of the Company.

– Spousal Consent Letters

Under the spousal consent letters, each signing spouse respectively agreed that he or she was 

aware of the equity interest beneficially owned by his or her spouse in Shenzhen OneConnect 

and the relevant Contractual Arrangements in connection with such equity interest. The 

signing spouse unconditionally and irrevocably confirmed that he or she does not have any 

equity interest in Shenzhen OneConnect and committed not to impose any adverse assertions 

upon his or her spouse’s respective equity interest. Each signing spouse further confirmed that 

such equity interest may be disposed of pursuant to the relevant Contractual Arrangements, 

and committed that he or she will take all necessary measures for the performance of those 

arrangements.
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1 General information and basis of presentation (Continued)

1.2 Organization and principal activities (Continued)

(b) Contractual agreements with Shenzhen CA

Shenzhen CA and certain of its shareholders holding in the aggregate 98.9% of the equity interest 

in Shenzhen CA entered into a series of contractual agreements with Zhang Tong Shun. These 

agreements contain terms substantially similar to the contractual arrangements among Shenzhen 

OneConnect, Shenzhen OneConnect Shareholders and Shenzhen OneConnect Technology described 

above.

(c) Risks in relation to the VIEs

In the opinion of the Company’s management, the Contractual Arrangements discussed above have 

resulted in the Company, Shenzhen OneConnect Technology and Zhang Tong Shun having the power 

to direct activities that most significantly impact the VIEs, including appointing key management, 

setting up operating policies, exerting financial controls and transferring profit or assets out of the 

VIEs at its discretion. The Company has the power to direct activities of the VIEs and can have assets 

transferred out of the VIEs under its control. Therefore, the Company considers that there is no 

asset in any of the VIEs that can be used only to settle obligations of the VIEs, except for registered 

capital, capital reserve and PRC statutory reserves of the VIEs totalling RMB1,782 million and 

RMB1,786 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively. Currently there is no contractual 

arrangement that could require the Company to provide additional financial support to the VIEs. As 

the Company is conducting its Internet-related business mainly through the VIEs, the Company may 

provide such support on a discretional basis in the future, which could expose the Company to a loss. 

As the VIEs organized in the PRC were established as limited liability companies under PRC law, their 

creditors do not have recourse to the general credit of Shenzhen OneConnect Technology and Zhang 

Tong Shun for the liabilities of the VIEs, and Shenzhen OneConnect Technology and Zhang Tong Shun 

do not have the obligation to assume the liabilities of these VIEs.

In the opinion of the Company’s management, the contractual arrangements among its subsidiaries, 

the VIE and their respective Nominee Shareholders are in compliance with current PRC laws and are 

legally binding and enforceable. However, uncertainties in the interpretation and enforcement of 

the PRC laws, regulations and policies could limit the Company’s ability to enforce these contractual 

arrangements. In addition, the enforceability of the contractual agreements between the Company, 

the VIE and its shareholders depends on whether the Company’s shareholders or their PRC holding 

entities will fulfil these contractual agreements. As a result, the Company may be unable to 

consolidate the VIE and VIE’ subsidiaries in the consolidated financial statements.
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1 General information and basis of presentation (Continued)

1.2 Organization and principal activities (Continued)

(c) Risks in relation to the VIEs (Continued)

On March 15, 2019, the Foreign Investment Law was formally passed by the thirteenth National 

People’s Congress and it became effective on January 1, 2020. The Foreign Investment Law replaced 

the Law on Sino Foreign Equity Joint Ventures, the Law on Sino Foreign Cooperative Joint Ventures 

and the Law on Foreign Capital Enterprises and became the legal foundation for foreign investment 

in the PRC. The Implementation Regulations for the Foreign Investment Law was promulgated by 

the State Council on December 26, 2019, became effective on January 1, 2020, and replaced the 

corresponding implementation rules of the Law on Sino-Foreign Equity Joint Ventures, the Law on 

Sino-Foreign Cooperative Joint Ventures and the Law on Foreign-Capital Enterprises.

The Foreign Investment Law stipulates certain forms of foreign investment. However, the Foreign 

Investment Law does not explicitly stipulate contractual arrangements such as those we rely on as a 

form of foreign investment. Notwithstanding the above, the Foreign Investment Law stipulates that 

foreign investment includes “foreign investors investing through any other methods under laws, 

administrative regulations or provisions prescribed by the State Council.” Future laws, administrative 

regulations or provisions prescribed by the State Council may possibly regard Contractual 

Arrangements as a form of foreign investment. If this happens, it is uncertain whether the Contractual 

Arrangements with the VIE and its shareholders would be recognized as foreign investment, or 

whether the Contractual Arrangements would be deemed to be in violation of the foreign investment 

access requirements. As well as the uncertainty on how the Contractual Arrangements will be 

handled, there is substantial uncertainty regarding the interpretation and the implementation of the 

Foreign Investment Law. The relevant government authorities have broad discretion in interpreting 

the law. Therefore, there is no guarantee that the Contractual Arrangements, the business of the VIEs 

and financial conditions of the Company will not be materially and adversely affected.

The Company’s ability to control VIEs also depends on rights provided to Shenzhen OneConnect 

Technology and Zhang Tong Shun, under the Shareholder Voting Proxy Agreement, to vote on all 

matters requiring shareholder approval. As noted above, the Company believes Shareholder Voting 

Proxy Agreement is legally enforceable, but they may not be as effective as direct equity ownership. 

In addition, if the corporate structure of the Group or the Contractual Arrangements between the 

Shenzhen OneConnect Technology, and Zhang Tong Shun, the VIEs and their respective shareholders 

and subsidiaries were found to be in violation of any existing PRC laws and regulations, the relevant 

PRC regulatory authorities could:

• revoke the Group’s business and operating licenses;

• require the Group to discontinue or restrict its operations;



ANNUAL REPORT 2024 107

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 General information and basis of presentation (Continued)

1.2 Organization and principal activities (Continued)

(c) Risks in relation to the VIEs (Continued)

• impose fines or confiscate any of the Group’s income that they deem to have been obtained 

through illegal operations;

• require the Group to restructure the ownership structure or operations, re-apply for the 

necessary licenses or relocate its businesses, staff and assets;

• impose additional conditions or requirements with which the Group may not be able to 

comply; or

• restrict or prohibit the Group’s use of the proceeds from public offerings or other of the 

Group’s financing activities to finance the business and operations of the VIEs and their 

subsidiaries; or

• take other regulatory or enforcement actions against the Group that could be harmful to the 

Group’s business.

The imposition of any of these restrictions or actions may result in a material adverse effect on the 

Company’s ability to conduct its business. In addition, if the imposition of any of these restrictions 

causes the Company to lose the right to direct the activities of the VIEs or the right to receive their 

economic benefits, the Company would no longer be able to consolidate the financial statements 

of the VIEs. In the opinion of management, the likelihood of losing the benefits in respect of the 

Company’s current ownership structure or the contractual arrangements with its VIEs is remote.

The following are major financial statements amounts and balances of the Group’s VIEs and 

subsidiaries of VIEs (i.e. Shenzhen OneConnect, Shenzhen CA and their subsidiaries) of December 31, 

2023 and 2024 and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.
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1.2 Organization and principal activities (Continued)

(c) Risks in relation to the VIEs (Continued)

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Total current assets 3,058,529 1,938,718

Total non-current assets 603,914 377,103

Total assets 3,662,443 2,315,821

Total current liabilities 6,676,641 5,608,821

Total non-current liabilities 24,291 18,283

Total liabilities 6,700,932 5,627,104

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Total revenue 3,261,285 2,058,979

Net loss (68,079) (271,927)

Net cash used in operating activities (149,778) (91,370)

Net cash generated from investing activities 75,598 313,138

Net cash used in financing activities (508,121) (352,204)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (582,301) (130,436)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 906,252 323,951

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year 323,951 193,515

The above financial statements amounts and balances have included intercompany transactions which 

have been eliminated on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2024, the total assets of Group’s VIEs were mainly consisting of cash 

and cash equivalents, trade receivable, contract assets, prepayments and other receivables, financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss, property and equipment, intangible assets and deferred tax 

assets. As of December 31, 2023 and 2024, the total liabilities of VIEs were mainly consisting of trade 

and other payables, payroll and welfare payables, contract liabilities and short-term borrowings.
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2 Basis of preparation and changes in accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out 

below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting 

Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The consolidated 

financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation 

of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss and derivative financial assets and liabilities, which are carried at fair value and 

subsequent changes are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain 

critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying 

the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas 

where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in 

Note 4 below.

2.2 Recent accounting pronouncements

(a) New and amended standards and interpretations adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for their annual 

reporting period commencing January 1, 2024:

• Amendments to IAS 1 – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

• Amendments to IAS 1 – Non-current liabilities with covenants

• Amendments to IFRS 16 – Lease liability in sale and leaseback

• Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 – Supplier finance arrangements

The amendments listed above did not have material impact on the amounts recognized in prior 

periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.
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2 Basis of preparation and changes in accounting policies (Continued)

2.2 Recent accounting pronouncements (Continued)

(b) New standards and amendments to standards and interpretations not yet 
adopted

Certain new accounting standards and amendments to accounting standards and interpretations have 

been issued but not effective during the year 2024 and have not been early adopted by the Group in 

preparing these consolidated financial statements:

Effective for annual 

periods beginning 

on or after

Amendments to IAS 21 – Lack of Exchangeability January 1, 2025

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 – Classification and measurement of 

financial instruments January 1, 2026

Annual improvements to IFRS – Volume 11 January 1, 2026

IFRS 18 – Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements January 1, 2027

IFRS 19 – Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures January 1, 2027



ANNUAL REPORT 2024 111

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2 Basis of preparation and changes in accounting policies (Continued)

2.2 Recent accounting pronouncements (Continued)

(b) New standards and amendments to standards and interpretations not yet 
adopted (Continued)

The Group is in the process of assessing potential impact of the above new amendments that is 

relevant to the Group upon initial application. According to the preliminary assessment, the above 

new amendments, other than IFRS 18, are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s 

consolidated balance sheets and results of operations upon adopting the above new amendments. 

IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements, introducing new requirements that 

will help to achieve comparability of the financial performance of similar entities and provide more 

relevant information and transparency to users. Even though IFRS 18 will not impact the recognition 

or measurement of items in the financial statements, its impacts on presentation and disclosure are 

expected to be pervasive, in particular those related to the statement of financial performance and 

providing management-defined performance measures within the financial statements. The Group is 

currently assessing the detailed implications of applying IFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements. From the high-level preliminary assessment performed, the following potential impacts 

have been identified:

• Although the adoption of IFRS 18 will have no impact on the Group’s net profit, the Group 

expects that grouping items of income and expenses in the statement of profit or loss into the 

new categories will impact how operating profit is calculated and reported. From the high-

level impact assessment that the Group has performed, the following items might potentially 

impact operating profit:

o Foreign exchange differences currently aggregated in the line item ‘other income, gains 

or loss – net’ in operating profit might need to be disaggregated, with some foreign 

exchange gains or losses presented below operating profit.

o IFRS 18 has specific requirements on the category in which derivative gains or losses 

are recognised – which is the same category as the income and expenses affected by 

the risk that the derivative is used to manage. Although the Group currently recognises 

gains or losses in operating profit, there might be a change to where these gains or 

losses are recognised, and the Group is currently evaluating the need for change.

• The line items presented on the primary financial statements might change as a result of the 

application of the concept of ‘useful structured summary’ and the enhanced principles on 

aggregation and disaggregation. In addition, since goodwill will be required to be separately 

presented in the statement of financial position, the Group will disaggregate goodwill and 

other intangible assets and present them separately in the statement of financial position.
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2.2 Recent accounting pronouncements (Continued)

(b) New standards and amendments to standards and interpretations not yet 
adopted (Continued)

• The Group does not expect there to be a significant change in the information that is currently 

disclosed in the notes because the requirement to disclose material information remains 

unchanged; however, the way in which the information is grouped might change as a result of 

the aggregation/disaggregation principles. In addition, there will be significant new disclosures 

required for:

o management-defined performance measures;

o a break-down of the nature of expenses for line items presented by function in the 

operating category of the statement of profit or loss – this break-down is only required 

for certain nature expenses; and

o for the first annual period of application of IFRS 18, a reconciliation for each line item 

in the statement of profit or loss between the restated amounts presented by applying 

IFRS 18 and the amounts previously presented applying IAS 1.

• From a cash flow statement perspective, there will be changes to how interest received and 

interest paid are presented. Interest paid will be presented as financing cash flows and interest 

received as investing cash flows, which is a change from current presentation as part of 

operating cash flows.

The Group will apply the new standard from its mandatory effective date of 1 January 2027. 

Retrospective application is required, and so the comparative information will be restated in 

accordance with IFRS 18.

2.3 Changes in accounting policies

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at the end of the reporting period, if the Group has a 

right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Covenants that the 

Group is required to comply with, on or before the end of the reporting period, are considered in classifying 

loan arrangements with covenants as current or non-current. Covenants that the Group is required to comply 

with after the reporting period do not affect the classification.

This new policy did not result in a change in the classification of Group’s borrowings. The Group did not 

make retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting the amendments to IAS 1.
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3 Summary of accounting policy information

3.1 Material accounting policies

3.1.1 Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the amount of consideration the Group is entitled to upon the transfer of 

promised goods or services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities and is recorded net of 

value-added tax (“VAT”). Revenues are recognized when or as control of the asset or service is 

transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the 

contract, control of the goods and services may be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control 

of the goods and services is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

• provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customer;

• creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

• does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an 

enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue is recognized over the period of the 

contract by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.

Otherwise, revenue is recognized at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods 

and services.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation is measured based on one 

of the following methods that best depict the Group’s performance in satisfying the performance 

obligation:

• direct measurements of the value transferred by the Group to the customer; or

• the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance obligation.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group presents the contract in the statement of 

financial position as a contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the relationship between the 

entity’s performance and the customer’s payment.

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the 

Group has transferred to a customer. If the value ascribed to the services rendered by the Group 

exceed the payment, a contract asset is recognized. Judgement is required in determining whether a 

right to consideration is unconditional and thus qualifies as a receivable.
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3 Summary of accounting policy information (Continued)

3.1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

3.1.1 Revenue recognition (Continued)

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional right to consideration on the date the 

payment is due even if it has not yet performed under the contract.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an amount of consideration that is 

unconditional, before the Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the Group presents the 

contract as a contract liability when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). 

A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which 

the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. A 

contract liability is recognized as revenue upon transfer of control to the customers of the promised 

license, products and services.

Some of the Group’s contracts with customers contain multiple performance obligations. For these 

contracts, the Group accounts for individual performance obligations separately if they are distinct. 

The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative standalone 

selling price basis. Although each of the performance obligations sometimes has a separate 

contractual price agreed in the contract, the management compares the contractual price with 

observable standalone market price, if any, or cost plus a margin price to assess the reasonableness of 

the pricing. If the contractual price for each performance obligation is assessed to be on market price 

basis, the Group uses the contractual price to measure and recognize revenue for each performance 

obligation. If the contractual price for each performance obligation is assessed to be not on market 

price basis, the Group reallocates the total contract price to the identified performance obligations 

based on its best estimated standalone selling price of each performance obligation.

Only the contracts for implementation (Note 3.1.1(a)) and business origination services (Note 3.1.1(b)) 

contain significant financing components. As a practical expedient, the Group does not account for 

financing components if the period between when the Group transfers the promised goods or services 

to the customer and when the customer pays for those goods or services is one year or less.

Incremental costs of obtaining customer contract primarily consist of sales commissions and are 

capitalized as an asset. The Group amortizes assets recognized from capitalizing costs to obtain a 

contract on a systematic basis to profit or loss, consistent with the pattern of revenue recognition 

to which the asset relates. As a practical expedient, the Group recognize the incremental costs of 

obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred if the amortization period of the asset that the 

Group otherwise would have recognized is one year or less.

The following is a description of the accounting policy for the principal revenue streams of the Group.
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3 Summary of accounting policy information (Continued)

3.1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

3.1.1 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Implementation and post-implementation support services

Implementation services represent customer-specific software development or customization 

services provided to customers for the use of the Group’s software in cloud offerings or on-

premise IT environment. The implementation contract is either on a time and material basis or 

fixed-fee basis. The Group invoices fees for implementation services based on actual time and 

materials incurred to date or according to pre-agreed payment schedules. After development, 

license to use the software is granted to the customer with an indefinite life. The customer 

cannot benefit from the implementation service on its own without the license. The perpetual 

license is a result of the implementation service. The implementation service and the perpetual 

license are highly interrelated and within the context of the contract, the promise of the Group 

is to transfer the implementation service together with the perpetual license as one output to 

its customers. Both the implementation service and the perpetual license to use the software 

are not distinct and thus should be combined together as one performance obligation. And 

there is no sales/usage-based royalty for the licence to use the software in the arrangement.

The Group’s customer contracts often include both implementation services and post-

implementation support services. Customers can benefit from implementation service and 

post-implementation support service on their own, and those services are clearly stated in 

the contract and are separately identifiable, they are not integrated or interrelated with each 

other, and do not significantly affect each other.

For implementation services, revenue is recognized over time if the Group’s performance (i) 

provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customer, (ii) creates 

and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs, or (iii) does not 

create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right 

to payment for performance completed to date. Accordingly, revenue for implementation 

contracts is recognized over the contract terms by reference to the progress of work 

performed, which is measured based on costs incurred toward satisfying the performance 

obligation, relative to total costs expected to be incurred to the complete satisfaction of the 

performance obligation. Otherwise revenue is recognized at a point in time when control of 

the promised services is transferred to the customer.

For post-implementation support services, the performance obligation is to stand ready to 

provide technical support and unspecified updates and upgrades on a when-and-if-available 

basis. The customers simultaneously receive and consume the benefits of these support 

services as the Group performs and revenue is recognized based on time elapsed and thus 

ratably over the term of the support arrangement.
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3 Summary of accounting policy information (Continued)

3.1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

3.1.1 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b) Transaction based service

The Group derives its transaction based service revenue primarily from business origination 

services, risk management services, operation support services and other services.

Business origination services

The Group provides business origination services by assisting financial institutions in customer 

acquisition for their products including loans, wealth management products and insurance 

policies etc.

In order to satisfy its performance obligations (that is generating customer leads for financial 

institutions), the Group designs marketing plans, sources leads and analyses the leads. The 

Group generates customer leads for financial institutions through its own platform or from 

channel partners. The leads, which are sourced from the Group’s own platform or from the 

channel partners, are grouped together and are screened and analysed by the Group to ensure 

that they meet customers’ criteria. When the leads are sourced from the channel partners, 

the Group determined that it is the principal in providing the business origination services to 

the financial institutions because the Group controls the leads sourced from channel partners, 

screens and analyses the leads before delivering those leads to customers. For business 

origination services, the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to generate 

customer leads to financial institutions and has full discretion in establishing the price for the 

business origination services provided to financial institutions, as well as the selection of and 

determination of prices paid to the channel partners. Accordingly, the Group records revenue 

based on the gross amount payable by the financial institutions and records the amount 

payable to the channel partners as cost of revenue. The Group normally charges its customers 

based on successful referrals at fixed charge rates. The revenue for business origination 

services is recognized when a referral is successfully accepted by financial institutions.

The Group determined that it is not the legal lender and legal borrower (or receiver of deposits 

from investors) in the loan origination and repayment process. Therefore, the Group does not 

record loans receivable and payable arising from the loans between lenders and borrowers. 

The Group acts as an agent to facilitate such loans.
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3 Summary of accounting policy information (Continued)

3.1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

3.1.1 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b) Transaction based service (Continued)

Operation support services

Operation support services mainly represent calling services and insurance loss assessment 

services, digital certification and related services and solutions, service management platforms 

to participants around auto aftermarket scenarios, asset monitoring services and consulting 

services provided to financial institutions.

For contracts which the Group charges its customers based on usage of the services at fixed 

charge rates, and invoices the fees on periodical basis, the revenue from these services is 

recognized at a point in time when the customers receive and consume the benefits of these 

services each time the Group performs, based on the amount charged for such services.

For contracts which the Group charges its customers based on the term of services and 

invoices the fee on periodical basis, and the performance obligation is to stand ready to 

provide operation support, the customers simultaneously receive and consume the benefits of 

these support services as the Group performs and revenue is recognized over time based on 

time elapsed and thus ratably over the term of the support arrangement.

When the consideration receivable is different from the revenue recognized, a “contract asset” 

or “contract liability” shall be recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Risk management services

Risk management services mainly represent credit risk assessment, identity verification service, 

risk management services used in insurance loss assessment and anti-fraud services provided 

to financial institutions.

For risk management services contracts, the Group normally charges its customers based 

on usage of the services at fixed charge rates, and invoices the fees on periodical basis. The 

revenue from these services is recognized at a point in time when the customers receive and 

consume the benefits of these services each time the Group performs, based on the amount 

charged for such services.
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3 Summary of accounting policy information (Continued)

3.1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

3.1.1 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b) Transaction based service (Continued)

Cloud platform services

Cloud platform services mainly represent providing financial institutions with value-added 

services including computing, storage, database and backup services on a variety of cloud 

infrastructures.

For cloud platform contracts, the Group normally charges its customers based on usage of 

the services at fixed charge rates, and invoices the fees on periodical basis. The revenue from 

these services is recognized over time based on time elapsed and thus ratably over the contract 

terms when the customers receive and consume the benefits of these services.

Others

Other revenue mainly represents sales of products.

For sales of products, the Group recognizes revenue net of discounts and return allowances 

upon the time when the products are delivered to customers.

(c) Interest and commission income

For Virtual Bank Business (“virtual bank”)(Note 6.1), interest income from debt instruments 

measured at amortized cost and debt instruments measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income is recognized in revenue using the effective interest rate method. Fees 

and commissions are recognized on an accrual basis when the service has been provided or 

significant act performed.

Interest and commission income was presented within ‘(loss)/profit from discontinued 

operations’ as the virtual bank was disposed of as described in Note 12.
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3 Summary of accounting policy information (Continued)

3.1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

3.1.2 Intangible assets

The Group’s intangible assets include application and platforms, purchased software, development 

costs in progress, goodwill, business licenses and others.

Intangible assets can be recognized only when future economic benefits expected to be obtained 

from the use of the item will flow into the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. Intangible 

assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets 

acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Costs associated with maintaining application and platform are recognized as an expense as incurred. 

Development costs that are directly attributable to the development and testing of identifiable 

application and platform controlled by the Group are recognized as intangible assets when the 

following criteria are met:

• it is technically feasible to complete the application and platform so that it will be available for 

use

• management intends to complete the application and platform and use or sell it

• there is an ability to use or sell

• it can be demonstrated how the application and platform will generate probable future 

economic benefits

• adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or 

sell the application and platform are available, and

• the expenditure attributable to the application and platform during its development can be 

reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalized mainly include employee costs and technology service 

fees.

Research expenditure and development expenditure that do not meet the criteria above are 

recognized as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognized as an expense are 

not recognized as an asset in a subsequent period. Capitalized development costs are recorded as 

intangible assets and amortized from the point at which the asset is ready for use.
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3 Summary of accounting policy information (Continued)

3.1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

3.1.2 Intangible assets (Continued)

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed by the period of bringing economic benefits for the 

Group.

The useful lives of intangible assets excluding development cost in progress are set as follows:

Expected useful life

• Application and platform 3 – 10 years

• Purchased software 3 – 10 years

• Business licenses 3 – 5 years

Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortized on the straight-line basis over the useful 

economic life. The amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a 

finite useful life are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and development costs in progress are not amortized, but 

are subject to annual impairment assessment.

3.1.3 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that a non-financial 

asset other than deferred tax assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual 

impairment testing for a non-financial asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s 

recoverable amount. A non-financial asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-

generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual 

asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from 

other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the 

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where the carrying amount of a non-financial 

asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 

recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 

and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to disposal, an appropriate 

valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share 

prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators.
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3.1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

3.1.3 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

For non-financial assets other than goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to 

whether there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or 

may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable 

amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in 

the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 

recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. 

That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 

depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such a reversal is 

recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Impairment is determined by assessing 

the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units), to which the 

goodwill relates. The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its 

value-in-use, determined on an individual asset (or cash-generating unit) basis, unless the individual 

asset (or cash-generating unit) does not generate cash flows that are largely independent from those 

of other assets or groups of assets (or groups of cash-generating units). Impairment losses recognized 

in relation to goodwill are not reversed for subsequent increases in its recoverable amount.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and development costs in progress are tested for 

impairment annually at each year end either individually or at the cash-generating unit level, as 

appropriate.

3.1.4 Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income, 

or through profit or loss), and

• those to be measured at amortized cost.
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3.1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

3.1.4 Financial assets (Continued)

Classification (Continued)

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the 

contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other 

comprehensive income. For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the business model 

in which the investment is held and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. For investments in 

equity instruments, this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the 

time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those 

assets changes.

Recognition and measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a 

financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to 

the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through 

profit or loss are expensed in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(a) Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model 

for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three 

measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

• Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where 

those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at 

amortized cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income 

using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is 

recognized directly in profit or loss and presented in other income, gains or losses 

together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented in 

the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
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3 Summary of accounting policy information (Continued)

3.1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

3.1.4 Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and measurement (Continued)

(a) Debt instruments (Continued)

• Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”): Assets that are held for 

collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the 

assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured 

at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the 

recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange 

gains and losses which are recognized in profit or loss. When the financial asset is 

derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified 

from equity to profit or loss and recognized in other income, gains or loss. Interest 

income from these financial assets is included in other gain using the effective interest 

rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other income, gains 

or loss and impairment expenses are presented in the statement of profit or loss.

• Fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”): Assets that do not meet the criteria for 

amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment 

that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognized in profit or loss and presented net 

within other income, gains or loss in the period in which it arises.

(b) Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group’s 

management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in other 

comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to 

profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments 

continue to be recognized in profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses (and reversal of 

impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from 

other changes in fair value.
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3.1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

3.1.4 Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and measurement (Continued)

(c) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its 

debt instruments carried at amortized cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied 

depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. Expected credit loss 

refers to the weighted average amount of credit loss of financial instruments based on the 

probability of default. Credit loss refers to the difference between all contractual cash flows 

receivable and all cash flows that the entity expects to receive, discounted at the original 

effective interest rate. The Group recognizes or reverses the impairment provision through 

profit or loss.

For debt instruments measured at FVOCI, impairment gains or losses are included in the net 

impairment losses on financial instruments and correspondingly reduce the accumulated 

changes in fair value included in the OCI reserves of equity.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted 

by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognized from initial recognition 

of the assets. The impairment matrix is determined based on historical observed default 

rates over the expected life of the contract assets and trade receivables with similar credit 

risk characteristics and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At every reporting date the 

historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are 

analysed.

Impairment on other receivables are measured as either 12-month expected credit losses or 

lifetime expected credit losses, depending on whether there has been a significant increase 

in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has 

occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit 

losses.
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3.1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

3.1.5 Share-based payments

An equity-settled share-based compensation plan was granted to the employees and non-employees, 

under which the entity receives services from employees and non-employees as consideration for 

equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of the services received in exchange for the 

grant of the options is recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The total 

amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

• including any market performance;

• excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions;

• including the impact of any non-vesting conditions

The total expense is recognized over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the 

specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the Group 

revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market 

performance and service conditions. It recognizes the impact of the revision to original estimates, if 

any, in the statement of comprehensive income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, at a minimum an expense is recognized as if 

the terms had not been modified. An additional expense is recognized for any modification that 

increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to 

the employee, as measured at the date of modification.

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and 

any expense not yet recognized for the award is recognized immediately. However, if a new award 

is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it 

is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original 

award, as described in the previous paragraph.

3.1.6 Tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the statement of 

comprehensive income, or in other comprehensive income or in equity if it relates to items that are 

recognized in the same or a different period directly in other comprehensive income or in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount 

expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.
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3.1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

3.1.6 Tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of 

the reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 

financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or 

liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 

affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 

associates and interests in jointly controlled entities, when the timing of the reversal of the 

temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will 

not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, the carry-forward of 

unused tax credits and any unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 

be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax 

credits and unused tax losses can be utilized, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the 

initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 

and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 

loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 

associates and interests in jointly controlled entities, deferred tax assets are only recognized 

to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 

future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be 

utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 

allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Conversely, previously unrecognized deferred 

tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it 

is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 

to be utilized.
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3.1 Material accounting policies (Continued)

3.1.6 Tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 

period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity 

and the same taxation authority.

3.1.7 Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that has been disposed of or is classified as 

held for sale and that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, 

is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or area of operations, or 

is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results of discontinued operations are 

presented separately in the statement of comprehensive (loss)/income.

3.2 Summary of other accounting policies

3.2.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

3.2.1.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities or VIEs as stated in Note 1.2 above) 

over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed 

to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability 

to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries 

are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They are 

deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between group 

companies are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 

evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have 

been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the 

consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in 

equity and consolidated balance sheet, respectively.

For the parent company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are 

accounted for using the equity method.
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3.2 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (Continued)

3.2.1.2 Investments accounted for using the equity method

(i) Associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence but not control, 

generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. 

Significant influence could be demonstrated for an investment of less than 20%, for 

example, by representation on the board of directors or equivalent governing body of 

the investee. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of 

accounting.

(ii) Joint ventures

Investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint 

ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each 

investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint arrangement. Investments in joint 

ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognized at cost, and the carrying 

amount is increased or decreased to recognize the investor’s share of the profit or 

loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group’s investment accounted 

for using the equity method include goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the 

acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture, any difference 

between the cost of the investment accounted for using the equity method and the 

Group’s share of the net fair value of the investment’s identifiable assets and liabilities 

is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture is reduced but significant 

influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognized 

in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognized in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition movements 

in other comprehensive income is recognized in other comprehensive income with a 

corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s 

share of losses in investment accounted for using the equity method equals or exceeds 

its interest in the investment, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group 

does not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations 

or made payments on behalf of the investment.
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3.2 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (Continued)

3.2.1.2 Investments accounted for using the equity method (Continued)

(ii) Joint ventures (Continued)

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence 

that the investment accounted for using the equity method is impaired. If this is the 

case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the 

recoverable amount of the investment and its carrying value and recognizes the amount 

adjacent to “share of loss of associate and joint venture” in the consolidated statement 

of comprehensive income.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the 

Group and its investment accounted for using the equity method are recognized in the 

Group’s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the 

investment. Unrealized losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence 

of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have 

been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the 

Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in the investment accounted for using the 

equity method are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

3.2.2 Structured Entities

A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the 

dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting rights relate to 

administrative tasks only, and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual or related 

arrangements.

The Group determines whether it is an agent or a principal in relation to those structured entities 

in which the Group acts as an asset manager on management’s judgement. If an asset manager is 

agent, it acts primarily on behalf of others and so does not control the structured entity. It may be 

principal if it acts primarily for itself, and therefore controls the structured entity. The unconsolidated 

structured entities in which the Group acts as an asset manager is set out in Note 38.
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3.2 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.3 Business combination

Except for business combinations under common control, the Group applies the acquisition method 

to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary 

is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the 

acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 

contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at 

the acquisition date.

The Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition 

basis. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 

acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the 

fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

3.2.4 Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using 

the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional 

currency”). The functional currency of the Company is the United States dollar (“US$”). RMB is the 

functional currency of the subsidiaries in PRC. As the major operations of the Group are within the 

PRC, the directors of the Company have chosen to present the Group’s financial statements in RMB 

(the presentation currency).

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 

such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognized in the consolidated statements of 

comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the consolidated 

statements of comprehensive income, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and 

losses are presented in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income on a net basis within 

other income, gains or loss – net.
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3.2 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and 

liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation 

differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or 

loss are recognized in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on 

non-monetary assets such as equities classified as fair value through other comprehensive income are 

recognized in other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the currency of a 

hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency 

are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

• assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the 

date of that balance sheet

• income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and statement of comprehensive 

income are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation 

of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income 

and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions), and

• all resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign 

entities, and of borrowings and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, 

are recognized in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings 

forming part of the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences are reclassified to 

profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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3 Summary of accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.5 Derivative financial instruments

The Group’s derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the date of which 

the related derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently measured at fair value. All 

derivatives are carried as assets when the fair values are positive and as liabilities when the fair values 

are negative. The gains or losses arisen from fair value changes of derivatives are recognized in profit 

or loss. No derivative financial instruments are designated as hedging instrument.

3.2.6 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for products sold or services performed in the 

ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less, 

they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognized initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless 

they contain significant financing components, when they are recognized at fair value. The Group 

holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore 

measures them subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method. See Note 20 for 

further information about the Group’s accounting for trade receivables and Note 5.1(b) and Note 

3.1.4 for a description of the Group’s impairment policies.

3.2.7 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes 

cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

3.2.8 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 

shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

3.2.9 Leases

The Group leases various properties. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 5 

years but may have extension options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain 

a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants, 

but leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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3 Summary of accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.9 Leases (Continued)

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the 

leased asset is available for use by the group. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability 

and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a 

constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-

of-use asset is depreciated over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease 

liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable

• variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate

• amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that 

option, and

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising 

that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be 

determined, or the group’s incremental borrowing rate.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives 

received

• any initial direct costs, and

• restoration costs.
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3 Summary of accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.9 Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets related to lease of properties are recorded under property and equipment (Note 

14). Lease liabilities are recorded under trade and other payables (Note 29).

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized on a 

straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.

3.2.10 Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes 

expenditure that is directly attribute to the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation on property and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their 

cost, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Category Expected useful life

Office and telecommunication equipment 3-5 years

Leasehold improvements 5 years

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of their useful life or the lease term, unless 

the entity expects to use the assets beyond the lease term.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted quarterly if appropriate, at the 

end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 

carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount 

and are recognized within ‘Other income, gains or loss – net’ in the consolidated statements of 

comprehensive income.
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3 Summary of accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.11 Financial liabilities

The Group, at initial recognition, classifies financial liabilities as either financial liabilities subsequently 

measured at amortised cost or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Except for derivative financial instruments (Note 3.2.5), the Group’s financial liabilities are mainly 

financial liabilities measured at amortised cost, including trade and other payables, short-term 

borrowings, customer deposits and other financial liabilities from virtual bank, etc. These financial 

liabilities are initially measured at the amount of their fair value after deducting transaction costs and 

use the effective interest rate method for subsequent measurement.

Where the present obligations of financial liabilities are discharged, cancelled or when they are 

expired, the Group derecognises these financial liabilities. The differences between the carrying 

amounts and the consideration received are recognized in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless at the end of the reporting period, the 

Group has aright to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on or before the end of the reporting period, 

are considered in classifying loan arrangements with covenants as current or non-current. Covenants 

that the Group is required to comply with after the reporting period do not affect the classification at 

the reporting date.

3.2.12 Employee benefits

(a) Pension obligations

The employees of the Group are mainly covered by various defined contribution pension 

plans. The Group makes and accrues contributions on a monthly basis to the pension plans, 

which are mainly sponsored by the related government authorities that are responsible for the 

pension liability to retired employees. Under such plans, the Group has no other significant 

legal or constructive obligations for retirement benefits beyond the said contributions, which 

are expensed as incurred. Certain employees are also provided with group life insurance but 

the amounts involved are insignificant.
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3 Summary of accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.12 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b) Housing benefits

The employees of the Group are entitled to participate in various government-sponsored 

housing funds. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these funds based on certain 

percentages of the salaries of the employees. The Group’s liability in respect of these funds is 

limited to the contributions payable in each period.

(c) Medical benefits

The Group makes monthly contributions for medical benefits to the local authorities in 

accordance with relevant local regulations for the employees. The Group’s liability in respect 

of employee medical benefits is limited to the contributions payable in each period.

3.2.13 Interest income

Interest income from virtual bank is included in the revenue (Note 12).

Interest income from financial assets that are held for cash management purposes is included in 

finance income, see finance income (Note 10) below.

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL and any other interest income is included in the net 

gains/(losses), see other income (Note 9) below.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of 

a financial asset except for financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-

impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the 

financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

3.2.14 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.
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3 Summary of accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.15 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognized at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance 

that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognized in the income statement over the 

period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The Group makes estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and 

liabilities in these financial statements. Estimates and judgments are continually assessed based on historical 

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments 

and accounting estimation, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial 

statements.

(a) Impairment of financial assets measured at amortized costs

The Group applies expected credit losses model in measuring impairment of trade receivables, contract 

assets, other receivables, loans and advances to customers. The expected loss rates are based on the Group’s 

past loss experiences, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each 

reporting period.

Details of the methodology and key inputs used are disclosed in Note 5.1(b)(ii).

(b) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Judgement is required in determining the 

provision for income taxes.

The recognition of deferred tax assets is based upon whether it is more likely than not that sufficient and 

suitable taxable profits will be available in the future against which the deductible temporary difference can 

be utilised. To determine the future taxable profits, reference is made to the latest available profit forecasts. 

Where the temporary difference is related to losses, relevant tax law is considered to on a jurisdictional basis 

determine the availability of the losses to offset against the future taxable profits.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgments (Continued)

(b) Income taxes (Continued)

Significant items on which the Group has exercised accounting judgment include recognition of deferred tax 

assets in respect of tax losses. Recognition of the deferred tax assets involves judgment regarding the future 

financial performance of the Group.

The deferred tax assets recognized as at December 31, 2023 and 2024 were mainly attributable to major 

operating companies in Mainland China, which are eligible for preferential tax policies applicable for the 

qualification of “High and New Technology Enterprise”, and being entitled to a preferential income tax rate 

of 15% and the number of years that deductible tax losses can be utilised is extended to 10 years.

The carrying amount and reliability of deferred tax assets were reviewed periodically at the end of each 

reporting period by comparing forecasted taxable profits in prior period to actual results in the current period 

and comparing revenue growth rate and profit margin in the current year forecast to historical results and 

industry trends.

Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such 

differences will impact current income tax and deferred income tax in the period in which such determination 

is made.

(c) Recognition of share-based compensation expenses

As mentioned in Note 28, equity-settled share-based compensation schemes were established for the 

employees. The directors have used applicable models to determine the grant date fair value of the options 

or restricted shares granted to employees, which is to be expensed over the vesting period. Significant 

estimate on assumptions, such as the underlying equity value, risk-free interest rate, expected volatility and 

dividend yield, is required to be made by the directors in applying the relevant models. The values of options 

or restricted shares are subject to subjectivity and uncertainty relating to the assumptions and limitation of 

the model used to estimate such values. In addition, The Group is required to estimate the percentage of 

grantees that will remain in employment with the Group and whether the performance conditions for vesting 

will be met at the end of the vesting period. The Group only recognizes an expense for those share options 

or restricted shares expected to vest over the vesting period.

(d) Impairment of intangible assets including goodwill

The Group is required to test impairment for goodwill, and intangible assets not ready for use on an annual 

basis or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 

impaired. Other intangible assets are tested whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount of those assets exceeds its recoverable amount. Intangible assets are tested for impairment 

based on the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit (“CGU”) to which these assets are related. The 

recoverable amount is determined based on the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
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(d) Impairment of intangible assets including goodwill (Continued)

Determination of the value in use is an area involving management judgment in order to assess whether 

the carrying value of intangible assets can be supported by the net present value of future cash flows. In 

calculating the net present value of the future cash flows, certain assumptions are required to be made in 

respect of highly uncertain areas including management’s expectations of (i) revenue growth rates; (ii) long-

term growth rate; (iii) pre-tax discount rate; and (iv) profit margin.

Details of the methodology and key inputs used are disclosed in Note 15.

(e) Consolidation of VIEs

As disclosed in Note 1.2, the Group exercises control over the VIEs and has the right to recognize and receive 

substantially all the economic benefits through the Contractual Arrangements. The Group considers that it 

controls the VIEs notwithstanding the fact that it does not hold direct equity interests in the VIEs, as it has 

power over the financial and operating policies of the VIEs and receive substantially all the economic benefits 

from the business activities of the VIEs through the Contractual Arrangements. Accordingly, all these VIEs are 

accounted for as controlled structured entities and their financial statements have also been consolidated by 

the Company.

5 Management of financial risk

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (comprising currency risk and interest rate 

risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability 

of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Risk 

management is carried out by the senior management of the Group.

5.1 Financial risk factors

(a) Market risk

Currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. 

Fluctuations in exchange rates between the RMB and other currencies in which the Group conducts 

business may affect its financial position and results of operations. The foreign currency risk assumed 

by the Group mainly comes from movements in the USD/RMB exchange rates.

The Company and overseas intermediate holding companies’ functional currency is USD. They are 

mainly exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from their cash and cash equivalents and loans to 

group companies denominated in RMB. The Group has entered into spot-forward USD/RMB derivative 

financial instruments to hedge certain portion of its exposure to foreign currency risk arising from 

loans to group companies denominated in RMB. The Group monitors the size of foreign currency 

position, and manages foreign currency risk by utilizing hedging strategy.
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5 Management of financial risk (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk  (Continued)

The analysis below is performed for reasonably possible movements in key variables with all other 

variables held constant, showing the post-tax impact on profit, after considering hedging strategy.

At December 31,

2023 2024

Impact on post-tax profit

RMB’000 RMB’000

USD+5% (16,596) (14,099)

USD -5% 16,596 14,099

The subsidiaries of the Group are mainly operated in mainland China with most of the transactions 

settled in RMB. The Group considers that the business in mainland China is not exposed to any 

significant foreign exchange risk as there are no significant financial assets or liabilities of these 

subsidiaries denominated in the currencies other than the respective functional currency.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk of an adverse impact to earnings or capital due to changes in market 

interest rates. Floating rate instruments expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk, whereas 

fixed rate instruments expose the Group to fair value interest risk.

As at December 31, 2023, interest rate risk of the Group was mainly from mismatches in the interest 

rate profiles of assets, liabilities and capital instruments in virtual bank. The sensitivity analysis on 

earnings and economic value is described as follows:

As at December 31, 2023

RMB million HKD USD RMB

Impact on earnings over the next 12 months if 

 interest rates rise by 200 basis points (15) 3 –

Impact on economic value if interest rates rise 

 by 200 basis points (43) (3) –

* 2024 information not presented as the virtual bank was disposed of as described in Note 12.
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5 Management of financial risk (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

As at December 31, 2024, the Group is exposed to interest rate risk primarily in relation to term 

deposits and short-term borrowings. The Group generally assumes borrowings to fund working capital 

requirements. The risk is managed by the Group by matching the terms of interest rates of term 

deposits and short-term borrowings. As at December 31, 2024, the Group’s borrowings were mainly 

carried at fixed rates and mature in one year, which did not expose the Group to significant interest 

rate risk.

(b) Credit risk

(i) Credit risk management

The Group’s credit risk is mainly associated with cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and 

time deposits over three months, trade receivables, contract assets, other receivables, financial 

assets measured at amortized cost from virtual bank. The carrying amounts of each class of 

the above financial assets represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to 

financial assets as disclosed in Note 5.1(b)(ii).

To manage this risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and time 

deposits over three months, the Group mainly transacts with state-owned or reputable 

financial institutions in the PRC including related parties (Note 37(d)) and reputable 

international financial institution outside the PRC. The Group considers that there is no 

significant credit risk and the Group will not suffer any material losses due to the default of 

these financial institutions.

The Group’s trade receivables and contract assets mainly arise from transactions undertaken 

with customers. The Group mitigates the credit risk by assessing the credit quality, setting 

a shorter credit period or arranging the instalment payment and prepayment method. The 

impairment loss allowance for trade receivables and contract assets are disclosed in Note 20 

and Note 6(b).

For other receivables, management make periodic collective assessments as well as individual 

assessment on the recoverability based on historical settlement records and forward looking 

information.
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5 Management of financial risk (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortized cost from virtual bank, management developed 

independent and regular procedures to review the approvals of credit applications, structure 

levels of credit risk by setting limits on the exposure of risk, and review the ability of borrowers 

to meet repayment obligations, with monitoring made on a revolving basis and performing 

periodic reviews. The credit programmes are managed on a portfolio basis, and the limits on 

the level of credit risk by sectors are approved annually by the management. The exposure 

to credit risk is mitigated by obtaining relevant financial guarantees. For debt securities and 

interbank exposure under treasury portfolio, external ratings are used, which are continuously 

monitored and updated. Virtual bank was disposed of as described in Note 12.

(ii) ECL measurement

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach in measuring expected credit losses (“ECL”) 

which uses a lifetime expected impairment loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract 

assets.

For financial assets, other than trade receivables and contract assets, whose impairment losses 

are measured using ECL model, the Group assesses whether their credit risk has increased 

significantly since their initial recognition, and applies a three-stage impairment model to 

calculate their impairment allowance and recognize their ECL, as follows:

– Stage 1: If the credit risk has not increased significantly since its initial recognition, the 

financial asset is included in stage 1.

– Stage 2: If the credit risk has increased significantly since its initial recognition but is not yet 

deemed to be credit-impaired, the financial instrument is included in stage 2. The description 

of how the Group determines when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred is 

disclosed in the following section of “judgement of significant increase in credit risk”.

– Stage 3: If the financial instruments are credit-impaired, the financial instrument is included 

in stage 3. The definition of credit-impaired financial assets is disclosed in the following 

section of “the definition of credit-impaired assets”.
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5 Management of financial risk (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) ECL measurement (Continued)

According to whether the credit risk has increased significantly or whether the assets have 

been impaired, the Group measures the impairment loss allowance with the expected credit 

losses of 12-month or the lifetime due to the credit risk characteristics of different assets. 

The expected credit loss is the result of discounting the product of Exposure at Default, 

Probabilities of Default and Loss given Default.

Judgement of significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”)

Under IFRS 9, when considering the impairment stages for financial assets, the Group 

evaluates the credit risk at initial recognition and also whether there is any significant increase 

in credit risk for each reporting period.

The Group set quantitative and qualitative criteria to judge whether there has been a SICR 

after initial recognition. The judgement criteria mainly includes the Probabilities of Default 

changes of the debtors, changes of credit risk categories and other indicators of SICR, etc.. In 

the judgement of whether there has been a SICR after initial recognition, the Group has not 

rebutted the 30 days past due as presumption of SICR.

The definition of credit-impaired assets

Under IFRS 9, in order to determine whether credit impairment occurs, the defined standards 

adopted by the Group are consistent with the internal credit risk management objectives for 

relevant financial assets while considering quantitative and qualitative indicators. When the 

Group assesses whether the debtor has credit impairment, the following factors are mainly 

considered:

• The debtor has overdue more than 90 days after the contract payment date

• The debtor has significant financial difficulties

• The debtor is likely to go bankrupt or other financial restructuring

• The lender gives the debtor concessions for economic or contractual reasons due to 

the debtor’s financial difficulties, where such concessions are normally reluctant to be 

made by the lender

The credit impairment of financial assets may be caused by the joint effects of multiple events 

and may not be caused by separately identifiable event.
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5 Management of financial risk (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) ECL measurement (Continued)

Forward-looking information

The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on 

macroeconomic factors that affect the ability of the debtors to settle the receivables. The 

Group has developed macroeconomic forward-looking adjustment model by establishing 

a pool of macro-economic indicators, preparing data, filtering model factors and adjusting 

forward-looking elements, and the indicators include country Gross Domestic Product (GDP), 

Consumer Price Index (CPI), Total Retail Sales of Consumer Goods, Producer Price Index (PPI) 

and Investment in Fixed Assets, etc. based on the statistical analysis of historical data. The 

Group has identified the CPI to be the most relevant factor for evaluating expected credit 

losses on 31 December 2024 and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on the 

expected changes in these factors.

Credit risk exposure

Without considering the impact of collateral and other credit enhancement, for on-balance 

sheet assets, the maximum exposures are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the 

consolidated financial statements.
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5 Management of financial risk (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) ECL measurement (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

(1) Trade receivables and contract assets

As at December 31, 2023

Trade 

receivables

Contract 

assets Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Gross carrying amount

Applying simplified approach 779,458 153,204 932,662

Loss allowance

Applying simplified approach 68,789 57,379 126,168

As at December 31, 2024

Trade 

receivables

Contract 

assets Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Gross carrying amount

Applying simplified approach 582,068 125,842 707,910

Loss allowance

Applying simplified approach 75,533 62,422 137,955
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5 Management of financial risk (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) ECL measurement (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

(1) Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

To measure the expected credit losses, all trade receivables and contract assets have 

been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the aging analysis. The 

contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have substantially the same risk 

characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The impairment 

loss allowance of trade receivables and contract assets applying simplified approach 

was determined as follows:

As at December 31, 2023

Related

parties

Up to

1 year

1 year to

2 year

2 year to 

3 year

Above

3 years Total

Expected loss rate 2.13% 4.56% 41.29% 77.39% 94.34% 13.53%

Gross carrying amount of trade 

 receivables and contract assets 

 applying simplified approach 306,636 476,215 72,327 29,615 47,869 932,662

Loss allowance of trade receivables 

 and contract assets applying 

 simplified approach 6,528 21,698 29,863 22,920 45,159 126,168

As at December 31, 2024

Related

parties

Up to

1 year

1 year to

2 year

2 year to 

3 year

Above

3 years Total

Expected loss rate 6.11% 8.24% 44.26% 62.58% 98.89% 19.49%

Gross carrying amount of trade 

 receivables and contract assets 

 applying simplified approach 190,601 384,954 49,545 25,383 57,427 707,910

Loss allowance of trade receivables 

 and contract assets applying 

 simplified approach 11,638 31,714 21,930 15,884 56,789 137,955
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5 Management of financial risk (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) ECL measurement (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

(1) Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Movements in the impairment loss allowance of trade receivables and contract assets 

applying simplified approach are as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Beginning of the year (116,899) (126,168)

Additions of impairment loss, net (42,101) (30,214)

Write-off 33,401 18,562

Exchange difference (569) (135)

End of the year (126,168) (137,955)

(2) Other receivables

Impairment on other receivables is measured as either 12-month expected credit losses 

or lifetime expected credit loss, depending on whether there has been a significant 

increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk 

of a receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is measured 

as lifetime expected credit loss. The credit risk exposure of the other receivables was 

disclosed in Note 21(a). The Group did not consider the credit risk of other receivables 

to be significant as the other receivables are mainly deposit receivables from related 

parties.
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5 Management of financial risk (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) ECL measurement (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

(3) Loans and advances to customers

The following table presents the credit risk exposure of the loans and advances to 

customers from virtual bank.

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Gross carrying amount

 Financial assets measured at amortized cost 3,142 * 

 Financial assets measured at fair value 

  through other comprehensive income 1,902,985 * 

1,906,127 * 

 Expected credit loss provision 61 * 

 Expected loss rate 1.94% * 

* 2024 information not presented as the virtual bank was disposed of as described in Note 12.
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5 Management of financial risk (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) ECL measurement (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

(3) Loans and advances to customers (Continued)

Movements in the impairment loss allowance of loans and advances to customers 

applying three-stage approach are as follows:

* 1 Financial assets measured at amortized cost

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Beginning of the year – (61)

(Additions)/reversals of impairment loss (61) 15

Disposal of subsidiaries – 46

End of the year (61) –

* 2 Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Beginning of the year (11,528) (12,061)

Additions of impairment loss (13,344) (10,863)

Write-off 12,811 2,222

Disposal of subsidiaries – 20,702

End of the year (12,061) –
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5 Management of financial risk (Continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents and reserve 

borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching 

the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Management believe that the Group’s current 

cash and cash equivalents and anticipated cash flows from operations, investment and financing 

activities will be sufficient to meet the Group’s anticipated working capital requirements and capital 

expenditures for the next 12 months from December 31, 2024.

The liquidity risk of the foreign exchange swap is managed by aligning the critical terms of such 

swaps with the hedged items.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity grouping based on the 

remaining period at the end of each reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts 

disclosed in the table are undiscounted contractual cash flows.

As at December 31, 2023

Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term borrowings 257,007 – 257,007

Trade and other payables 1,292,054 30,143 1,322,197

 – Including: lease liabilities 24,829 30,143 54,972

Other financial liabilities from virtual bank 54,373 – 54,373

Customer deposits 2,269,261 – 2,269,261

Non-derivative financial liabilities 3,872,695 30,143 3,902,838
   

As at December 31, 2024

Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term borrowings 19,160 – 19,160

Trade and other payables 685,112 11,351 696,463

 – Including: lease liabilities 19,009 11,351 30,360

Non-derivative financial liabilities 704,272 11,351 715,623



ANNUAL REPORT 2024 151

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

5 Management of financial risk (Continued)

5.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 

optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’ value in the long-term.

The Group monitors capital (including share capital and reserves) by regularly reviewing the capital structure. 

As a part of this review, the Company considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with the 

issued share capital. The Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 

shareholders, issue new shares or repurchase the Company’s shares. In the opinion of the Directors of the 

Company, the Group’s capital risk was low as at December 31, 2024.

5.3 Fair value estimation

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time based on relevant market information and 

information about financial instruments. When an active market exists, such as an authorized securities 

exchange, the market value is the best reflection of the fair values of financial instruments. For financial 

instruments where there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques.

The Group’s financial assets measured at fair value mainly include financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss and financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements 

are categorized within the fair value hierarchies. The fair value hierarchy categorizes the inputs to valuation 

techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels. The level in the fair value hierarchy within 

which the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level 

input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.

The levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

(g) Fair value is based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

(“Level 1”);

(h) Fair value is based on inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices) (“Level 2”); 

and

(i) Fair value is based on inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs) (“Level 3”).
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5 Management of financial risk (Continued)

5.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The level of fair value calculation is determined by the lowest level input that is significant in the overall 

calculation. As such, the significance of the input should be considered from an overall perspective in the 

calculation of fair value.

For Level 2 financial instruments, valuations are generally obtained from third party pricing services for 

identical or comparable assets, or through the use of valuation methodologies using observable market 

inputs, or recent quoted market prices. Valuation service providers typically gather, analyse and interpret 

information related to market transactions and other key valuation model inputs from multiple sources, 

and through the use of widely accepted internal valuation models, provide a theoretical quote on various 

securities.

The fair values of the investments in wealth management products (“WMPs”), which mainly include open-

ended treasury management investments, were determined based on the prices and exchange rates on the 

balance sheet date quoted by the respective issuers of the WMPs and derivative products, respectively. The 

inputs used for the fair value measurement of WMPs issued by financial intuitions only include the prices 

quoted by the issuers which can be observed in open markets as they are quoted to public on daily basis, but 

they do not meet the quoted prices within Level 1 as the WMPs are not actively traded.

For Level 3 financial instruments, prices are determined using valuation methodologies such as discounted 

cash flow models and other similar techniques. Determinations to classify fair value measurement within 

Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy are generally based on the significance of the unobservable factors to the 

overall fair value measurement, and valuation methodologies such as discounted cash flow models and other 

similar techniques. To determine the fair value of loans and advances to customers from virtual bank, loans 

are segregated into portfolios of similar characteristics. Fair values are estimated using discounted cash flow 

methodology incorporating a range of input assumptions including expected customer prepayment rates, 

new business interest rate estimates for similar loans. The fair value of loans reflects expected credit losses at 

the balance sheet date and the fair value effect of repricing between origination and the reporting date. For 

credit impaired loans, fair value is estimated by discounting the future cash flows over the period they are 

expected to be recovered.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether 

transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest 

level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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5 Management of financial risk (Continued)

5.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The following tables provide the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial assets and 

liabilities:

As at December 31, 2023

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets measured at fair value

Financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss (Note 23) – 925,204 – 925,204

Financial assets measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income 

(Note 18) 319,949 – 1,906,189 2,226,138

Derivative financial assets (Note 33) – 38,008 – 38,008
    

As at December 31, 2024

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets measured at fair value

Financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss (Note 23) – 455,016 – 455,016

Derivative financial assets (Note 33) – 40,356 – 40,356
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5 Management of financial risk (Continued)

5.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy (Continued)

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, there were no transfers among different levels of fair 

values measurement.

Movements of Level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value are as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Beginning of the year 1,611,606 1,906,189

Additions, net 295,287 238,911

(Loss)/gain recognized in other comprehensive income (789) 2,918

Gain/(loss) recognized in profit or loss 85 (10,881)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 12) – (2,137,137)

End of the year 1,906,189 –

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

The following table summarises main quantitative and qualitative information about the significant 

unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value measurements for loans and advances to customers from virtual 

bank measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. The impact of changes in unobservable 

inputs for other level 3 fair value measurement was immaterial.

Range of inputs

Unobservable inputs 2023 2024

Financial assets measured at fair value 

 through other comprehensive income

– Loans and advances to customers 

  from virtual bank

Discount rate 7.09% – 10.29% * 

Prepayment ratio 0.36% * 

* 2024 information not presented as the virtual bank was disposed of as described in Note 12.
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5 Management of financial risk (Continued)

5.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value (Continued)

The analysis below is performed for reasonably possible movements in unobservable inputs with all other 

variables held constant, showing the impact on the assets and other comprehensive income.

Impact on the assets and other 

comprehensive income

Unobservable inputs 2023 2024

– Loans and advances to customers 

  from virtual bank

Discount rate +5% (8,845) * 

-5% 8,926 * 

Prepayment ratio +5% (315) * 

-5% 315 * 

* 2024 information not presented as the virtual bank was disposed of as described in Note 12.

6 Segment information and revenue

6.1 Description of segments and principal activities

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 

chief operating decision makers (“CODM”), who are responsible for allocating resources and assessing 

performance of the operating segments and making strategic decisions. The Group’s chief operating decision 

makers have been identified as the executive directors of the Company, they review the Group’s internal 

reporting in order to assess performance, allocate resources, and determine the operating segments based on 

these reports.

There were two reporting segments of the Group for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, 

Technology Solutions and Virtual Bank Business. On April 2, 2024, the Virtual Bank Business segment was 

disposed of and reported as discontinued operations (Note 12). The below segment comparative information 

has been restated accordingly.
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6 Segment information and revenue (Continued)

6.1 Description of segments and principal activities (Continued)

As the Group’s assets and liabilities are substantially located in the PRC, substantially all revenues are earned 

and substantially all expenses incurred in the PRC, no geographical segments are presented.

Year ended December 31,

2023 2024

Continuing operations Continuing operations

Technology Solutions Technology Solutions

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 3,521,591 2,248,103

Cost of revenue (2,195,574) (1,443,606)

Gross profit 1,326,017 804,497

Operating loss (217,285) (303,533)

Loss before income tax (210,341) (249,338)

ASSETS

Segment Assets 4,016,149 3,496,187

Goodwill 289,161 157,260

Deferred income tax assets 768,276 313,805

Total assets 5,073,586 3,967,252

LIABILITIES

Segment Liabilities 2,754,711 1,463,309

Deferred income tax liabilities 2,079 –

Total Liabilities 2,756,790 1,463,309

Other segment information

Depreciation of property and equipment 68,729 51,889

Amortization of intangible assets 91,746 47,742

The above disclosures have taken into intersegment eliminations and adjustments.

The reconciliation from operating loss to profit/(loss) before income tax during the years ended December 31, 

2023 and 2024 is shown in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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6 Segment information and revenue (Continued)

6.2 Revenue

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Technology Solutions

Implementation 834,620 664,127

Transaction based and support revenue

– Operation support services 861,056 549,273

– Business origination services 132,112 30,078

– Risk management services 320,462 247,828

– Cloud services platform (i) 1,245,952 618,088

– Post-implementation support services 52,012 69,064

– Others 75,377 69,645

3,521,591 2,248,103

(i) Revenue from cloud services platform decreased primarily due to the decision of the Group to gradually discontinue 
the operation of cloud services from July 2024 onwards given subsidiaries and associates of Ping An Insurance 
(Group) Company of China, Ltd. (the “Ping An Group”)) ceased to utilize relevant services.
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6 Segment information and revenue (Continued)

6.2 Revenue (Continued)

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue by timing of transfer of services over time or at a point in time is set out 

below:

At a point in time Over time Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended December 31, 2023

Implementation 37,804 796,816 834,620

Transaction based and support revenue

– Operation support services 240,366 620,690 861,056

– Business origination services 132,112 – 132,112

– Risk management services 320,462 – 320,462

– Cloud services platform – 1,245,952 1,245,952

– Post-implementation support services – 52,012 52,012

– Others 75,285 92 75,377

806,029 2,715,562 3,521,591
   

At a

point in time Over time Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended December 31, 2024

Implementation 28,450 635,677 664,127

Transaction based and support revenue

– Operation support services 143,377 405,896 549,273

– Business origination services 30,078 – 30,078

– Risk management services 247,828 – 247,828

– Cloud services platform – 618,088 618,088

– Post-implementation support services – 69,064 69,064

– Others 69,645 – 69,645

519,378 1,728,725 2,248,103

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, the Group mainly operated in the PRC and 

substantially all revenues are earned in the PRC.
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6 Segment information and revenue (Continued)

6.2 Revenue (Continued)

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The major customers which contributed more than 10% of the total revenue from continuing 

operations of the Group for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024 are listed as below:

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

% of total 

revenue

% of total 

revenue

(Note 12)

Ping An Group and its subsidiaries 59.38% 52.98%

Lufax Holding Ltd (“Lufax” and its subsidiaries) Not applicable (i)

59.38% 52.98%

(i) Lufax became a subsidiary of Ping An Group on July 30, 2024 and the revenue from Lufax Holding Ltd was 
included in the revenue from Ping An Group and its subsidiaries since then.
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6 Segment information and revenue (Continued)

6.2 Revenue (Continued)

(b) Contract assets and liabilities

The Group has recognized the following revenue-related contract assets and liabilities:

At December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Contract assets

– Implementation 137,566 113,986

– Transaction based and support 15,638 11,856

　– Operation support services 12,149 6,905

　– Post implementation support services 3,489 4,951

153,204 125,842

Less: Impairment loss allowance

– Implementation (50,712) (57,910)

– Transaction based and support (6,667) (4,512)

 – Operation support services (4,750) (2,201)

 – Post implementation support services (1,917) (2,311)

(57,379) (62,422)

95,825 63,420
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6 Segment information and revenue (Continued)

6.2 Revenue (Continued)

(b) Contract assets and liabilities (Continued)

At December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Contract liabilities

– Implementation 37,427 30,656

– Transaction based and support 118,262 97,791

 – Post implementation support services 10,609 12,030

 – Risk management services 18,801 14,843

 – Operation support services 69,825 49,124

 – Others 19,027 21,794

155,689 128,447

Less: Non-current contract liabilities (17,126) (12,946)

138,563 115,501

Contract assets and contract liabilities decreased primarily due to decline of revenue from 

implementation and operation support services, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, there were no material cumulative catch-up 

adjustments to revenue that affect the corresponding contract asset or contract liability, including 

adjustments arising from a change in the measure of progress, a change in an estimate of the 

transaction price or a contract modification, there were also no revenue recognized in the reporting 

year from performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous years.

(i) Revenue recognized in relation to contract liabilities

Revenue recognized in relation to 

contract liabilities

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue recognized that was included 

 in the contract liability balance 

 at the beginning of the year 166,650 138,563



ONECONNECT FINANCIAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.162

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

6 Segment information and revenue (Continued)

6.2 Revenue (Continued)

(b) Contract assets and liabilities (Continued)

(ii) Remaining performance obligations of long-term contracts

Remaining performance obligations 

of long-term contracts

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Aggregate amount of the transaction price 

 allocated to long-term contracts that are 

 partially or fully unsatisfied at the end 

 of each year

Expected to be recognized within one year 386,278 428,055

Expected to be recognized in one to two years 112,605 120,256

Expected to be recognized in two to three years 38,900 52,698

Expected to be recognized beyond three years 13,992 65,675

551,775 666,684

The remaining performance obligations disclosed above represent implementation, post-

implementation support services, risk management services and operation support services 

that have an original contractual term of more than one year. Moreover, the amount disclosed 

above does not include variable consideration which is constrained.
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7 Expenses by nature

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 12)

Continuing operations

Technology service fees 1,651,831 1,038,922

Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) 1,203,152 928,953

Outsourcing labor costs 402,983 102,876

Amortization of intangible assets (Note 15) 91,746 47,742

Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 14) 68,729 51,889

Purchase costs of products 60,902 63,502

Business origination fee 53,419 16,249

Travelling expenses 40,125 40,470

Marketing and advertising fees 33,319 23,219

Professional service fees 29,432 26,789

Auditor’s remuneration

– Audit related 15,847 11,650

– Non-audit 609 2,778

Impairment loss of intangible assets 5,851 2,392

Listing expenses – –

Others 109,570 79,468

Total cost of revenue, research and development expenses, 

 selling and marketing expenses, general and administrative 

 expenses 3,767,515 2,436,899
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7 Expenses by nature (Continued)

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 12)

Continuing operations

Research and development costs

– Employee benefit expenses 349,458 203,127

– Technology service fees 585,741 314,413

– Amortization of intangible assets 4,438 232

– Depreciation of property and equipment 7,023 3,222

– Impairment loss of intangible assets 2,004 –

– Others 14,726 7,200

Amounts incurred 963,390 528,194

Less: capitalized

– Employee benefit expenses (1,875) (10,740)

– Technology service fees (6,314) (6,556)

(8,189) (17,296)

955,201 510,898

8 Employee benefit expenses

a) Employee benefit expenses are as follows

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 12)

Continuing operations

Wages and salaries 875,967 646,114

Welfare and other benefits 316,231 282,349

Share-based payments (Note 28) 10,954 490

1,203,152 928,953
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8 Employee benefit expenses (Continued)

b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the years ended December 31, 

2023 and 2024 include 1 and 1 directors, whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 40. 

The emoluments payable to the remaining 4 and 4 individuals during the years ended December 31, 2023 

and 2024 are as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other allowances and 

 benefits in kind 7,513 11,250

Pension 225 55

Bonuses 4,248 555

Share-based payments 3,573 969

15,559 12,829

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

Emolument bands (in HKD)

HKD 3,000,001 – HKD3,500,000 – 3

HKD 3,500,001 – HKD4,000,000 1 1

HKD 4,000,001 – HKD4,500,000 2 –

HKD 4,500,001 – HKD5,000,000 1 –

4 4

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, no director or the five highest paid individuals received 

any emolument from the Group as an inducement to join or leave the Group or as compensation for loss of 

office.
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9 Other income, gains or loss – net

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 12)

Continuing operations

Net foreign exchange losses (13,832) (8,713)

Government grants and tax rebates (Note a) 41,417 14,334

Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20,007 14,140

(Loss)/gain on disposal of property and equipment and intangible asset (6,058) 3,485

Remeasurement of redemption liability (Note 29(ii)) – –

Net gains on derivatives 30,592 25,598

Impairment of goodwill (Note 15) – (131,901)

Others (2,943) (425)

69,183 (83,482)

(a) Government grants and tax rebates

Government grants and tax rebates were related to income. There were no unfulfilled conditions or 

contingencies related to these subsidies.

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 12)

Continuing operations

Government grants 23,885 10,860

– Technology development incentives 12,869 7,006

– Operation subsidies 11,016 3,854

Tax rebates 17,532 3,474

41,417 14,334
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10 Finance income – net

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 12)

Continuing operations

Finance income

Interest income on bank deposits 29,580 67,484

Finance costs

Interest expense on borrowings (12,070) (10,491)

Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 19(b)) (3,005) (1,930)

Interest expense on redemption liability (4,014) –

Bank charges (997) (868)

(20,086) (13,289)

9,494 54,195

11 Income tax expense

The income tax expense of the Group for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024 is analyzed as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 12)

Continuing operations

Current income tax (15,196) (2,975)

Deferred income tax 5,434 (452,393)

Income tax expense (9,762) (455,368)

The deferred income tax for the year ended December 31, 2024 was mainly due to a reversal of deferred income tax 

assets (Note 35).
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11 Income tax expense (Continued)

The tax on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the 

statutory tax rate applicable to loss of the consolidated entities as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 12)

Loss before taxation from continuing operations 210,341 249,338

Loss/(profit) before income tax from discontinued operations 151,373 (209,499)

361,714 39,839

Tax calculated at PRC statutory income tax rate of 25% 90,429 9,960

Differential of income tax rates applicable to subsidiaries (36,590) 21,448

Expense not deductible for tax purposes (3,863) (3,728)

Incomes not subject to tax 191 2,910

Tax losses and temporary differences for which no deferred income 

 tax asset was recognized (73,942) (50,869)

Additional deductible allowance for research and development 

 expenses 12,474 8,883

Derecognition of deferred income tax asset – (454,471)

Utilization of previously unrecognized tax losses 1,539 10,499

Income tax expense (9,762) (455,368)

The unused tax losses which no deferred tax asset has been recognized for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 

2024 is analyzed as follows:

At December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 12)

Continuing operations

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognized 1,971,954 3,963,089
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11 Income tax expense (Continued)

The expiry dates of the unused tax losses not recognized as deferred tax assets for the years ended December 31, 

2023 and 2024 are listed as follows (excluding unused tax losses without expiry date):

At December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 12)

Continuing operations

Year 2024 419,866 –

Year 2025 83,576 89,886

Year 2026 208,346 217,054

Year 2027 67,745 79,241

Year 2028 113,129 607,088

Year 2029 7,149 877,938

Year 2030 8,049 460,505

Year 2031 56,495 250,170

Year 2032 122,036 267,019

Year 2033 220,273 281,583

Year 2034 – 144,707

a) PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in Mainland China had been calculated at 

the tax rate of 25% for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, unless preferential tax rates were 

applicable.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group in mainland China were subject to “High and New Technology Enterprise”, 

whose preferential income tax rate is 15% for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

Moreover, certain subsidiaries of the Group were established in the Shenzhen Qianhai Shenzhen-Hong Kong 

Cooperation Zone and accordingly is entitled to a reduced income tax rate of 15%.

b) Cayman Islands EIT

The Company was not subject to any taxation in the Cayman Islands for the years ended December 31, 2023 

and 2024.
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11 Income tax expense (Continued)

c) Hong Kong Profits Tax

Hong Kong profits tax had been provided for at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits for 

the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

d) Enterprise Income Tax in Other Jurisdictions

Income tax on profit arising from other jurisdictions, including Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia and United 

Arab Emirates, had been calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the years ended December 31, 

2023 and 2024 at the respective rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions, which were not higher than 

25%.

e) PRC Withholding Tax (“WHT”)

According to the EIT Law, distribution of profits earned by PRC companies since January 1, 2008 to overseas 

investors is subject to withholding tax of 5% or 10%, depending on the region of incorporation of the 

overseas investor, upon the distribution of profits to overseas-incorporated immediate holding companies.

The Group plans to indefinitely reinvested undistributed earnings earned from its PRC subsidiaries in its 

operations in PRC. Therefore, no withholding income tax for undistributed earnings of its subsidiaries were 

provided as at December 31, 2023 and 2024 respectively.

12 Discontinued operations

On November 13, 2023, the Company entered into the Share purchase Agreement with Lufax Holding Ltd (the 

Purchaser, “Lufax”), pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to sell, and the Purchaser conditionally 

agreed to acquire Ping An OneConnect Bank (Hong Kong) Limited (“OneConnect Bank”) through transferring the 

entire issued share capital of the Jin Yi Tong Limited (the “Disposal Company”, a company indirectly holds 100% 

of the issued share capital of OneConnect Bank through its 100% owned subsidiary Jin Yi Rong Limited) at a 

consideration of HK$933,000,000 in cash, subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Purchase Agreement. 

The transaction was approved by shareholders of the Company through an extraordinary general meeting held on 

January 16, 2024 and was completed on April 2, 2024. Upon closing, the Company ceased to hold any interest 

in the Disposal Company. Accordingly, the Disposal Company, Jin Yi Rong Limited and OneConnect Bank and 

any company that is directly or indirectly controlled by OneConnect Bank (the “Disposal Group”) ceased to be 

subsidiaries of the Company and will no longer be consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the 

Group. The Disposal Group was reported in the current year as a discontinued operations and the comparative 

information of consolidated statement of comprehensive income has been restated accordingly. Financial information 

relating to the discontinued operations for the period to the date of disposal is set out below.
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12 Discontinued operations (Continued)

(a) Financial performance and cash flow information

The financial performance and cash flow information presented are for the period from January 1, 2024 to 

the date of disposal (2024 column) and the year ended December 31, 2023 (2023 column).

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 145,917 44,295

Cost of revenue (122,529) (38,404)

Expenses (163,581) (46,549)

Net impairment losses on financial and contract assets (13,406) (10,856)

Other income, gains or loss – net 2,672 956

Finance costs – net (446) (80)

Loss after income tax of discontinued operations (151,373) (50,638)

Gain on sale of subsidiaries after income tax 

 (see note (b) below) – 260,137

(Loss)/Profit from discontinued operations (151,373) 209,499

Exchange differences on translation of discontinued operations 9,624 177

Changes in the fair value of debt instruments measured 

 at fair value through other comprehensive income 

 of discontinued operations 500 6,056

Disposal of subsidiaries – 18,237

Total comprehensive (loss)/income from 

 discontinued operations (141,249) 233,969

Net cash used in operating activities (364,532) (3,286)

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 114,633 (112,210)

Net cash used in financing activities (5,392) (1,417)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (255,291) (116,913)
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12 Discontinued operations (Continued)

(b) Details of the sale of the Disposal Group

2024
RMB’000

Cash consideration received, less transaction cost paid 839,087

Less: Cash and bank balances disposed of (115,916)

Net cash inflow from disposal 723,171

Cash consideration received, less transaction cost paid 839,087

Carrying amount of net assets sold (560,713)

Gain on sale before income tax and reclassification reserve 278,374

Reclassification of foreign currency translation reserve (30,180)

Reclassification of fair value change reserve 11,943

Income tax expenses on gain –

Gain on sale after income tax 260,137

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities as at the date of disposal were:

2024
RMB’000

Property and equipment 7,400

Intangible assets 109,064

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 2,544,423

Prepayments and other receivables 11,157

Financial assets measured at amortized cost from virtual bank 3,819

Restricted cash and time deposits over three months 250,550

Cash and cash equivalents 115,916

Total assets 3,042,329

Trade and other payables 57,239

Payroll and welfare payables 13,824

Customer deposits 2,410,553

Total liabilities 2,481,616

Net assets 560,713
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13 (Loss)/earnings per share

The calculations of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share are based on:

Year ended December 31,
2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note 12)

Loss from continuing operations as presented in the statement of 

 comprehensive income (220,103) (704,706)

Less: loss from continuing operations attributable to 

 non-controlling interests 8,761 35,530

Loss from continuing operations attributable to owners of 
 the Company (211,342) (669,176)

(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations (151,373) 209,499

Loss attributable to owners of the Company used in 
 calculating basic and diluted loss per share (362,715) (459,677)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (in’000 shares) 1,089,589 1,089,589

Loss per share for loss from continuing operations 
 attributable to owners of the Company
– Basic and diluted loss per share (RMB) (Note) (0.19) (0.61)

– Basic and diluted loss per ADS (RMB) (Note) (5.82) (18.42)

(Loss)/earnings per share for (loss)/profit from discontinued 

 operations attributable to owners of the Company

– Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share (RMB) (Note) (0.14) 0.19

– Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per ADS (RMB) (Note) (4.17) 5.76

Loss per share for loss attributable to owners of the Company
– Basic and diluted loss per share (RMB) (Note) (0.33) (0.42)

– Basic and diluted loss per ADS (RMB) (Note) (9.99) (12.66)

Note: One ADS represent thirty ordinary shares of the Company.

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

Shares held for share incentive scheme purpose have been treated as treasury shares. Accordingly, for purpose of 

calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share, the issued and outstanding number of ordinary shares as at December 

31, 2023 and 2024, taking into account the shares held for share incentive scheme purpose, were 1,089,589,125 

shares, 1,089,589,125 shares, respectively.
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13 (Loss)/earnings per share (Continued)

The effects of all outstanding share options granted under the Share Option Scheme and Restricted Share Units 

Scheme (Note 28) for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, have been excluded from the computation of 

diluted (loss)/earnings per share. Accordingly, dilutive (loss)/earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 

2023 and 2024 were the same as basic (loss)/earnings per share for the years.

14 Property and equipment

Office and

 telecommunication

 equipment

Right-of-use

 properties

Leasehold

 improvements Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended December 31, 2023

Opening net book amount 41,855 89,574 19,972 151,401

Additions 2,987 21,612 2,994 27,593

Disposals, net (877) (17,718) (696) (19,291)

Depreciation charge (18,761) (45,082) (11,065) (74,908)

Exchange difference 42 186 53 281

Closing net book amount 25,246 48,572 11,258 85,076

As at December 31, 2023

Cost 111,470 303,092 118,384 532,946

Accumulated depreciation (83,610) (255,879) (106,441) (445,930)

Exchange difference (2,614) 1,359 (685) (1,940)

Net book amount 25,246 48,572 11,258 85,076

Year ended December 31, 2024

Opening net book amount 25,246 48,572 11,258 85,076

Additions 2,146 58,238 3,967 64,351

Disposals, net (1,438) (43,879) – (45,317)

Depreciation charge (9,542) (33,483) (9,876) (52,901)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 12) (1,623) (5,777) – (7,400)

Exchange difference 9 35 42 86

Closing net book amount 14,798 23,706 5,391 43,895

As at December 31, 2024

Cost 90,947 256,740 122,350 470,037

Accumulated depreciation (73,544) (234,428) (116,316) (424,288)

Exchange difference (2,605) 1,394 (643) (1,854)

Net book amount 14,798 23,706 5,391 43,895
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14 Property and equipment (Continued)

During the different periods, the approximate depreciation which were charged to cost of revenue, research and 

development expenses, selling and marketing expenses and general and administrative expenses were as follows:

Depreciation of property and equipment

Year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 12)

Continuing operations

Cost of revenue 5,567 4,030

Research and development expenses 7,023 3,222

Selling and marketing expenses 2,676 1,055

General and administrative expenses 53,463 43,582

68,729 51,889

Discontinued operations 6,179 1,012

74,908 52,901

Depreciation of office and telecommunication equipment is allocated to different functional expenses based on 

usage of equipment by different functional divisions. Right-of-use properties and leasehold improvement are 

primarily related to business office buildings leased by the Group and used as corporate headquarters. For leased 

business office buildings which are for general and administrative use, the depreciation of the related right-of-use 

properties and leasehold improvement is charged to general and administrative expense.
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15 Intangible assets

Application and platform

Purchased 

Software

Development 

costs in 

progress Goodwill

Business 

license Others Total

Contributed 

by Ping

An Group

Developed 

internally Acquired

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended December 31, 

 2023

Opening net book amount – 176,206 – 12,821 29,179 289,161 61,026 2,043 570,436

Additions – – – 9,779 21,709 – – – 31,488

Impairment – (1,400) – – (4,451) – – – (5,851)

Transfer – 30,764 – – (30,764) – – – –

Amortization – (77,975) – (15,509) – – (30,906) (2,043) (126,433)

Exchange differences – 1,265 – 138 328 – – – 1,731

Closing net book amount – 128,860 – 7,229 16,001 289,161 30,120 – 471,371

As at December 31, 2023

Cost 690,910 802,696 61,078 159,513 15,193 289,161 155,492 80,263 2,254,306

Accumulated amortization (690,910) (680,040) (61,078) (152,394) – – (125,372) (80,263) (1,790,057)

Exchange differences – 6,204 – 110 808 – – – 7,122

Net book amount – 128,860 – 7,229 16,001 289,161 30,120 – 471,371

Year ended December 31, 

 2024

Opening net book amount – 128,860 – 7,229 16,001 289,161 30,120 – 471,371

Additions – – – 602 20,708 – – – 21,310

Impairment – (2,392) – – – (131,901) – – (134,293)

Transfer – 17,608 – – (17,608) – – – –

Amortization – (26,728) – (3,291) – – (23,978) – (53,997)

Disposal of subsidiaries 

 (Note 12) – (94,028) – (1,934) (13,102) – – – (109,064)

Exchange differences – 437 – 7 (135) – – – 309

Closing net book amount – 23,757 – 2,613 5,864 157,260 6,142 – 195,636

As at December 31, 2024

Cost 690,910 647,025 61,078 133,506 5,191 157,260 155,492 80,263 1,930,725

Accumulated amortization (690,910) (629,909) (61,078) (131,010) – – (149,350) (80,263) (1,742,520)

Exchange differences – 6,641 – 117 673 – – – 7,431

Net book amount – 23,757 – 2,613 5,864 157,260 6,142 – 195,636
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15 Intangible assets (Continued)

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that intangible assets may be impaired. 

During the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, impairment charge of intangible assets excluding goodwill of 

RMB5,851,000 and RMB2,392,000 has been charged to different functional expenses based on usage of intangible 

assets by different functional divisions. The impairment charge was charged against development costs for certain 

intangible assets developed internally, following a decision to reduce the output of certain products in 2023 and 

2024.

The Group assessed the necessity for goodwill impairment by conducting a thorough analysis of the current 

economic climate and market conditions in light of (i) the discontinuation of cloud services and its corresponding 

impact on the business and operations of the Group, (ii) the challenging macroenvironment of the industry that 

the Group operates in and the Group’s expected growth, and (iii) the recent performance and expected growth 

of the various businesses of the Group. As at December 31, 2024, the carrying amount of the group of CGUs of 

Technology Solution segment exceeds its recoverable amount at RMB189,518,000 (Note 15(a)) including a loss 

attributable to the non-controlling interest’s notional share of goodwill. The Group recognized an impairment 

loss against goodwill of RMB131,901,000 in other income, gain or loss – net in the consolidated statements of 

comprehensive income.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, the amount of amortization charged to cost of revenue, 

research and development expenses and general and administrative expenses are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2023 2024

Amortization of intangible assets RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 12)

Continuing operations

Cost of revenue 84,081 47,028

Research and development expenses 4,437 232

General and administrative expenses 3,228 482

91,746 47,742

Discontinued operations 34,687 6,255

126,433 53,997
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15 Intangible assets (Continued)

(a) Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill arises from the Group’s acquisitions of Vantage Point Technology on July 31, 2018, BER Technology 

on June 30, 2019, and View Foundation on August 30, 2019.

The goodwill of the Group is attributable to the acquired workforce and synergies expected to be derived 

from combining with the operations of the Group. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, 

the goodwill is regarded as attributable to the group of CGUs of Technology Solutions segment. The Group 

carries out its impairment testing on goodwill by comparing the recoverable amounts of groups of CGUs to 

their carrying amounts.

The management did the value-in-use calculations to determine the recoverable amounts. Value-in-use is 

calculated based on discounted cash flows. The discounted cash flows calculations of group of CGUs use 

cash flow projection developed based on financial budgets approved by management of the Group covering 

a five-year period, after considering the current and historical business performance, the future business plan 

and market data. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated long term 

growth rates stated below.

The significant assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue growth rate -10%–13% -25%–10%

Profit margin -2%–14% -2%–8%

Long term growth rate 2% 2%

Pre-tax discount rate 19.73% 21.54%

Recoverable amount of the group of CGUs exceeding/(below) 

 its carrying amount (RMB’000) 1,153,821 (189,518)
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15 Intangible assets (Continued)

(a) Impairment tests for goodwill (Continued)

The following table sets forth the impact of reasonable possible changes in absolute value in each of the 

significant assumptions, with all other variables held constant, of goodwill impairment testing at the dates 

indicated.

Recoverable amount of the CGU

exceeding/(below) its carrying 

amount (Note)

Year ended December 31,

Possible changes of significant assumptions 2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue growth rate decrease by 5% 597,067 (265,224)

Profit margin decrease by 1% 886,786 (296,597)

Long term growth rate decrease by 1% 1,039,101 (207,564)

Pre-tax discount rate increase by 1% 989,962 (230,342)

Note: The carrying amount of goodwill included the goodwill attributable to the non-controlling interest.

16 Investments accounted for using the equity method

(a) Investment in an associate

For the year ended

December 31,

2023

RMB’000

At beginning of year 199,200

Share of gains of an associate 7,157

Impairment charges on an associate (7,157)

Disposal (199,200)

At end of the year –

Investment in an associate was nil since the end of the year 2023.
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16 Investments accounted for using the equity method (Continued)

(a) Investment in an associate (Continued)

On March 28, 2017, Shanghai OneConnect set up Pingan Puhui Lixin Asset Management Co., Ltd. 

(“Puhui Lixin”) with Pingan Puhui Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. (“Puhui Management”), a subsidiary 

of Lufax, by investing a capital amount of RMB40,000,000. In January 2019, Shanghai OneConnect 

made an additional capital injection of RMB100,000,000 into Puhui Lixin. On February 20, 2020, Puhui 

Management made another additional capital injection of RMB40,000,000 into Puhui Lixin. Accordingly, 

the Group’s equity interests in the investee were diluted from 35% to 31.82%, resulting in a dilution gain 

amounting to RMB2,511,000. In March 2020, Shanghai OneConnect made an additional capital injection of 

RMB60,000,000 into Puhui Lixin, and the Group’s equity interests in the investee were increased to 40%.

On November 24, 2022, Shanghai OneConnect entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement with Puhui 

Management, pursuant to which Shanghai OneConnect conditionally agreed to sell, and Puhui Management 

conditionally agreed to purchase, the Group’s 40% equity interest in Puhui Lixin at a consideration of 

RMB199,200,000. Upon the completion, Shanghai OneConnect will no longer hold any equity interest in 

Puhui Lixin. The transaction has been approved by the extraordinary general meeting and completed in 2023.

(b) Investment in a joint venture

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

At beginning of year – –

Additions 2,550 –

Share of losses of a joint venture (2,550) –

At end of the year – –

The Group entered into an agreement of setting up Financial Open Portal (Guangxi) Cross-border Financial 

Digital Co., Ltd. (“Open Portal Guangxi”) with Digital Guangxi Group Co., Ltd. (“Digital Guangxi”) on April 

10, 2020. The Group made a capital injection of RMB2,040,000 in 2020 and additional capital injection 

of RMB2,550,000 in 2023. The Group and Digital Guangxi owned the equity interest in Open Portal 

Guangxi as to 51% and 49%, respectively. The Group shares control with Digital Guangxi and accounts 

for the investment as a joint venture. The decisions on major operational and financial activities require the 

unanimous consent of the Group and Digital Guangxi pursuant to the provisions of the article of association 

of Open Portal Guangxi. Open Protal Guangxi was deregistered on October 31, 2024.
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17 Financial instruments by category

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

As at December 31,

2023 2024

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortized cost

– Trade receivables 20 710,669 506,535

–  Prepayments and other receivables  

(excluding non-financial asset items) 21 661,123 159,601

– Financial assets measured at amortized cost from virtual bank 22 3,081 –

– Restricted cash and time deposits over three months 24 452,883 51,940

– Cash and cash equivalents 25 1,379,473 1,947,922

Financial assets measured at fair value through other 

 comprehensive income (FVOCI) 18 2,226,138 –

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 23 925,204 455,016

Derivative financial asset

– Held at FVTPL 33 38,008 40,356

Total 6,396,579 3,161,370

Financial liabilities

Liabilities at amortized cost

– Trade and other payables (excluding non-financial liability items) 29 1,318,449 695,059

– Short-term borrowings 30 251,732 19,160

– Customer deposits 31 2,261,214 –

– Other financial liabilities from virtual bank 32 54,373 –

Total 3,885,768 714,219
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18 Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Loans and advances to customers (Note a) 1,902,985 –

Equity securities (Note b) 3,204 –

Debt securities (Note a) 319,949 –

2,226,138 –

Less: Non-current financial asset measured at fair value through 

 other comprehensive income (1,372,685) –

853,453 –

(a) It represented loans and advances to customers and debt securities from virtual bank, which was disposed of as described in Note 
12.

(b) On August 4, 2016, the Group acquired 5% equity interest in Fujian Exchange Settlement Centre Co., Ltd. (福建交易場所清算
中心股份有限公司) at a consideration of RMB5,000,000. The fair value change of the equity interest was recognized in other 
comprehensive income.

19 Leases

(a) Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Right-of-use assets (Note 14)

– Properties 48,572 23,706

Lease liabilities (Note 29)

– Non-current 28,283 10,670

– Current 22,941 13,735

51,224 24,405
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19 Leases (Continued)

(a) Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets (Continued)

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024 were 

RMB21,612,000 and RMB58,238,000, respectively.

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on December 31, 

2023 and 2024 was 4.26% and 4.29%.

(b) Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 12)

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets (Note 14)

– Continuing operations 39,904 32,666

– Discontinued operations 5,178 817

45,082 33,483

Interest expenses (included in finance cost) (Note 10)

– Continuing operations 3,005 1,930

– Discontinued operations 443 81

3,448 2,011

Total 48,530 35,494

The total cash outflow for leases in 2023 and 2024 were RMB67,180,000 and RMB39,533,000, respectively.

Expenses recognized in relation to short-term leases for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024 

amounted to RMB6,258,000, and RMB3,274,000, respectively.
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20 Trade receivables

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 779,458 582,068

Less: impairment loss allowance (Note 5.1(b)) (68,789) (75,533)

710,669 506,535

Less: non-current trade receivables – (10,106)

710,669 496,429

Trade receivables and their aging analysis, based on recognition date, are as follows:

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Up to 1 year 694,157 510,135

1 to 2 years 55,187 35,830

2 to 3 years 21,103 20,069

Above 3 years 9,011 16,034

779,458 582,068
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21 Prepayments and other receivables

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Deposit receivable * 625,371 127,732

Value-added-tax deductible 188,501 152,930

Advance to suppliers 49,492 29,055

Advance to staff 13,238 10,680

Others 41,471 35,090

Less: impairment loss allowance (Note a) (5,719) (6,760)

912,354 348,727

Less: Non-current portion of other receivables (6,663) (6,506)

905,691 342,221

* Deposit receivable mainly represents deposit paid to the Group’s service vendors according to the contractual agreements and such 
receivables will contractually be repaid within one year.

(a) Movements in the impairment loss allowance of prepayments and other receivables 
are as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Beginning of the year (7,276) (5,719)

Reversals/(additions) 1,557 (1,041)

End of the Year (5,719) (6,760)
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22 Financial assets measured at amortized cost from virtual bank

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Loans and advances to customers 3,142 –

Less: expected credit loss provision (61) –

3,081 –

The balance represented loans and advances to customers from virtual bank, which was disposed of as described in 

Note 12.

23 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Wealth management products 925,204 455,016

As at December 31, 2023 and 2024, out of the wealth management products which the Group invested in, 

RMB532,147,000 and RMB260,860,000 were managed by subsidiaries of Ping An Group which are redeemable 

upon request by the holders, respectively (Note 38).
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24 Restricted cash and time deposits over three months

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Restricted bank deposits 39,005 40,960

Accrued interests 446 442

Time deposits with initial terms over three months 413,432 10,538

452,883 51,940

Less: Non-current restricted cash (5,319) –

447,564 51,940

Restricted cash balances were those held in bank accounts subject to certain restriction according to agreement with 

certain parties and regulatory restrictions.
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25 Cash and cash equivalents

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash on hand 12 12

Cash at central bank 134,486 –

Cash at banks 1,244,975 1,947,910

1,379,473 1,947,922

At December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

USD 771,502 1,660,598

RMB 379,629 261,181

HKD 210,492 1,347

SGD 5,796 17,180

IDR 941 508

MYR 4 1,059

PHP 11,109 6,049

1,379,473 1,947,922
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26 Share capital

Number 

of shares USD

Authorized

Ordinary shares of USD0.00001 at December 31, 2023 and 2024 5,000,000,000 50,000

Number 

of shares USD

Equivalent 

to RMB

Issued

Ordinary shares of USD0.00001 

 at December 31, 2017 900,000,000 9,000 59,838

Newly issued ordinary shares (Note a) 99,999,999 1,000 6,331

Ordinary shares of USD0.00001 

 at December 31, 2018 999,999,999 10,000 66,169

Newly issued ordinary shares (Note b) 3,720,665 37 257

Newly issued ordinary shares upon 

 initial public offering (Note c) 93,600,000 936 6,549

Ordinary shares of USD0.00001 

 at December 31, 2019 1,097,320,664 10,973 72,975

Newly issued ordinary shares (Note d) 72,660,000 727 5,033

Surrendered ordinary shares (Note e) (3) – –

Ordinary shares of USD0.00001 

 at December 31, 2020 1,169,980,661 11,700 78,008

Surrendered ordinary shares (Note f) (8) – –

Ordinary shares of USD0.00001 

 at December 31, 2021 and 2022 and 

 2023 and 2024 1,169,980,653 11,700 78,008
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26 Share capital (Continued)
(a) The Company completed its Round A investments (“Round A Investments”) in April 2018 with 12 investors. 99,999,999 ordinary 

shares were issued to the Round A Investors at a price of USD7.5 per share for an aggregate consideration of approximately USD750 
million (approximately RMB4,750,965,000). These shares rank pari passu in all respects with the shares then in issue.

(b) On March 11, 2019, the Company issued 1,748,501 ordinary shares to National Dream Limited, the offshore entity of Vantage 
Point Technology, for a total subscription price of USD13,114,000 (approximately RMB88,030,000) pursuant to a share subscription 
agreement entered into in July 2018. On November 26, 2019, the Company issued 1,267,520 ordinary shares to Great Lakes 
Limited, the offshore entity of View Foundation’s selling shareholder, for a total subscription price of USD9,506,400 (approximately 
RMB66,877,000) pursuant to a share subscription agreement entered into in August, 2019. On November 27, 2019, the Company 
issued 563,714 and 140,930 ordinary shares to Blossom View Limited and Gold Planning Limited, respectively, which are the 
offshore entities designated by certain selling shareholders of BER Technology, for a total subscription price of USD5,284,830 
(approximately RMB37,175,000) pursuant to a share subscription agreement entered into in September, 2019.

(c) On December 13, 2019, the Company completed its IPO on the New York Stock Exchange. In the offering, 31,200,000 ADSs, 
representing 93,600,000 ordinary shares, were newly issued.

(d) On January 14, 2020, the over-allotment options for the IPO were partially exercised and an addition of 3,520,000 ADSs were 
newly issued, which represented 10,560,000 ordinary shares. On August 17, 2020, the Company completed its underwritten public 
offerings of 18,000,000 ADSs issued and 2,700,000 ADSs issued pursuant to the over-allotment options, which totally represented 
62,100,000 ordinary shares.

(e) On December 11, 2020 and December 24, 2020, the Company bought back and cancelled 3 ordinary shares from Round A 
Investors.

(f) On April 1, 2021 and April 2, 2021, the Company bought back and cancelled 8 ordinary shares from Round A Investors.
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27 Other reserves

Recapitalization 

reserve

Share 

premium

Share-based 

compensation 

reserve

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

differences Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at January 1, 2023 1,200,000 9,627,159 209,603 140,471 (224,161) 10,953,072

Other comprehensive income

– Foreign currency translation  

differences – – – 26,216 – 26,216

– Fair value changes on financial assets 

measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income – – – – 500 500

Share-based payments

– Value of employee services and  

business cooperation arrangements 

(Note 28) – – 14,497 – – 14,497

Transactions with equity holders – – – – – –

– Transactions with non-controlling 

interests – – – – (4,434) (4,434)

As at December 31, 2023 1,200,000 9,627,159 224,100 166,687 (228,095) 10,989,851

Other comprehensive income

– Foreign currency translation differences – – – 29,111 – 29,111

– Fair value changes on debt instruments 

measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income – – – – 6,056 6,056

– Fair value changes on equity 

instruments measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income – – – – (3,204) (3,204)

– Disposal of subsidiaries – – – 30,180 (11,943) 18,237

Share-based payments

– Value of employee services and business 

cooperation arrangements (Note 28) – – 1,158 – – 1,158

As at December 31, 2024 1,200,000 9,627,159 225,258 225,978 (237,186) 11,041,209
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28 Share-based payments

For the purpose of establishing the Group’s share incentive scheme, a special purpose vehicle was set up in 2017 to 

indirectly hold ordinary shares of the Company. As the Company has the power to govern the relevant activities of 

the special purpose vehicle and can derive benefits from the services to be rendered by the grantees, the directors 

of the Company consider that it is appropriate to consolidate the special purpose vehicle. In September 2020, the 

Company purchased at par value of the 66,171,600 ordinary shares indirectly held by the special purpose vehicle 

and deposited these shares to the depositary of its ADS program. The aggregate consideration of RMB88,280,000 

for 66,171,600 shares had been recognized as “shares held for share incentive scheme” before the respective shares 

were effectively transferred to grantees under share incentive scheme. This payment of RMB88,280,000 has been 

settled in December 2023.

On November 7, 2017, equity-settled share-based compensation plan (“the Share Option Scheme”) was set up 

with the objective to recognize and reward the contribution of eligible directors, employees and other persons 

(collectively, the “Grantees”) for the growth and developments of the Group. On September 10, 2019, the Board 

of Directors of the Company approved to amend and restate the equity-settled share-based compensation plan to 

supplement the Share Option Scheme with performance-based shares to grant to the Grantees (“the Restricted 

Share Units Scheme”). The 66,171,600 shares reserved for the share incentive scheme comprise the options 

previously granted under the Share Option Scheme and the remaining shares for grant under the Restricted Share 

Units Scheme. Both the Share Option Scheme and the Restricted Share Units Scheme are valid and effective for 10 

years from the grant date. In 2022, the Company approved the increase of the number of ordinary shares available 

for award grant purpose under its share incentive scheme by 35,099,420. As such, the total number of ordinary 

shares which may be issued under the share incentive scheme is 101,271,020 shares.

In 2022, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a new share repurchase program in which the Company 

may purchase its own ADSs for award grant purpose. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company 

repurchased 8.02 million ADSs for a total cost of RMB74,992,000.
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28 Share-based payments (Continued)

Share-based compensation expenses for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024 were allocated as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 12)

Continuing operations

– Cost of revenue 3,184 87

– Research and development expenses 2,934 34

– Selling and marketing expenses 1,860 (31)

– General and administrative expenses 6,302 922

14,280 1,012

Discontinued operations 217 146

14,497 1,158

Continuing operations

– Value of employee’s services (Note 8) 10,954 490

– Value of non-employee’s services 3,326 522

14,280 1,012

Discontinued operations 217 146

14,497 1,158
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28 Share-based payments (Continued)

(a) Share Option Scheme

Subject to the Grantee continuing to be a service provider, 100% of these options will be vested over 4 years 

upon fulfilling the service conditions and performance conditions prescribed in the grantee agreement.

The exercisable period of options starts no earlier than 12 months after the Company successfully completes 

an initial public offering and the Company’s shares get listed in the stock exchange (“IPO and Listing”) and 

no later than 10 years from the grant date. The vesting date is determined by the Board of Directors of the 

Company.

Movements in the number of share options granted to employees are as follows:

Number of share options

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

At the beginning of the year 10,137,344 8,141,810

Exercised – –

Forfeited (1,995,534) (1,311,700)

At the end of the year 8,141,810 6,830,110

For the outstanding share options, the weighted-average exercise price was RMB18.02 and RMB29.99 per 

share and the weighted-average remaining contractual life was 4.22 and 4.16 years, respectively, as of 

December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Share options outstanding at the balance sheet dates have the following expiry dates and exercise prices.

Number of share options

As at December 31,

Grant Year Expiry Year Exercise price Fair value of options 2023 2024

2017 2027 RMB1.33 RMB0.62 944,490 831,690

2017 2027 RMB2.00 RMB0.52 4,576,500 4,139,400

2018 2028 RMB52.00 RMB26.00 2,068,320 1,418,520

2019 2029 RMB52.00 RMB23.42 552,500 440,500

8,141,810 6,830,110
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(a) Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The Company have used the discounted cash flow method to determine the underlying equity fair value of 

the Company to determine the fair value of the underlying ordinary share before its IPO. Key assumptions, 

such as discount rate and projections of future performance, are required to be determined by the Company 

with best estimate.

Based on fair value of the underlying ordinary share, the Company have used Binomial option-pricing model 

to determine the fair value of the share option as at the grant date. Key assumptions are set as below:

2017 2018 2019

Discount rate 24.0% 17.0% 17.0%

Risk-free interest rate 4.0% 4.0% 3.0%

Volatility 52.0% 51.0% 46.0%

Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

The Binomial Model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions. The risk-free rate for periods within 

the contractual life of the option is based on the China Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. 

The expected dividend yield was estimated based on the Company’s expected dividend policy over the 

expected life of the options. The Company estimates the volatility of its ordinary shares at the respective 

dates of grant based on the historical volatility of similar U.S. public companies for a period equal to the 

expected life preceding the grant date.

(b) Restricted Share Units Scheme

Subject to the Grantee continuing to be a service provider, 100% of these restricted share units will be 

vested over 4 years upon fulfilling the service conditions and performance conditions prescribed in the 

grantee agreement.

Movements in the number of restricted share units granted to employees are as follows:

Number of restricted share units

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

At the beginning of the year 36,232,094 30,526,123

Granted 230,000 1,010,000

Vested – –

Forfeited (5,935,971) (8,406,986)

At the end of the year 30,526,123 23,129,137
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(b) Restricted Share Units Scheme (Continued)

Restricted share units outstanding at the balance sheet dates have the following expiry dates and fair value 

prices.

Number of restricted share units

As at December 31,

2023 2024

Grant Year Expiry Year

Fair value of 

restricted share units

RMB

09/10/2019 09/10/2029 35.22 158,807 158,807

01/01/2020 01/01/2030 16.18 11,502 11,502

04/01/2020 04/01/2030 16.98 42,505 42,505

07/01/2020 07/01/2030 38.67 1,500 1,500

06/01/2021 06/01/2031 13.69 155,040 125,030

06/01/2021 06/01/2031 14.31 7,500 7,500

06/01/2021 06/01/2031 14.93 112,500 37,500

07/01/2021 07/01/2031 15.16 99,001 99,001

09/01/2021 09/01/2031 5.53 3,335,253 2,721,253

10/01/2021 10/01/2031 5.25 70,001 67,501

10/01/2021 10/01/2031 4.68 3,444,091 3,239,591

01/02/2022 01/02/2032 2.40 103,397 96,421

01/02/2022 01/02/2032 2.41 1,740,001 1,740,001

01/02/2022 01/02/2032 3.29 462,265 432,265

01/02/2022 01/02/2032 2.64 365,760 165,760

04/02/2022 04/02/2032 1.78 130,000 40,000

07/02/2022 07/02/2032 2.72 40,000 25,000

10/02/2022 10/02/2032 0.98 80,000 80,000

12/16/2022 12/16/2032 0.81 19,977,000 12,965,500

01/02/2023 01/02/2033 0.71 190,000 62,500

12/16/2024 12/16/2034 0.39 – 760,000

12/16/2024 12/16/2034 0.44 – 250,000

30,526,123 23,129,137
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28 Share-based payments (Continued)

(b) Restricted Share Units Scheme (Continued)

Based on fair value of the underlying ordinary share, the Company have used the Monte Carlo model to 

determine the fair value of the restricted share units as at the grant date. The model inputs for restricted 

share units granted during the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2024 included:

2023 2024

Risk-free interest rate 2.0%~3.0% 1.0%~2.0%

Volatility 48.0%~49.0% 62.0%~64.0%

Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%

The Monte Carlo model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions. The risk-free rate for periods 

within the contractual life of the restricted share units is based on the China Treasury Bond Yield Curve in 

effect at the time of grant. The expected dividend yield was estimated based on the Company’s expected 

dividend policy over the expected life of the restricted share units. The Company estimates the volatility of 

its ordinary shares at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of similar US public companies for a 

period equal to the expected life preceding the grant date. The fair value is recognised as an expense over 

the relevant service period, which is the vesting period of the restricted share units.

(c) Share Repurchase

In 2022, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a new share repurchase program in which the 

Company may purchase its own ADSs for award grant purpose. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the 

Company repurchased 8.02 million ADSs as 24.07 million ordinary shares for a total cost of RMB74,992,000.
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29 Trade and other payables

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables (i)

Due to related parties (Note 37(d)) 119,434 7,492

Due to third parties 127,125 83,194

246,559 90,686

Other payables

Redemption liability (ii, iii) 232,951 232,951

Accrued expenses 436,846 218,942

Security deposits 136,813 32,262

Lease liabilities (Note 19(a)) 51,224 24,405

Income and other tax payables 45,057 21,605

Amounts due to related parties (Note 37(d)) 744,604 234,828

Others 115,517 148,833

2,009,571 1,004,512

Less: non – current portion

Lease liabilities (28,283) (10,670)

1,981,288 993,842

(i) As at December 31, 2023, and 2024, based on recognition date, the aging of the trade payables are mainly within 1 year.

(ii) According to the shareholders agreement of BER Technology, the non-controlling shareholders shall have the right to request the 
Group to purchase the remaining 20% equity interests in BER Technology in an agreed period from June 30, 2022 to December 31, 
2022. The purchase price was determined based on the financial performance of BER Technology and a pre-determined formula 
that set out in the respective shareholders agreement. Accordingly, the redemption liability of approximately RMB44,105,000,000 
was initially recognized by the Group upon completion of acquisition as at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows, 
and the same amount was debited to other reserve. On December 30, 2023, the Group entered into a share purchase agreement 
with non-controlling shareholders of BER Technology to acquire the remaining 20% equity interests of BER Technology after 
renegotiation. The Group acquired the remaining 20% equity interests of BER Technology for RMB15,000,000 and relevant 
redemption liability has been settled in 2023.

(iii) The Group wrote a put option on the equity in Vantage Point Technology pursuant to the relevant transaction documents 
entered into with certain non-controlling shareholders of Vantage Point Technology, which provides each of such non-controlling 
shareholders with the right to require the Group to purchase the equity interest subject to the terms and conditions of the put 
option. A financial liability (redemption liability) of RMB183,569,000 was initially recognized on the acquisition date to account for 
the put option and other reserve of the same amount were debited accordingly. As at December 31, 2024, the redemption liability 
of RMB232,951,000 was estimated based on the estimation of matters relating to the terms and conditions of the put option which 
is in the process of renegotiation as of the date of this report.
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30 Short-term borrowings

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Unsecured 251,732 19,160

The weighted average interest rate of short-term borrowings based on nominal interest rate was 4.48% and 4.90% 

per annum as at December 31, 2023 and 2024.

The Group’s borrowings were repayable within one year as at December 31, 2023, 2024.

31 Customer deposits

As at December 31,

2023 2,024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current and savings accounts 437,153 –

Fixed deposit 1,824,061 –

2,261,214 –

It represented customer deposits held by virtual bank, which was disposed of as described in Note 12.
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32 Other financial liabilities from virtual bank

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Repurchase agreements 54,373 –

It represented repurchase agreements of virtual bank, which was disposed of as described in Note 12.

33 Derivative financial assets

As at December 31,

2023 2024

Nominal 

amount

Fair 

value

Nominal 

amount

Fair 

value

RMB’000 RMB’000

Foreign exchange swaps 5,666 388 – –

Currency forwards 358,636 37,620 386,542 40,356

Derivative financial assets 364,302 38,008 386,542 40,356

34 Dividends

No dividends had been paid or declared by the Company during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.
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35 Deferred income tax

(a) Deferred tax assets

The movements of deferred tax assets were as follows:

Tax losses

Accelerated 

amortization 

of intangible 

assets Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At December 31, 2023 582,625 157,912 52,265 792,802

Recognized in the profit or loss (422,992) (31,479) (20,970) (475,441)

At December 31, 2024 159,633 126,433 31,295 317,361

(b) Deferred tax liabilities

The movements of deferred tax liabilities were as follows:

Intangible 

assets acquired 

through business 

combination Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At December 31, 2023 2,079 24,526 26,605

Recognized in the profit or loss (2,079) (20,970) (23,049)

At December 31, 2024 – 3,556 3,556
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35 Deferred income tax (Continued)

(c) Offsetting of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

As at 31 December

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred tax assets 792,802 317,361

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities (24,526) (3,556)

768,276 313,805

The deferred income tax for the year ended December 31, 2024 was mainly due to a reversal of deferred 

income tax assets. The Group considered that a reversal of deferred income tax assets in the amount of 

RMB454,471,000 for the year ended December 31, 2024 was appropriate, after taking into account (i) the 

discontinuation of cloud services and its corresponding impact on the business and operations of the Group, 

(ii) the challenging macroenvironment of the industry that the Group operates in and the Group’s expected 

growth, and (iii) the recent performance and expected growth of the various businesses of the Group.

As at 31 December

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred tax liabilities 26,605 3,556

Set-off of deferred tax assets (24,526) (3,556)

2,079 –
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36 Cash flow information

(a) Cash used in operations

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Loss before income tax (361,714) (39,839)

Depreciation and amortization 201,341 106,898

Net impairment losses on financial and contract assets 53,950 42,111

Net impairment losses on intangible assets 5,851 134,293

Losses/(gains) on disposal of property and equipment and 

 intangible asset 6,058 (3,485)

Share-based payments expenses (Note 28) 14,497 1,158

Net gain on derivatives (Note 9) (30,592) (25,598)

Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 (Note 9) (20,007) (14,140)

Share of gain of associate and joint venture (Note 16) (4,607) –

Impairment charges on associate (Note 16) 7,157 –

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 12) – (260,137)

Remeasurement of redemption liability (Note 9) – –

Finance costs 19,535 12,501

Interest from investing activities (26,252) (9,163)

Exchange losses (Note 9) 11,171 7,809

Changes in working capital:

Trade receivables 185,745 178,963

Contract assets 29,276 27,362

Prepayments and other receivables 165,244 555,417

Trade and other payable (817,507) (785,342)

Contract liabilities (30,938) (27,242)

Customer deposits 332,031 149,339

Other financial liabilities from virtual bank (34,954) (54,373)

Financial assets measured at amortized cost from virtual bank (3,098) (723)

Financial assets measured at fair value through other 

 comprehensive income from virtual bank (294,583) (206,249)

Payroll and welfare payables (45,350) (60,894)

(637,746) (271,334)
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36 Cash flow information (Continued)

(b) Non-cash investing and financing activities

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Acquisition of right-of-use properties by leasing (Note 14) 21,612 58,238

(c) Reconciliation of cash and liquid investments and gross debt

This section sets out an analysis of cash and liquid investments and gross debt as of December 31, 2023 and 

2024 and the movements in cash and liquid investments and gross debt for the years ended December 31, 

2023 and 2024.

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Restricted cash and time deposits over three months 447,564 51,940

Cash and cash equivalents 1,379,473 1,947,922

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 925,204 455,016

Lease liabilities (Note 19) (51,224) (24,405)

– due within one year (22,941) (13,735)

– due after one year (28,283) (10,670)

Borrowings – repayable within one year (251,732) (19,160)

2,449,285 2,411,313

Cash and liquid investments 2,752,241 2,454,878

Gross debt – fixed interest rates (302,956) (43,565)

2,449,285 2,411,313
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36 Cash flow information (Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of cash and liquid investments and gross debt (Continued)

Cash and 

cash 

equivalents

Financial 

assets at fair 

value through 

profit or loss

Liabilities from financing 

activities

Restricted

cash (ii)

Lease 

liabilities Borrowings Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at January 1, 2023 343,814 1,907,776 690,627 (91,583) (289,062) 2,561,572

Cash flows 77,533 (543,432) 214,570 60,922 49,403 (141,004)

Acquisition of 

 right-of-use assets – – – (21,612) – (21,612)

Other Changes (i) 26,217 15,129 20,007 1,049 (12,073) 50,329

As at December 31, 

 2023 447,564 1,379,473 925,204 (51,224) (251,732) 2,449,285

Cash flows 385,374 547,155 (484,327) 36,259 243,064 727,525

Acquisition of 

 right-of-use assets – – – (58,238) – (58,238)

Other Changes (i) (780,998) 21,294 14,139 48,798 (10,492) (707,259)

As at December 31, 

 2024 51,940 1,947,922 455,016 (24,405) (19,160) 2,411,313

(i) Other changes include accrued interests, disposal, foreign currency translation differences and other non-cash movements.

(ii) Cash flows include restricted cash and time deposits over three months movements recognized in cash flows generated 
from or used in operating activities and investing activities.
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37 Related party transactions

The following significant transactions were carried out between the Group and its related parties during the years 

ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

(a) Names and relationships with related parties

The following companies are related parties of the Group that had balances and/or transactions with the 

Group during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

Name of related parties Relationship with the Group

Sen Rong Limited (i) A shareholder that has significant influence over the Group

Rong Chang Limited (i) A shareholder that has significant influence over the Group

Bo Yu Limited (“Bo Yu”) A shareholder that has significant influence over the Group

Ping An Group Ultimate parent company of Bo Yu

Subsidiaries of Ping An Group (ii) Controlled by Ping An Group

Open Portal Guangxi (Note 16(b)) Significant influenced by the Group

(i) Sen Rong Limited and Rong Chang Limited has entered into an acting-in-concert agreement in 2020 and an amended and 
restarted agreement in 2021. As a result, Rong Chang and Sen Rong as a concert group had significant influence over the 
Group.

(ii) Lufax became a subsidiary of Ping An Group on July 30, 2024 with its financial results consolidated into Ping An Group’s 
financial statements. As a result, Lufax has become a related party of the Group since July 30, 2024.

(b) Key management personnel compensations

Key management includes directors (executive and non-executive) and senior officers. The compensations 

paid or payable by the Group to key management for employee services are shown below:

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Wages and salaries 20,806 22,353

Welfare and other benefits 654 1,147

Share-based payments 4,909 1,956

26,369 25,456
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(c) Significant transactions with related parties

For the year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue

Ping An Group and its subsidiaries 2,091,039 1,191,015

Purchase of services

Ping An Group and its subsidiaries 1,423,367 789,275

Net (loss)/gain on disposal of property and equipment

Ping An Group and its subsidiaries (1,359) 2,382

Net gain from wealth management products consolidated 

 by related parties

Ping An Group and its subsidiaries 12,996 8,841

Net gain on derivatives

Ping An Group and its subsidiaries 30,592 25,598

Interest income on bank deposits

Ping An Group and its subsidiaries 17,637 15,061

Leasing payment

Ping An Group and its subsidiaries 12,131 18,970
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37 Related party transactions (Continued)

(d) Year end balances with related parties

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables

Ping An Group and its subsidiaries (i) 299,098 179,019

Contract assets

Ping An Group and its subsidiaries 7,538 11,582

Prepayment and other receivables

Ping An Group and its subsidiaries 599,671 114,778

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Ping An Group and its subsidiaries 417,956 230,724

Cash and restricted cash and time deposits over three months

Ping An Group and its subsidiaries 784,840 192,604

Trade and other payables

Ping An Group and its subsidiaries (i) 864,038 242,320

Contract liabilities

Ping An Group and its subsidiaries 25,550 13,271

Derivative financial assets

Ping An Group and its subsidiaries 38,008 39,812

(i) The balances with related parties were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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38 The Group’s maximum exposure to unconsolidated structured entities

The Group has determined that all of assets management products managed by the Group and its investments in 

wealth management products, which are not controlled by the Group, are unconsolidated structured entities.

The Group invests in wealth management products managed by related parties for treasury management purposes. 

The Group also managed some assets management fund products as fund manager to generate fees from managing 

assets on behalf of other investors, mainly Ping An Group and its subsidiaries. The assets management fund products 

are financed by capital contribution from investors.

The following table shows the Group’s maximum exposure to the unconsolidated structured entities which 

represents the Group’s maximum possible risk exposure that could occur as a result of the Group’s arrangements 

with structured entities. The maximum exposure is contingent in nature and approximates the sum of direct 

investments made by the Group. The direct investments made by the Group are classified as FVPL.

The size of unconsolidated structured entities and the Group’s funding and maximum exposure are shown below:

Unconsolidated structured entities

31 December 2023 Size

Carrying 

amount

The Group’s 

maximum 

exposure

Interest held 

by the Group

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Wealth management products 

 managed by related parties Note a 532,147 532,147

Investment 

income

Wealth management products 

 managed by third parties Note b 393,057 393,057

Investment 

income

Unconsolidated structured entities

31 December 2024 Size

Carrying 

amount

The Group’s 

maximum 

exposure

Interest held 

by the Group

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Wealth management products 

 managed by related parties Note a 260,860 260,860

Investment 

income

Wealth management products 

 managed by third parties Note b 194,156 194,156

Investment 

income

Note a: The wealth management products are sponsored by related financial institutions and the information related to size of these 
structured entities were not publicly available. The carrying amount is recorded in FVPL.

Note b: The wealth management product is sponsored by third party and the information related to size of the structured entity was not 
publicly available. The carrying amount is recorded in FVPL.
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39 Contingencies

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at December 31, 2023 and 2024.

40 Benefits and Interests of Directors

The remuneration of each director of the Company paid/payable by the Group for the years ended December 31, 

2023 and 2024 are set out as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2023:

Name Director’s fee

Basic salaries, 

housing allowances, 

other allowances 

and benefits in kind Pension Bonuses

Share-based 

payments Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive Directors:

Rong Chen (a) – 1,246 – – 308 1,554

Chongfeng Shen (b) – 3,135 56 2,415 1,300 6,906

Non-Executive Directors:

Yaolin Zhang (c) 622 – – – – 622

Tianruo Pu (d) 426 – – – – 426

Wing Kin Anthony Chow (e) 531 – – – – 531

Sin Yin Tan (f) – – – – – –

Wenwei Dou (g) – – – – – –

Min Zhu (h) – – – – – –

Wenjun Wang (i) – – – – – –

Ernest Ip (j) 1,030 – – – – 1,030

Xin Fu (k) – – – – – –

Xiaotao Guo (l) – – – – – –

2,609 4,381 56 2,415 1,608 11,069
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40 Benefits and Interests of Directors (Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2024:

Name Director’s fee

Basic salaries, 

housing allowances, 

other allowances 

and benefits in kind Pension Bonuses

Share-based 

payments Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive Directors:

Chongfeng Shen (b) – 4,583 9 126 598 5,316

Non-Executive Directors:

Yaolin Zhang (c) 562 – – – – 562

Tianruo Pu (d) 430 – – – – 430

Wing Kin Anthony Chow (e) 539 – – – – 539

Wenwei Dou (g) – – – – – –

Wenjun Wang (i) – – – – – –

Ernest Ip (j) 562 – – – – 562

Xin Fu (k) – – – – – –

Xiaotao Guo (l) – – – – – –

2,093 4,583 9 126 598 7,409

(a) Rong Chen was appointed as executive director of the Company on October 30, 2017 and resigned on November 2, 2023.

(b) Chongfeng Shen was appointed as executive director of the Company on October 22, 2021 and resigned on February 5, 2025.

(c) Yaolin Zhang was appointed as non-executive director of the Company on February 25, 2019.

(d) Tianruo Pu was appointed as non-executive director of the Company on September 27, 2019.

(e) Wing Kin Anthony Chow was appointed as non-executive director of the Company on October 1, 2020.

(f) Sin Yin Tan was appointed as non-executive director of the Company on October 30, 2017 and resigned on November 2, 2023.

(g) Wenwei Dou was appointed as non-executive director of the Company on October 30, 2017.
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40 Benefits and Interests of Directors (Continued)
(h) Min Zhu was appointed as non-executive director of the Company on January 31, 2018 and resigned on November 2, 2023.

(i) Wenjun Wang was appointed as non-executive directors of the Company on November 18, 2021.

(j) Ernest Ip was appointed as non-executive directors of the Company on November 18, 2021.

(k) Xin Fu was appointed as non-executive director of the Company on November 10, 2022.

(l) Xiaotao Guo was appointed as non-executive director of the Company on November 2, 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration for the years ended 

December 31, 2023 and 2024.

No retirement or termination benefits have been paid to the Company’s directors for the years ended December 31, 

2023 and 2024.

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings entered into by the Company in favor of directors, controlled 

body corporates by and connected entities with such directors for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, 

respectively.

There were no significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Company’s business to which 

the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or 

indirectly, subsisted during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.

No consideration was provided to third parties for making available directors’ services during the years ended 

December 31, 2023 and 2024.

No director received any emolument from the Group as an inducement to join or leave the Group or compensation 

for loss of office during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.
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41 Restricted net assets

Relevant PRC laws and regulations permit payments of dividends by the subsidiaries, the VIEs and Subsidiaries of 

VIEs incorporated in the PRC only out of their retained earnings, if any, as determined in accordance with PRC 

accounting standards and regulations. In addition, each of the Company’s subsidiaries, the VIEs and Subsidiaries 

of VIEs is required to annually appropriate 10% of net after-tax income to the statutory general reserve fund prior 

to payment of any dividends, unless such reserve funds have reached 50% of its respective registered capital. As 

a result of these and other restrictions under PRC laws and regulations, the subsidiaries and the Consolidated 

Affiliated Entities are restricted in their ability to transfer a portion of their net assets to the Company either in the 

form of dividends, loans or advances of the Group’s total consolidated net assets. As at December 31, 2024, the 

total restricted net assets of the Company’s subsidiaries and the VIEs and Subsidiaries of VIEs incorporated in PRC 

and subjected to restriction amounted to approximately RMB6,339,009,000. Even though the Company currently 

does not require any such dividends, loans or advances from the PRC entities for working capital and other funding 

purposes, the Company may in the future require additional cash resources from them due to changes in business 

conditions, to fund future acquisitions and development, or merely to declare and pay dividends or distributions 

to its shareholders. Except for the above, there is no other restriction on the use of proceeds generated by the 

Company’s subsidiaries and the VIEs and Subsidiaries of VIEs to satisfy any obligations of the Company.

42 Parent company only condensed financial information

Parent Company only financial statements have been provided pursuant to the requirements of Securities and 

Exchange Commission Regulation S-X Rule 12-04(a), which require condensed financial information as to financial 

position, cash flows and results of operations of a parent company as of the same dates and for the same periods 

for which audited consolidated financial statements have been presented, as the restricted net assets of the 

Company’s consolidated subsidiaries, including VIEs, as of December 31, 2024 exceeded the 25% threshold, using 

the same accounting policies as set out in the Group’s consolidated financial statements, except that the Company 

uses the equity method to account for investments in its subsidiaries and VIEs. Certain information and footnote 

disclosures generally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs have been condensed and 

omitted. The footnote disclosures contain supplemental information relating to the operations of the Company, as 

such, these statements are not the general-purpose financial statements of the reporting entity and should be read 

in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

The Company did not have significant capital and other commitments or guarantees as at December 31, 2024. The 

subsidiaries did not pay any dividend to the Company for the years presented.
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42 Parent company only condensed financial information (Continued)

(a) Condensed Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Selling and marketing expenses (90) (92)

General and administrative expenses (32,965) (23,419)

Net impairment losses on amount due from subsidiaries (281,288) (555,517)

Other income, gains or loss-net (457) –

Operating loss (314,800) (579,028)

Finance income – net 196 412

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries – 260,137

Share of losses of subsidiaries and VIEs (48,111) (141,198)

Loss before income tax (362,715) (459,677)

Income tax expenses – –

Loss for the year (362,715) (459,677)

Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

– Foreign currency translation differences 3,880 27,655

–  Changes in the fair value of debt instruments measured at  

 fair value through other comprehensive income 500 (5,887)

Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

– Foreign currency translation differences 22,336 31,636

–  Changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at  

 fair value through other comprehensive income – (3,204)

Other comprehensive income 26,716 50,200

Total comprehensive loss (335,999) (409,477)
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42 Parent company only condensed financial information (Continued)

(b) Condensed Balance Sheet

As at December 31,
2023 2024

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Interest in subsidiaries 42(d) 2,181,554 1,492,100

Total non-current assets 2,181,554 1,492,100

Current assets
Amount due from subsidiaries 42(d) 803,173 1,075,885
Prepayments and other receivables 435 1,059
Cash and cash equivalents 3,267 6,706

Total current assets 806,875 1,083,650

Total assets 2,988,429 2,575,750

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 26 78 78
Shares held for share incentive scheme 28 (149,544) (149,544)
Reserves 27 10,989,851 11,041,209
Accumulated loss (7,873,614) (8,333,291)

Total equity 2,966,771 2,558,452

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21,658 17,298

Total current liabilities 21,658 17,298

Total liabilities 21,658 17,298

Total equity and liabilities 2,988,429 2,575,750
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42 Parent company only condensed financial information (Continued)

(c) Condensed Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash used in operations (44,284) (31,326)

Net cash used in operating activities (44,284) (31,326)

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for interest in subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (1,117,823) –

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries – 839,087

Proceeds/(Payments) from loan to subsidiaries 1,157,947 (804,360)

Net cash generated from investing activities 40,124 34,727

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (4,160) 3,401

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 7,327 3,267

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 100 38

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 3,267 6,706
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42 Parent company only condensed financial information (Continued)

(d) Interest in subsidiaries and amount due from subsidiaries

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest in subsidiaries

Equity investment in subsidiaries 2,181,554 1,492,100

As at December 31,

2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

Amount due from subsidiaries

Loan receivables 803,173 1,075,885

43 Subsequent events

There were no material subsequent events during the period from January 1, 2025 to the date of approval of the 

consolidated financial statements by the Board on April 24, 2025.
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Results(1)

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 2,248,103 3,521,591 4,357,462 4,098,037 3,309,113

Cost of revenue (1,443,606) (2,195,574) (2,775,354) (2,658,655) (2,092,671)

Gross profit 804,497 1,326,017 1,582,108 1,439,382 1,216,442

Research and development expenses (510,898) (955,201) (1,399,415) (1,319,826) (1,145,895)

Selling and marketing expenses (177,285) (241,612) (369,948) (550,338) (610,866)

General and administrative expenses (305,110) (375,128) (710,165) (741,889) (728,626)

Net impairment losses on financial and 

 contract assets (31,255) (40,544) (23,023) (70,979) (133,807)

Other income, gains or loss – net (83,482) 69,183 71,362 13,830 50,992

Finance income/(costs) – net 54,195 9,494 (22,110) (47,504) (72,580)

Share of gains/(losses) of associate and 

 joint venture – net – 4,607 24,852 9,946 (7,802)

Impairment charges on associate – (7,157) (10,998) – –

Loss before income tax (249,338) (210,341) (857,337) (1,267,378) (1,432,142)

Income tax (expense)/benefit (455,368) (9,762) 62,147 112,095 137,131

Loss for the year from continuing operation (704,706) (220,103) (795,190) (1,155,283) (1,295,011)

Discontinued operation
Profit/(Loss) from discontinued operation 209,499 (151,373) (132,836) (175,230) (119,112)

Loss for the year (495,207) (371,476) (928,026) (1,330,513) (1,414,123)

Note:

(1) On April 2, 2024, the Company completed the disposal of its virtual bank business to Lufax Holding Ltd for a consideration of HK$933 million 
in cash. For details, please refer to the announcement published by the Company on November 14, 2023, the circular published by the 
Company on December 5, 2023, and the announcements published by the Company on January 16, April 2 and April 17, 2024. As a result 
of the disposal, the historical financial results of the virtual banking business segment have been reflected as the “discontinued operations” 
in the Company’s consolidated financial statements and the historical financial results of the remaining business of the Company have been 
reflected as the “continuing operations” in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024, and the 
comparative financial results have been restated accordingly.

Assets and Liabilities

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Total assets 3,967,252 8,068,358 8,882,382 9,340,607 10,885,258

Total liabilities 1,463,309 5,120,566 5,604,327 5,505,525 5,599,975

Total equity 2,503,943 2,947,792 3,278,055 3,835,082 5,285,283
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